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CORPORATE PROFILE
i RBR

Munsun Capital Group Limited (ZEEEEAREBERARF]) was
incorporated on 14 January 2004 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
On 12 December 2017, the Company has been deregistered in
the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability under the laws of Bermuda.

The shares (the “Shares”) of the Company have been listed on
the main board (the “Main Board"”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 12 October
2004 (Stock code: 1194).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
principally engaged in mining and processing of gold ores and
sale of gold products in The People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"), provision of financial services business in Hong Kong
and the PRC, including asset management, securities brokerage,
financing and advisory services.

Following the completion of the Group's acquisitions of Munsun
Asia and Munsun Securities in 2016 and Shenzhen Munsun in
2017, the Group has diversified its operation into the financial
services industry in Hong Kong and the PRC, including asset
management and securities brokerage and advisory services.

The Group is a non state-owned Chinese gold mining company
in the PRC with a particular focus on the central and western
regions of the PRC. The Group currently owns five operating
gold mines located in the central, western and northern regions
of the PRC, namely Jinxing Mine and Luanling Mine in Henan
Province, Mojiang Mine and Hengyi Mine in Yunnan Province,
and Yongfeng Mine in Inner Mongolia, with total gold resources
of approximately 7.1 million ounces. The Group produced 73
Koz and 74 Koz of gold for the years ended 31 December 2016
and 2017, respectively.
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JINXING GOLD MINE IN HENAN

Jinxing Mine is currently our largest mine in terms of total
gold resources and 2016 production. Jinxing Mine is located
in Luanchuan County, Henan Province. It is approximately
6 km from the regional town of Baitu and approximately
110 km southwest of Luoyang City, Henan Province. It is an
underground mine and consists of two areas, namely Jinxing
area and Xiepojing area. It has Australasian Code for Reporting
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves
("JORC code”) and its equivalent gold resources of 76.1 tonnes
(2,446 Koz) with average grade of 4.6g/t.

Jinxing Mine is located at the junction between the southern
margin of the Qinling complex structural zone and the
Xinhuaxia Taihang uplift zone. Jinxing Mine is a polymetallic
mine. The majority of the mineralisation is contained within
fresh rock due to the limited weathering profile in the region.
Two categories of mineralisation are identified, namely pyrite
bearing that contains silver, lead and copper in addition to the
gold mineralisation, and lead/gold bearing that is composed of
lead and gold mineralisation with minor silver. Mineralisation
occurs within quartz veins which are located within fracture
zones to form stock work style deposits. Ten vein groups have
been identified within the mining area.

LUANLING GOLD MINE IN HENAN

Luanling Mine is located in Luanchuan County, Henan Province.
It is approximately 40 km from Jinxing Mine. It is composed of
Northern underground mining site and Southern open-pit and
underground mining site and is contained within a single mining
license with an area of 9 km?. Luanling Mine has JORC code
gold resources of 61.2 tonnes (1,967Koz) with average grade of
3.2g/t.

Luanling Mine consists of two mining areas with mineralisation
of different characteristics, namely the Northern mining area
and the Southern mining area. Aggregate mining area of
approximately 9km? is under the mining license.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
i RBR

Luanling Mine is located at the junction between the southern
margin of the Qinling complex structural zone and the Xinhuaxia
Taihang uplift zone. There are mineralised zones are defined
in two mining areas. The major gold zones include nine veins.
The mineralised material is dominated by pyrite, secondarily
marcasite, with small amount of galena and altaite (lead
minerals). The major gangue minerals include quartz, albite,
sericite and chlorite. The gold minerals include electrum, with a
little calaverite and petzite.

MOJIANG GOLD MINE IN YUNNAN

Mojiang Mine is located in Mojiang County, Pu’er City, Yunnan
Province, approximately 300 km southwest of the provincial
capital-Kunming of Yunnan Province. Mojiang Mine is located
in the famous Ailaoshan Fold Belt of the San Jiang Metamorphic
Fold System implying favourable geology attributes. It has JORC
code gold resources of 15.6 tonnes (504 Koz) with average
grade of 1.4g/t.

Mojiang Mine holds one mining license covering an area of
approximately 7.2 km2.

Apart from gold deposit, there is also rich deposit of nickel
metal in Mojiang Mine. The nickel ore bodies occur parallel to
the gold ore bodies and belong to a typical hydrothermal type
that are mainly sulfides.

HENGYI MINE IN YUNNAN

Hengyi Mine is located in Zhenyuan County, Yunnan Province.
It is approximately 380 km southwest from Kunming. Hengyi
Mine is located between the Mojiang-Jinping Fold Belt and the
Ailaoshan Fold Belt of the San Jiang Metamorphic Fold System.
It has JORC code gold resources of 51.5 tonnes (1,656 Koz)
with average grade of 2.7g/t.

Hengyi Mine consists of two mining areas, namely Bianfushan
mining area and Shangzhai mining area. Total area under the
mining licences is approximately 9.1 km?. It also holds four
exploration licences in adjacent areas with aggregate area of
approximately 36.7 km?.
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YONGFENG GOLD MINE IN INNER MONGOLIA

The Yongfeng Mine is located in Honghuagou, Inner Mongolia.
It currently holds mining licenses covering a total mining
area of 1.9 km?2. The mine is an underground mine located in
Honghuagou mineralisation belt of Inner Mongolia that has
relatively high gold grade. It has gold resources of 16.1 tonnes
(520 Koz) with average grade of 9.5g/t.

Seven mineralized veins were identified in Yongfeng Mine. The
mineralised veins have similar characteristics with an average
width between 1 and 1.5 metres and occur as gold bearing
quartz veins.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFREHES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am glad to present to our shareholders
the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017.

During the year under review, investors around the world
continued to add gold to their portfolios arising from the
increase in global economic growth despite the tightened
monetary policy and rising interest rates. 2017 saw the gold'’s
positive price momentum continued. During 2017, the Group
continued with its efforts on exploration, organic expansion as
well as cost control in a safe and an environmentally friendly
manner. We remain dedicated to the local communities, as
“Operating in a Safe and Environmentally Friendly Manner” is
our philosophy.

Following completion of a series of acquisitions of certain
companies with business of asset management and securities,
the Group has diversified its operation into the financial
services industry in Hong Kong and the PRC, including asset
management and securities brokerage and advisory services in
September 2016 and January 2017. During the year, the Group
has successfully launched certain major projects and established
different investment funds focusing on high investment return.
In particular, the total asset under management of Shenzhen
Munsun Asset Management Company Limited (“Shenzhen
Munsun”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
has increased substantially since January 2017. The asset
management business will continue to contribute to the Group's
overall growth as it expands.

Looking ahead to 2018, it is expected that the prospect of gold
market to be more challenging overshadowed by the likelihood
of more than three rate hikes and the stronger US dollars. Yet,
it is believed that the overall level of rates will remain low from
a historical perspective. Expectation of the continued rising
global wealth, in particular continuing growth of Mainland
China’s economy as well as the investors’ using gold to manage
financial market risks will support gold demand. As such, we
believe that gold will maintain its high relevance as a strategic
asset throughout 2018. The Group will continue to enhance
the mining production process and improve the technology to
achieve the cost efficiency.
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On the other hand, the likelihood of more than three rate
hikes and fears of a US-led trade war would derail economic
momentum around the world. The financial market in 2018 is
likely to be volatile. With diversification of Group’s business into
the financial services industry, we recognize that strengthening
of risk and liability management as well as the improvement
of the cost control and sources of financing are key elements
to the Group’'s continued growth in a world of fast-changing
threats and opportunities. At the same time, we will continue to
work in a close collaboration with our business partners to seek
new investment opportunities to develop asset management
business into a powerful engine of growth.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our sincere
gratitude to my fellow directors for their valuable commitment
and the staff for their dedication and hard work in the past year,
to the shareholders and business partners for their continuing
support. With their contributions in 2018, we will strive to
stimulate corporate growth and deliver high returns to the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Mr. Liu Liyang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBERE

KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT

Financial Data Summary

MBBERE

Gold production output

(thousand ounces)

Revenue (HK$'000)

Gross profit (HK$'000)

Net loss (HK$'000)

Total assets (HK$'000)
Total debts* (HK$'000)
Cash and bank balances*
(HK$'000)
Net debts* (HK$'000)
Total equity (HK$'000)

*Notes:

Total debts are bank and other borrowings, financial liabilities at -
fair value through profit or loss and convertible bonds.

Cash and bank balances include cash and cash equivalents and -
pledged deposits.

Net debts are total debts less cash and cash equivalents and -
pledged deposits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GOLD MARKET OUTLOOK

The full year gold demand for in 2017 saw a drop by 7% to
4,071.7 tonnes despite a late rally of 6% year-on-year to 1,095.8
tonnes in the fourth quarter. There was an increase of 4% in
jewellery demand led by the recovery in India, the US and China
but remained below historical averages. Gold used in electronics
and industrial applications grew steadily by 3% to 332.8 tonnes
in 2017 owing to the increasing prevalence of new-generation
features in smart phones and vehicles. Yet, the weaker fund
investment outstripped an increase in jewellery and technology
consumption. Investment demand reduced by nearly a quarter,
primarily driven by the decline in exchange traded funds (“ETF")
buying. Annual ETF inflows added 202.8 tonnes to demand,
only around one-third of 2016’s inflows whilst bar and coin
demand fell approximately 2%. Central bank reserves swelled
by 371.4 tonnes, 5% down on 2016.Turkey and Russia were
the most prominent of the central bank buyers.

As for gold supply, total supply dipped by 4% year-on-year to
4,398.4 tonnes in 2017, with annual gold recycling fell by 10%
and mine production inched to a record mine high of 3,268.7
tonnes. The introduction of stringent environmental controls in
China led to a 9% fall in national mine production. With mine
production expected to be stable in 2018, supply will remain
constrained.

In the first half of 2017, gold price rebounded by 8% on fears
of geopolitical uncertainties and the weaker US dollar. Rising
interest rates and a surge in stock markets detracted from the
gold’s appeal as an investment. Higher interest rates increase
the opportunity cost of investing in gold. The boost in the gold
price slowed down in the second half of 2017.

Looking forward to 2018, the prospect of gold market is more
challenging in view of expectation of more than three rate hikes
and the stronger US dollars. Yet, it is believed that the overall
level of rates will remain low from a historical perspective.
The continued global economic growth and the using of gold
to manage financial market risks will also underpin the gold
demand in the long run.

BEEENWmE DN

BEEWMEAR

RZE—+F 2F52FKXKTEBTS
Z4,071.70  BERHNFRFIERGED
%1,095.8M8 - ENF « B F A B &4
BEEESE THRERKIERAI% - WD
B E L KT - RS FHAA
BHF—RMEERER  RZT—+t
FHEEFNIZEEATRERANTESES
WRE3I%ZE3328M - A HE&WE
BB THREMBMEEENER - &
BREFREMNS 2 —  TEEHMRK
SR S5E([RHGARGESL]INE
BRIV RIMRHGESHRES
FIENN202.8MF - BT —NFIEA
BA=nz— MeBEEReBEHNTERT
PE#I2% o RATREHEILAN3T71.418 - 8
—E—RFETKES% - TEHMBRES
RRITHREIEMERK o

EeEIE Tt ENAHER
FRPEA%SEA39841E  FEES O
WETHEI10% MeBEESRFEL
e 0 #3,268.7 W8 o B 1 ER AR HY
REBEENEYBERSBEE TRI% -
BESCEESEHN T \FRIFE
E o HENEZ RS o

R-ZE—tF L5 AREBEBOR
AN RBARETHS  2EER
8% o FRAE L FTEYHIZH LA K A BLAE
YHISS T B ERREEB MRS -
MM EGRINREERTSHEEK

e gBOABR-_T—LFTFFR
RE-_ZT-N\F  ENEHSLBBEL
ZRMBAREITTER - mEMHRA
SEEAKEL - AT RELAEE

X BEEBEBFRAKFDARK - 2
REFBERARERESEESRT
SRBITHREFREENFR

\
/

W
23
i
13
A
)
- @t

# ol

=
g



10

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW
Financial Services Business

Following the completion of the Group’s acquisitions of Munsun
Asia and Munsun Securities in 2016 and Shenzhen Munsun in
2017, the Group has diversified its operation into the financial
services industry in Hong Kong and the PRC, including asset
management and securities brokerage and advisory services.

During the year, the Group has successfully launched certain
numbers of major projects and set up various investment
funds focusing on high investment returns. Shenzhen Munsun
is engaged in the asset management and advisory services
in the PRC. Its total asset under management has increased
approximately to RMB4.1 billion as at 31 December 2017.
Shenzhen Munsun is planning to work in a close collaboration
with its business partners to explore new investment
opportunities to substain the continued growth of the asset
management business for 2018.

Gold Mining Business

At the same time, the Group continued focusing in mine
development and reserve converting exploration during the
year. Total gold production was 2.3 tonnes (74 Koz) during the
year, a 1% increase as compared to that in 2016.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Henan Jinxing Mine

Henan Jinxing Mine is located approximately 6 km from the
regional town of Baitu and approximately 110 km southwest
of Luoyang City, Henan Province. It is the largest mine in terms
of gold resources of the Group. It is an underground mine and
consists of two areas, namely Jinxing area and Xiepojing area.
The Group acquired Jinxing Mine in 2010. Ten vein groups
have been identified within the mining area, with similar
orientation, size and shape. The variation of overall continuity of
the thickness and grade of the vein is also relatively consistent,
which suggested good potential for further resources expansion.
Jinxing Mine has received the environmental approval and
safety approval for its new tailings yard and has started the
construction work. It has JORC code and its equivalent gold
resources of 76.1 tonnes (2,446 Koz) with average grade of
4.6g/t. Gold production in 2017 was 0.7 tonnes (23 Koz), a
decrease of 21% compared to that of 2016.

Jinxing Mine conducted exploration in the Kangshan Gold Mine
area for production purpose and data for part of the trenching
project along the mineralized vein was collected for compilation
purpose. 3 old trenches of over 300 metres in the surrounding
area of the Kangshan Gold Mine were cleared, examination
of the samples taken showed that copper mineralization was
better in part of the area, and therefore, mine exploration
prospect was considered to be good in the mining area.

Henan Luanling Mine

Luanling Mine is located in Luanchuan County, Henan
Province, 40 km away from Jinxing Mine. It is composed of
Northern underground mining site and Southern open-pit and
underground mining site and is contained within a single mining
licence with an area of 9 km?. The Group acquired the mine
in 2010 and realised full scale production in 2012. It has JORC
code gold resources of 61.2 tonnes (1,967 Koz) with average
grade of 3.2g/t. Gold production in 2017 was 0.5 tonnes (17
Koz), an increase of 31% compared to that of 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

Exploration activities and reinforcement works for construction
projects continued in three mining sites of Luanling
Mine. Moreover, exploration works were in progress. The
reconstruction of the processing plant was completed.

Yunnan Mojiang Mine

Mojiang Mine, is located in Mojiang County, Pu’er City,
Yunnan Province, which is approximately 300 km southwest
of the provincial capital — Kunming of Yunnan Province. It lies
on the famous Mojiang-Jinping and Ailaoshan Fold, implying
favourable geology attributions. It has JORC code gold resources
of 15.6 tonnes (504 Koz) with average grade of 1.4 g/t. Gold
production in 2017 was 1.1 tonnes (32 Koz), a 19% increase
compared to that of 2016.

To facilitate centralized management, increase production
capacity, lower costs, reduce pollution, increase examination
passing rate and increase the safety coefficient of tailings yard
at the Mojiang Mine, various projects including the construction
of warehouse, the technological upgrading of processing plant,
the renovation of laboratory and the construction of drainage
ditches were completed respectively during the year.

Yunnan Hengyi Mine

Hengyi Mine is located in Zhenyuan County, Yunnan Province. It
is approximately 380 km southwest from Kunming. It holds two
mining licenses, namely Shangzhai and Bianfushan.

Hengyi Mine is located between the Mojiang-Jinping Fold Belt
and the Ailaoshan Fold Belt of the San Jiang Metamorphic Fold
System. The San Jiang Metamorphic System is situated on the
southwest margin of the Yangzi Platform and the northeast
margin of the Simao Block between the Honghe and Amojiang
Faults.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Since the Group’s acquisition of Hengyi Mine in 2012, the
Group has been working on ramping up its production capacity.
Heap leaching has been practised for several years at the mine.
It has JORC code gold resources of 51.5 tonnes (1,656 Koz)
with an average grade of 2.7 g/t. Gold production in 2017 was
15 kg (1 Koz), a 83% decrease compared to that of 2016.

Inner Mongolia Yongfeng Mine

Yongfeng Mine is an underground mine which was acquired
by the Group in 2009. Yongfeng Mine consists of two mining
areas, namely Lianhuashan mining area and Honghuagou
mining area, which are further divided into seven sub-mining
areas. Yongfeng Mine is located in the middle segment of the
northern margin of the North China Plate, adjacent to the Inner
Mongolia Fold Belt in the North. Seven mineralised veins were
identified. The mineralised veins have similar characteristics with
an average width between 1 and 1.5 metre and occur as gold-
bearing quartz veins. It has resources of 16.1 tonnes (520 Koz)
with an average grade of 9.5 g/t. The output of Yongfeng Mine
in 2017 was 28 kg (1 Koz), a 250% increase compared to that
of 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

GOLD RESOURCES/RESERVES BESERE #E

At the end of year 2017, the Group had total resources of RZZT—EFFR  AEEIZIORCIEE
220.5 tonnes which is compliant with the JORC code and/or K,/ SEEEREEE 22050 o

its equivalent. Measured and indicated resources (inclusive of FREAEEHERE(BIEEE BB
proven and probable reserves) were 85.1 tonnes and inferred 2) /3851 KL EIJRE 135.4MHF o R
resources were 135.4 tonnes. The measured and indicated SRR EERARAEZHERE (B
resources (inclusive of proven and probable reserves) and FEEPRES)AREHEREFIIN

inferred resources of each mine of the Group are detailed in the TR -BE2mUNFRERGUE1.45%
table below. The gold grade ranged from 1.4 g to 9.5 g per ton FE955L e
of resources.

Updated mineral resources table @ EHBEEERRO
Au Metal (t) Au Metal (koz)
teE (M) ¢eB(T#7)
Measured + Measured +
Indicated® Inferred Total  Indicated® Inferred Total
R+ E£H @ 4] a5t FA+EHO id- CH
Jinxing Mine tHER 36.6 395 76.1 1,176 1,270 2,446
Luanling Mine BECRE 17.2 44.0 61.2 552 1,415 1,967
Mojiang Mine B4R 12.1 35 15.6 391 113 504
Hengyi Mine ExmeE 14.2 373 51.5 457 1,199 1,656
Yongfeng Mine KESE 5.0 1.1 16.1 163 357 520
Total &t 85.1 135.4 220.5 2,739 4,354 7,003

(1) All mines’ resources and reserves are JORC code compliant and/ (1) FrEEBHERMEEYH AIORCIZER,

or its equivalent. S HIA IR o
(2) Measured and indicated resources are inclusive of proven and (2 HHEEHEREBEEFELAMKEES
probable gold reserves. = o

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2017



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ANNUAL REVIEW - EXPLORATION AND

INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT

The Group continued its exploration work in its mines, and in

total has completed trenching of approximately 55,407m and

diamond drilling of approximately 2,655m.

Jinxing Mine £ B &7

1)

2)

Exploration activities &3 &) )% &)

i) Exploration area and size

HREELBERR

i) Exploration project
MRIRE

i)~ No. of drillholes
ERRILEE

i) Average size of drillholes

EFRRILFHAN

Jinxing (5km?)
SEGEFLE)

Trenches (33,545m)
LR (33,545 )

4 drilling spots of each of
28 mine mouths
#28f@5 A - §ERA
LEATHER

Trenching of 2.2*2m;
B 2.2%2 K

Development/construction activities fE ez % /&% ~ % )% &)

i) Area
BR

ii) Infrastructure construction

EEEBANWR DM

FERNE-BRREERE

AEEREBLFENXREHEIE &
TR TI2 82 4755,407 K - BIFELR
£492,655K

Xiepojing (0.05km?)
NEH(0.05FHRE)

Trenches (10,104m)
(10,104 K)

4 drilling spots of each of
4 mine mouths
#a4@5A -
BERC4EIER

Trenching of 2.2*2m
MiE2.2*2 K

Jinxing Xiepojing
£ R H
Development of main tunnel and Development of the main tunnel and

engineering cut works of mine mouths  engineering cut works of Xiepojing,
No. 18,28,19,3,Xingshuya,Moshigou,  extension of slope mine
Houmusi, Qiaogou, Xiaobeigou

tunnels, etc.

1831 2 2837+ 19341~ 331 - AAIE  RSHEERE  RYIRER
ERE FEF BE - /MUESE SHER

NETBRMEF LR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Luanling Mine B £1&

1)

2)

Exploration activities #&/iz &) )% B)

i) Exploration area and size

HREELBERR

i) Exploration project
MRIRE

i) No. of drillholes
EBRRILEE

i) Average size of drillholes

ERRAL TR

South Area (2.7km?)
HRQIERRE)

Trenches (7,558m)
R (7,558 %)

3 drilling points of each of
9 mine mouths
#9ERA - BENAIEIERD

Trenching of 2.2*2m
82272k

Development/construction activities #& /e /&~ #8528

i) Area

BE

ii) Infrastructure construction
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South Area

Development of main tunnel and
engineering cut works of tunnel
No.301, 304, 305, 306,

307, 308, 309, 311 and

slope extension project of

tunnel No.301

30141 ~ 30431 ~ 30541 30641

307371 ~ 30831 * 3093 ~ 31131
IEHRRFYIRE
301 AT RIE

North Area (6.3km?)
TE(63FHFAE)

Trenches (2,842m)
FR(2,842 %)

4 drilling spots of each of
8 mine mouths
#MENA - BENAAELER

Trenching of 2.2*2m
82272k

North Area
t&

Development of main tunnel and
engineering cut works of Dongpo
No.100 and 13, Huichungou No.201
and No.200, Wangzhuang No.401
RIE1009L - 1341 - EHEE20130
20031 TH 401 UENBHA
REROIR



Mojiang Mine &I £

1)

2)

Exploration activities &/ &) % &)

i) Exploration area and size

HREELBERR

i) Exploration project
MERIRE

i) No. of drillholes
EBRRILEE

i) Average size of drillholes

ERRAL TR

v)  Average depth of drillholes
EBRRHLTIRE

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Open Cut (0.4km?)
EAFEB04THAE)

Diamond drilling (610m)
EIFE(610K)

2 drillholes
2 &S

Diameter of 75mm
BHEL7 52X

305m
305k

Development/construction activities &/ /% ~ i &)

i) Area

BE

ii) Infrastructure construction
AR

Open Cut
BARE

Construction of a four-stage mining
stope to separate the stripping and
mining area, and 10 other heap
leaching plants

HRABRSG - DRIR8E - RERE -

HEEMERK101E

EEEBANWR DM

Underground (3km?)
WTHREGERFRE)

Trenches (300m)
MR (300K)

4 drillings spots of each of
6 mine mouths
HeENA - BEKAAELER

Trenching of 2.2*2m
8222k

N/A
NEm

Underground

it TR E

No. 2 and No. 1 bulkhead wall for
mining junkyard, phase two mine
mouth mining and rehabilitation
project
2HRRNFHLSEETR
“HBANARREELR

ol
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Hengyi Mine Bz & 1&

1) Exploration activities #&lE &) HZ &)

18

ERRILFHRN EABLTS 2K B 2.4%2.6 K

v)  Average depth of drillholes 120m N/A
EBRRHLTIRE 120K NiEH

2)  Development/construction activities &z % /&~ FZi% )% &)

i) Area Bianfushan Shangzhai
ER IR latS

i) Infrastructure construction N/A Development of the main tunnel and
HERRmER TEA engineering cut works of Langnitang’s

i) Exploration area and size Bianfushan (2km?) Shangzhai (7km?)
HREE R EEmE BRUQEARE) FROTFEHDE)

i) Exploration project

Diamond drilling (2,045m)

Trenches (1,058m);

BRIE ER(2,045K) 4R (1,058 )
i)~ No. of drillholes 17 drillholes 3 drilling spots of each of
ERRLEE 17 EEH 3 mine mouths

iv)  Average size of drillholes
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Diameter of drillholes of 75mm

H3@RA - SEKAELER

Trenching of 2.4%2.6m

midpoint of pit mouths of 1350, 1400
and 1450

JRESE 1350 R B ~ 1400 R B ]
1450 PR E BRI T2



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EXPLORATION, DEVELOPMENT AND MINING
PRODUCTION EXPENDITURES

During the year, the Group had capital expenditures of HK$275
million for exploration, development and mining production
and had entered into certain significant contracts with certain
independent contractors for provision of exploration and
infrastructure development of the Group. Details of the relevant
exploration and infrastructure development work are set in
above section headed “ANNUAL REVIEW — EXPLORATION AND
INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT". Details of the Group’s
capital commitments are set out in note 34(a) to the financial
statements.

During the year, the Group incurred production costs of
HK$521 million which included raw materials of HK$69 million,
amortisation and depreciation of HK$171 million, wages and
subcontractors’ fees of HK$200 million, resources compensation
fees and taxes of HK$28 million and other miscellaneous mining
and processing costs of HK$53 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL

On 22 April 2016, the Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company (the “Purchaser”) entered into an agreement
(the “Shenzhen Munsun Agreement”) with all shareholders (the
“Shenzhen Munsun Sellers”) of Shenzhen Munsun, a company
incorporated in the PRC. Pursuant to the Shenzhen Munsun
Agreement, the Shenzhen Munsun Sellers agreed to sell and
the Purchaser agreed to purchase the entire equity interest in
Shenzhen Munsun at a consideration of RMB25 million. The
above acquisition transaction, further details of which are set
out in notes 32 and 35(a)(i) to the financial statements, has been
approved by the Company’s shareholders at an extraordinary
general meeting on 20 July 2016. The completion of acquisition
of Shenzhen Munsun has taken place on 3 January 2017.

Mr. Li Xianghong (“Mr. Li"), the former Chairman, Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, one
of the Shenzhen Munsun Sellers, is a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules. Ms. Kong Jian, one of
the Shenzhen Munsun Sellers, is the spouse of Mr. Li and is
therefore also a connected person of the Company. Mr. Zhang
Lirui (“Mr. Zhang"), one of the Shenzhen Munsun Sellers, is an
executive Director of the Company, and hence is a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Ms. Wei Hua,
one of the Shenzhen Munsun Sellers, is the spouse of Mr. Zhang
and is therefore also a connected person of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other major merger,
acquisition or disposal by the Group during the reporting period
and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Results

During the year, the Group's revenue increased by 9% to
HK$838 million (2016: HK$767 million) and its gold production
increased by 1% to 74 (2016: 73) thousand ounces (“Koz").
The increase in revenue is mainly arisen from the bounce of
gold price and increase in sales of by-products extracted as
an integral part of the Group's gold mining operations which
is a result of the Group’s efforts in maximising its output
productivity. The gross profit margin of the Group slightly
decreased to 38% (2016: 39%) which is attributable from the
increase in production costs.

During the year, the Group recorded profit from operations of
HK$53 million as compared with loss from operations of HK$9
million last year. The turnaround to the profit from operations is
mainly due to the non-cash equity-settled share-based expenses
of HK$145 million relating to the shares options granted
recorded by the Group last year, but, no relevant expense
incurred during this year. However, the profits from operations
is reduced by the increase of the fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss to HK$85 million (2016:
HK$9 million) (details are set out in the following section headed
"Other Revenue and Other Net Gain/Loss” ). In addition, the
Group has an increase of the finance costs to HK$427 million
(2016: HK$398 million) during the year (details are set out in
the following section headed “Finance Costs”). Accordingly,
the Group's loss after tax slightly decreased to HK$390 million
during the year as compared to HK$419 million last year.

The Group's total comprehensive loss decreased by 96% to
HK$31 million during the year as compared to HK$743 million
last year. The decrease in total comprehensive loss is attributable
to the Group’s recognition on an exchange gain on translation
of financial statements of PRC subsidiaries and associate of
HK$359 million during the year (2016: exchange loss of HK$323
million) that is arisen from appreciation of exchange rate of
RMB against HK$ during the year.

During the year, the loss per share of the Company was HK2.81
cents (2016: HK3.81 cents).

Other Revenue and Other Net Gain/Loss

During the year, the Group's other revenue was HK$20 million
(2016: HK$31 million), representing a decrease by 35% as
compared last year. The decrease is mainly due to the decrease
in bank interest income to HK$15 million (2016: HK$22 million)
and the decrease in dividend income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss to HK$0.5 million (2016: HK$4
million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

During the year, the Group recorded the other net loss of
HK$87 million as compared to the other net gain of HK$12
million last year. The turnaround to the other net loss is mainly
attributable to the increase in fair value loss on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss to HK$85 million (2016:
HK$9 million), which includes fair value loss arisen from listed
shares and unlisted equity investments in investment funds of
HK$81 million (2016: HK$4 million) and HK$4 million (2016:
HK$5 million) respectively. In addition, the Group recorded a
gain on disposal of subsidiaries of HK$21 million last year, but,
no relevant gain incurred during the year.

Selling and Distribution Costs

During the year, the Group's selling and distribution costs were
HK$16 million (2016: HK$11 million), representing an increase
by 45% as compared with last year. The increase is mainly
attributable to the completion of acquisitions of Munsun Asia
and Munsun Securities by the Group in 2016 and Shenzhen
Munsun in 2017 and the diversification of its business into asset
management, securities brokerage and advisory services.

Administrative Expenses

During the year, the Group’s administrative expenses were
HK$182 million (2016: HK$339 million), representing a decrease
by 46% as compared with last year. The decrease is mainly due
to the non-cash equity-settled share-based expenses of HK$145
million relating to the shares options granted recorded by the
Group last year, but, no relevant expense incurred during this
year.

Finance Costs

During the year, the Group’s finance costs were HK$427 million
(2016: HK$398 million), representing an increase by 7% as
compared with last year. The increase in finance costs is mainly
due to the increase in financing the Group’s working capital
by way of short-term bank and other borrowings and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss during the year. The
total interest expenses under finance costs increased to HK$456
million (2016: HK$340 million) accordingly. However, the Group
recorded a loss on the convertible bonds restructure of HK$63
million last year, no relevant loss incurred during the year; and
its fair value gain on derivative financial instruments relating to
the convertible bonds increased to HK$31 million (2016: HK$6
million) (details are set out in notes 6(a) and 24 in the financial
statements).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Deferred Tax

As at 31 December 2017, deferred tax liabilities amounted to
HK$615 million (2016: HK$577 million), which represented mainly
the estimated tax effects of the temporary differences arising from
acquisitions of gold mines by the Group in previous years and
was calculated at PRC income tax rate of 25% on the increase
in fair value of mining rights. The deferred tax liability balance is
subsequently reversed and credited to the consolidated income
statement as a result of tax effect of the amortisation of the mining
rights. Such liabilities are accounted for in accordance with the
accounting principle and therefore no cash payment is required.
Details are set out in note 25 (a) in the financial statements.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At 31 December 2017, the Group's cash and bank balances
(including pledged deposits) and net current liabilities were
HK$754 million (2016: HK$1,124 million) and HK$2,985 million
(2016: HK$1,808 million), respectively. The increase in the
Group’s net current liabilities is mainly attributable from (i) the
reclassification of convertible bonds of HK$385 million from
non-current liabilities to current liabilities at 31 December 2017
(details are set out in note 24 in the financial statements); (ii) the
increase in short-term financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$427 million; (iii) the decrease in financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of HK$304 million
that is arisen from the disposal of these assets during the year;
and (iv) the decrease in pledged bank deposits under current
assets of HK$242 million and bank and other borrowings under
current liabilities of HK$217 million which is attributable from
the settlement of bank and other borrowings secured by the
pledged bank deposits during the year. At 31 December 2017,
the Group's net assets slightly decreased to HK$7,210 million
(2016: HK$7,241 million).

The Group has met its needs of working capital and capital
expenditure mainly through cash generated from operations,
bank and other borrowings and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. As at 31 December 2017, the Group's
bank and other borrowings were repayable within one to six
years and its fixed rate borrowings over total borrowings was
71%. There is no significant seasonality of the borrowings
demand of the Group. Further details of the Group’s bank
and other borrowings are set out in note 23 to the financial
statements. The Company's directors are of the opinion that
the Group will be able to finance its future working capital and
financial requirements as further detailed in note 2(b) in the
financial statements.

The Group's cash and bank balances and bank and other
borrowings are mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and
Renminbi.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

At 31 December 2017, the total number of issued ordinary
shares of the Company was 13,897,918,781 shares, each of
HK$0.125 (the “Shares”). Further details are set out in the
section headed “Share Capital” in the report of the directors in
this annual report and note 26(b) in the financial statements.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher returns to
the owners of the Company that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital
management during the year.

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s gearing ratio increased to
37% (2016: 35%). The Group monitors capital using a gearing
ratio, which is calculated as the net debts divided by total equity
plus net debts. The Group’s net debts include bank and other
borrowings, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and convertible bonds, less cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits. The Group’s total equity comprises total share
capital and reserves of the Group.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of pledge of assets of the Group are set out in note 28
to the financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any
contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group's principal assets and liabilities are located in the PRC
and are denominated in RMB which is the functional currency
of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC. The Group did not
enter into any forward foreign exchange contracts to manage
its foreign currency risk during the year as the management
considered that the Group’s exposure to exchange rate risk
could be managed. Details of the foreign exchange risks of the
Group during the year are set out in note 33(e) to the financial
statements.

BUSINESS RISK

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from the market
price fluctuations on gold products and equity securities. To
protect the Group from the impact of price fluctuations in gold
products, the management closely monitors gold product price
exposure and will consider to use derivative contracts should the
need arises. The Group did not enter into any forward equity
securities contracts to manage its equity securities price risk. The
Group mitigates its price risk by performing detailed analysis of
investments and dedicated professionals are assigned to oversee
and monitor the performance of investments. Details are set out
in note 33(d) in the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

At 31 December 2017, the Group had available-for-sale
investments of HK$264 million, representing 1.9% of the
Group's total assets, which include mainly investment in an
unlisted company in the PRC of HK$252 million and investment
in a private equity fund in the PRC of HK$12 million.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other
investments at 31 December 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group employed approximately
920 (2016: 880) employees in the PRC and Hong Kong. All
employees are remunerated according to their performance,
experience and prevailing industry practices. Both on-the-job
and professional training are provided. The Group provides
retirement benefits in the form of Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance to its employees in Hong Kong. The Group
provides defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
organised by the relevant local government authorities in the
PRC to its employees in the PRC.

PRODUCTION SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION

We operate in a responsible manner to ensure the health
and safety of our employees and the communities in which
we operate. We are committed to meeting applicable legal
requirements and where possible seek to implement leading
industry standards in our operations. We have established a
dedicated safety and environment enhancement team that is
responsible for the occupational health and safety of our mines
and operations.

We are subject to various PRC laws and regulations with respect
to the prevention and treatment of occupational diseases, the
prevention of worksite accidents and the handling of industrial
injuries. Production safety permits have been obtained for our
mines.

We have adopted a comprehensive set of internal occupational
health and safety policies for our mines. We conduct staff
training, review internal safety procedures, carry out regular
on-site safety inspections and continuously monitor the
implementation of safety policies. Protective equipment and
clothing are regularly provided to our mine personnel, and we
regularly check proper usage of such equipment. In addition,
each of our mines has been equipped with a real-time visual
monitoring system to monitor mine operation and safety.
We have also set up an inspection and detection system in
the explosive warehouses in each of our mines to provide
comprehensive protection to the usage and security of daily
explosives.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We require our third-party contractors to possess requisite
production safety licences and relevant qualifications for the
work they contract from us and to undertake appropriate safety
measures.

We have been in compliance with all relevant PRC laws and
regulations regarding occupational health and safety in all
material respects. We have not had any material accident
involving death or personal injury at any of the mines operated
by us.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), the Company will publish an Environmental,
Social and Governance (“"ESG") Report within three months
after the publication of this annual report in compliance with
the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix
27 to the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIP WITH GOVERNMENT AND
AWARDS

The Group has been maintaining good relationships with the
local government where the mines are located.

In July 2012, the Group signed the cooperation framework
agreement on mineral resources exploration and development
with the local government of Yunnan Province. According to
the agreement, with the local government’s strong support and
assistance on exploration development and consolidation of
gold resources, the Group will have the priority rights to access
to the gold mining assets in the region. Moreover, the local
government will provide support on infrastructure, including
power, water and logistics.

In 2011, the Group also signed the similar framework
agreement with local government of Henan Province. According
to the agreement, the local government will provide full support
in terms of the Group's consolidation of precious metal resource
sector in the region. The Group is also subject to the subsidy
policy tailored for foreign investment as well as the favourable
policy for land acquisition and other approvals.
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Jinxing Mine and Luanling Mine had been granted a number
of awards with fruitful results over the years. During the year,
Jinxing Mine was granted an additional award of “2017
Advanced Unit of Statistical Work in Luoyang City”. Luanling
Mine was granted the award of “2016 Advanced Unit for
Operation Management in the Gold Industry of Luoyang
City"” by the Luoyang Gold Administration Bureau in February
2017, while at the same time, it was also granted the honour
of “Advanced Unit” jointly by the CPC Committee of Tantou
Township and the people’s government of Tantou Township,
and was awarded the honour of “Safety Qualified Team” jointly
by the Labour Contest Committee of Luoyang City and the
General Labour Union of Luoyang City in March 2017.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CORPORATE
PROSPECT

Looking ahead to 2018, it is expected that the prospect of gold
market to be more challenging overshadowed by the likelihood
of more than three rate hikes and the stronger US dollars. Yet,
it is believed that the overall level of rates will remain low from a
historical perspective. Expectation of the continued rising global
wealth, in particular the improving Mainland China’s economy
as well as the investors’ using gold to manage financial market
risks will support gold demand. As such, we believe that gold
will maintain its high relevance as a strategic asset throughout
2018.

As for mining business, the Group's objective is to maintain its
stable development in respect of mine exploration and reserve
increase by means of strict implementation of existing mines
exploration planning. More effort will be put on optimizing the
construction of the major exploration projects and on the cost
control in an environmentally friendly manner. Being one of the
largest privately owned, China-based gold mining companies,
the Group commits business strategy as to:(i) continue to
expand production capacity at our existing mines, (ii) speed
up construction work of the capacity expansion and improve
the exploration efficiency, and (iii) continue to conduct further
exploration projects in order to increase resources and upgrade
reserves.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On the other hand, the likelihood of more than three rate
hikes and fears of a US-led trade war would derail economic
momentum around the world. The financial market in 2018 is
likely to be volatile.

Following the Group’s diversification of its operations into
financial services industry in Hong Kong and the PRC, including
asset management and securities brokerage and advisory service
in September 2016 and January 2017, the Group will seek new
investment opportunities for broadening the income streams in
a world of fast-changing threats and opportunities. As always,
the Group will remain vigilant on costs and adopt a prudent
approach in its growth strategies.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that the success of the Group’s
business depends on the support from its key stakeholders,
including employees, customers, suppliers, banks, regulators
and shareholders. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain good relationships with each of its
key stakeholders.

The details of the Group’s major customers, the credit terms
granted to them and credit risk exposure are set out in the
section headed “Major Customers and Suppliers” in the “Report
of the Directors” and notes 18 and 33(a) in the financial
statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RAERBRESE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has committed to maintain high standards of
corporate governance and procedures to ensure integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to promote the
ongoing development of the best long term interest of the
Company and enhance value for all the shareholders.

The Company complied with all the code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31
December 2017 except for certain deviations as specified with
considered reason for such deviations as explained belotw.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all directors
(“Directors”) of any non-compliance with the Model Code
during the financial year ended 31 December 2017, and they
have all confirmed their full compliance with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested
in the Board. The major responsibilities of the Board include
formulation of strategic plans, adoption of corporate strategies,
assessment of investment projects, monitoring and controlling
the Group's operating and financial performance, assessment
and management of risk to which the Group is exposed. The
management of the Group are responsible for the execution of
the Board's decisions and day-to-day operation of the Group.

COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board during the year and up to date
of this report consists of 9 directors, with 6 Executive Directors,
namely Mr. Liu Liyang (Chairman), Mr. Chen Sheng (Chief
Executive Officer), Mr. Yu Yong, Mr. Wang Baozhi, Ms. Zang
Dongling and Mr Zhang Lirui. 3 Independent Non-Executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wu Tai Cheung, Professor Xiao Rong Ge
and Professor Zhang Tianyu.

There are no financial, business, family or other material
relationships among members of the Board.

Under provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should
not be performed by the same individual. For the period from
1 January 2017 to 31 August 2017, Mr. Li Xianghong was the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board considers that vesting both of the roles of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Li is beneficial to the business
prospects and management of the Group, as Mr. Li has in-depth
experience in business management and development and can
lead the Group to have continuous growth in the future.

Mr. Li resigned as director on 31 August 2017. Starting from 6
September 2017, Mr. Liu Liyang was appointed Chairman of the
Board. Mr. Liu is responsible for the leadership of the Board. Mr.
Chen Sheng was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as from 24 January 2018. Mr. Chen is responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business.
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The Company has appointed a sufficient number of
independent non-executive Directors with suitable professional
qualifications, such as expertise in accounting and financial
management, in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. They actively bring their valuable experience to
the Board for promoting the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Company has received from each of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
the Company considers all of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors to be independent.

As permitted under the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws"”), the Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’
Liability Insurance for which Members of the Board and officers
of the Company do not have to bear any excess.

The term of office of the Directors (including Independent Non-
Executive Directors) is 3 years. In accordance with the Bye-laws,
at each annual general meeting of the Company, one third of
the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not 3 or
a multiple of 3, the number nearest to, but not less than, one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.
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Attendance records of the Directors at Board Meeting, Audit

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Committee Meeting, Remuneration Committee Meeting,

Nomination Committee Meeting, Corporate Governance
Committee Meeting and General Meetings held in 2017 are as

below:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors:
Mr. Liu Liyang

(appointed as Chairman on 6 September 2017)
Mr. Chen Sheng

(appointed as Executive Director on 6 September 2017.

He was further appointed as Chief Executive Officer
on 24 January 2018)

Mr. Li Xianghong (resigned on 31 August 2017)

Mr. Zhang Liwei (resigned on 28 April 2017)

Mr. Wang Hao (resigned on 31 October 2017)

Mr. Zhang Shuguang (resigned on 31 August 2017)

Mr. Zhang Lirui

Mr. Wang Baozhi (appointed on 21 August 2017)

Mr. Yu Yong (appointed on 6 September 2017)

Ms. Zang Dongling (appointed on 6 September 2017)

INEDs:

Professor Xiao Rong Ge

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung

Mr. Yin Chenggang (resigned on 31 August 2017)
Professor. Zhang Tianyu (appainted on 21 August 2017)
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The minutes of Board meetings are prepared by the company
secretary of the Company. The draft minutes are circulated to all
members of the Board for their comments and the final version
of the minutes is sent to all members of the Board for their
records within a reasonable time after the meeting. The minutes
are also open for inspection by all members of the Board at the
Company'’s registered office.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged in-house
trainings for Directors in the form of seminar and provision of
training materials. A summary of training received by Directors
during the relevant period according to the records provided by
the Directors is as follows:

Name of Directors BEEnR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Liu Liyang £k bt
Mr. Chen Sheng BoR B o A
Mr. Wang Baozhi FRELE
Mr. Zhang Lirui SR A8 5T A&
Mr. Yu Yong RERE
Ms. Zang Dongling RIS+
Independent Non-Executive Directors BMFHITESE
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung RIS A
Professor Xiao Rong Ge R €5
Professor Zhang Tianyu SR B AR
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) under the Board. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung, Professor Zhang Tianyu and Professor Xiao
Rong Ge. Mr. Wu Tai Cheung is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee has formulated its term of
reference in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The Audit Committee’s duties are mainly to review the
Company’s financial reports, make recommendations on the
appointment, removal and remuneration of independent
auditors and approve audit and audit related services, and
supervise the Company'’s internal financial reporting procedures
and management policies.

At least two meetings of the Audit Committee will be convened
annually to review the accounting policies, risk management,
internal control and the relevant financial and accounting issues,
so as to ensure fairness and accuracy of the Company's financial
statements and other relevant information. The minutes of the
Audit Committee meetings are prepared by the secretary of the
meeting. The draft minutes are circulated to the Committee
Members for comments and the final version of the minutes
is sent to the Committee Members for their records within a
reasonable time after the meeting. The minutes are also open
for inspection by the Committee Members at the Company’s
registered office.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, three Audit
Committee meetings were held and the attendance of each
member is set out in the section headed “Composition” of this
report, The work performed by the Audit Committee included
to review and recommend for the Board’s approval the interim
and annual financial results and reports, financial reporting
and compliance procedures, and internal control and risk
management matters as well as to review and recommend for
the Board's approval, the Audit Planning Report and Internal
Control Planning Report the engagements with the Auditor and
the consultant for internal control matter of the Company.
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Remuneration committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the
“"Remuneration Committee”). The Remuneration Committee
currently consists of two Independent Non-Executive Directors,
Professor Zhang Tianyu and Mr. Wu Tai Cheung, and one
Executive Director, Mr. Liu Liyang. Professor Zhang Tianyu is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The Company has
formulated written terms of reference for the Remuneration
Committee in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal
and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies
and in overseeing and evaluating remuneration packages of the
Directors. Its duties include making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management. It takes into consideration
factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of Directors. It also takes into account whether the emoluments
offered are appropriate to the duties and performance of the
respective individuals concerned and whether such emoluments
are competitive and sufficiently attractive to retain such
individuals.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, one Remuneration
Committee meeting was held and the attendance of each
member is set out the section headed “Composition” of this
report. In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting,
the Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way
of circulation during 2017. In 2017 and up to the date of this
report, the work of Remuneration Committee included to
review the remuneration policies and made recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration packages regarding renewal
of service contract of executive directors and newly appointed
directors as well as annual review on remuneration policy and
structure for directors and senior management of the Company.

Competitive remuneration packages are structured to be
commensurate with individual responsibilities, qualification,
experience and performance.
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The remuneration of a Director is determined with reference
to his duties and responsibilities with the Company and the
prevailing market situation. Details of the emoluments of
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements of this annual report. The
emoluments paid to senior management during the year ended
31 December 2017 were within the following bands:

HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) under the Board. Members of the
Nomination Committee currently consists of two Independent
Non-Executive Directors, Mr. Wu Tai Cheung and Professor
Zhang Tianyu, and one Executive Director, Mr. Liu Liyang who is
the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the following:

e reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and
making recommendations on proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

e identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

e assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and

e making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and the
chief executive.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy aims to set out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board to ensure that
the Board has the balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
knowledge and skills. In identifying suitable candidates, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates with the
objective criteria with due regard of the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, one Nomination
Committee meeting was held. The attendance of each member
is set out in the section headed “Composition” of this report. In
addition to the Nomination Committee meeting, the Nomination
Committee also dealt with matters by way of circulation during
2017.1n 2017 and up to the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee’s work included to make recommendation to
the Board on rotation of directors for 2017 and 2018 AGM,
appointment of Executive Directors and Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company, access the Independence of
Non-Executive Directors and reviewed the structure and size and
diversity of the Board.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established on 30 March 2017
and comprises all Executive Directors of the Company. Mr.
Liu Liyang is the Chairman of the Executive Committee. The
Executive Committee is vested with all the general powers of
management and control of the activities in the ordinary course
of business of the Group as are vested in the Board, save for
those matters which are reserved for the Board's decision and
approval pursuant to the written terms of reference of the
Executive Committee. The Executive Committee will meet as
and when necessary to discuss the operating affairs of the
Group and may also deal with matters by way of circulation.
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The Executive Committee is mainly responsible for undertaking

and supervising the day-to-day management and is empowered:

(i)

(ii)

to formulate and implement policies for the business
activities and administration of the Group and to
make such amendments thereto from time to time as
the Executive Committee may think fit and to make
exceptions to the policies as the circumstances arise while
implementing such polices; and

to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted by the
Group on business activities.

Corporate Governance Committee

The Group has established a corporate governance committee
(the "Corporate Governance Committee”). The Corporate

Governance Committee currently consists of three Executive
Directors, Mr. Liu Liyang, Mr. Wang Baozhi and Ms. Zang

Dongling. Mr. Liu Liyang is the Chairman of the Corporate

Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for the

following:

developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with applicable legal and
regulatory requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, no Corporate
Governance Committee meeting was held while Corporate
Governance Committee dealt with matters by way of circulation.
In 2017 and up to the date of this report, the Corporate
Governance Committee’s work included to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the Company'’s policies and
practices on corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and
ensure that they are prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors
also ensure the timely publication of such financial statements.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company,
Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting
responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements is set out
in the Auditor’s Report on pages 71 to 79.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditors (including any entity under common control, ownership
or management with the external auditors or any entity that
a reasonable and informed third party having knowledge of
all relevant information would reasonably conclude as part of
the audit firm nationally or internationally) during the year is as
follows:

Audit services

EZIRTE
FEE LIRS

Non-audit services
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RISKS MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities to maintain a sound
and effective risks management and internal control systems
of the Group to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and
the Company’s assets. The Group has established guidelines
and procedures for the approval and control of expenditure.
Operating expenditures and capital expenditures are subject
to the overall budget control and approval process prior to
commitment.

The Company has established an internal audit function. The
Board has, through the Audit Committee of the Company,
conducted the annual review of the effectiveness of the
Company's internal controls and risk management system
for the year ended 31 December 2017. The review covered
all material controls including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions. There
were no significant control failings, weaknesses or significant
areas of concern identified during the year which might affect
shareholders.

The Group handles and disseminates inside information with
due care. Staff is required to comply with and maintain the strict
confidentiality of the information. Only personnel at appropriate
level can get reach of price sensitive and inside information.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms. Leung Lai Seung, appointed on 23
January 2017, is responsible for facilitating the Board process,
as well as communications among Board members, with
shareholders and the management. Ms. Leung’s biography is set
out in the “Biographical Details of the Directors and the Senior
Management” section on page 51. During the year, Ms. Leung
took not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to
update her skills and knowledge.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting and extraordinary
general meetings provide the principal channels of
communication with its shareholders which provide
opportunities for shareholders to share views with the Board.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders.

Due to other business engagements, some Independent Non-
Executive Directors of the Company could not attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 22 June 2017 and
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 27
November 2017. However, at the respective general meetings
of the Company, there were Executive Directors and some other
Independent Non-Executive Directors present to enable the
Board to develop a balanced understand of the views of the
Shareholders.

CODE PROVISION E.1.2

In accordance with the code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code,
the chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting. He should also invite the chairmen of the audit,
remuneration, nomination and any other committees (as
appropriate) to attend. In their absence, he should invite another
member of the committee or failing this his duty appointed
delegate to attend. These persons should be available to answer
guestions at the annual general meeting.

Due to other business engagements, Mr. Li Xianghong, the
former Chairman of the Board, was not able to attend the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 June 2017.
However, Mr. Liu Liyang, an Executive Director of the Company,
took the chair of that meeting and Chairman of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee were present thereat
to be available to answer any question to ensure effective
communication with the Shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening extraordinary general meeting and
putting forward proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

Under the Company'’s Bye-laws, the Board, on the requisition
of shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company by sending a
written notice to the Board or the Company Secretary at the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong, shall
convene an extraordinary general meeting to address specific
issues specified in such requisition of the Company within
21 days from the date of deposit of written notice. The same
requirement and procedure also apply to any proposal to be
tabled at shareholders’ meetings for adoption.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the Company's
Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong at Unit 7810, The
Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong (email:
info@munsun.hk).

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Upon the change of domicile of the Company from the Cayman
Islands to Bermuda became effective on 11 December 2017
(Bermuda time)/12 December 2017 (Hong Kong time), the new
Memorandum and Continuance and Bye-laws were adopted
in substitution for existing Memorandum of Association and
Articles of Association of the Company.

The Memorandum of Continuance and Bye-laws are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company.
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EENEREEERE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Liyang (21418), aged 57, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company on 13 October 2015. He was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board, and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company, He was also
redesignated as the Chairman of each of Executive Committee,
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company on 6 September 2017. Mr. Liu holds an MBA
degree from Columbia University. He has 16 years of experience
in the investment banking industry. Mr. Liu was appointed as
an executive director, the deputy chairman of the board and
the chief executive officer and a member of the remuneration
committee of eForce Holdings Limited (stock code: 943)
(“eForce”) on 19 August 2010 and was further appointed
as a member of the nomination committee of eForce on 29
March 2012. Mr Liu has ceased to be the deputy chairman
of the board of eForce on 18 January 2018. Before joining
eForce, he was the co-head of the China Investment Banking
of Nomura International (HK) Limited. He has also worked in
Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited, China International Capital
Corporation Limited and Morgan Stanley & Co. Inc.. Mr. Liu is
also an independent non-executive director, a member of each
of the audit committee and the nomination committee and the
chairman of the remuneration committee of Beautiful China
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 706).
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Mr. Chen Sheng (BRE), aged 45, was appointed as an
Executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee
and Corporate of the Company on 6 September 2017. Mr
Chen has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company on 24 January 2018. Mr Chen graduated
from China European International Business School with a
master’s degree in business administration (EMBA). He has
over 20 years' experience in government and state-owned
corporate governance and extensive economic financial and
investment experience. Mr. Chen served as a researcher in the
research centre of the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council of Shanghai
Municipal Government. He worked as the deputy general
secretary in the Asia Research Centre of Shanghai Jiaotong
University, the deputy general manager in the Asia Pacific
International Commodity Exchange Centre of China Railway
and the president of Shanghai Rongfa Enterprise Development
Limited.

Mr. Zhang Lirui (5RFI#), aged 45, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 10 July 2015. Mr. Zhang
is currently a member of Executive Committee of the Company.
He graduated from Shenzhen University and Huazhong
University of Science & Technology and holds a bachelor’s
degree in international finance and postgraduate in economics.
Mr. Zhang has more than 24 years of experiences in the business
sectors of market capital and securities. During the years from
1992 to 2008, Mr. Zhang worked successively in the market
capital, credit and organization departments and sub-branches
of the Shenzhen Branch of the Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited. He was a director of Munsun Assets
Management Ltd from August 2012 to December 2013 and
a director of Munsun Asset Management (Asia) Limited from
October 2012 to May 2014.
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EENEREEERE

Mr. Wang Baozhi (£{f7%), aged 50, was appointed as an
Executive Director and a member of each of the Executive
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company on 21 August 2017. Mr Wang obtained a bachelor’s
degree in agriculture education from Yuxi Agriculture College
and a master’s degree in Economics from Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics (formerly Jiangxi Finance and Economics
College). He is currently a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has over 23 years of experience
in finance. Mr. Wang has been the managing director of
south china business headquarter of Zhongrong International
Trust Company Limited (“Zhongrong International”) since
April 2009. Before joining Zhongrong International, he has
previously worked as the project manager of Shenzhen Baifuda
Finance Company Limited, the financial controller of Shenzhen
Chengnong Siliao Company Limited, the financial controller of
Shenzhen Hongji (Group) Logistic Company Limited, the chief
financial officer of Shenzhen Nanyou (Holdings) Limited and an
auditor of Shenzhen Minfu audit firm.

Mr. Yu Yong (3RE), aged 61, was appointed as an Executive
Director, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and a member of
the Executive Committee of the Company on 6 September 2017.
Mr Yu holds a bachelor’s degree in geology engineering (mine
exploration) from the Central South Institute of Mining and
Metallurgy. He is a professor-level senior engineer and a national
mineral reserves appraiser. He has numerous years of extensive
experience in geological exploration technology, geological
technology management and resource assessment. He served as
the deputy director of the China Metallurgical Geology Bureau,
the deputy manager of the geological resources department of
the China National Gold Group, the secretary, the vice president
and chief engineer of China National Gold Geology Co., Ltd.. He
has long been engaged in solid mineral geological exploration,
mining geological, geological research, geological technology
management and mine management. He has presided over and
mainly participated in a number of major scientific research and
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mining projects, and obtained two first-class awards and one
second-class award in science and technology from the China
Gold Association. He has also presided over and completed a
number of large and medium-sized exploration projects, and
was responsible for or participated in numerous domestic and
foreign mining rights projects, presided over or participated
in the review of various types of geological prospecting
design projects, participated in or reviewed various geological
exploration reports.

Ms. Zang Dongling (83 %), aged 55, was appointed as
an Executive Director and a member of each of the Executive
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company on 6 September 2017. Ms. Zang received a bachelor’s
degree in industrial enterprise management engineering
from China Nonferrous Metal Administrative Cadre Institute
and received a postgraduate degree in economics (economic
management) from the Graduate School of the CPC Central
Party School. She has more than 20 years of financial and
audit experience. She served as general manager of the
finance department and general manager of the audit
department of China Aluminum International Trading Co., Ltd.
(“China Aluminum International Trading”). China Aluminum
International Trading is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Aluminum
Corporation of China Limited, a company listed in China, Hong
Kong and the United States. Prior to joining China Aluminum
International Trading, she worked in the finance department
of Aluminum Corporation of China Limited and served as
general manager of the finance department in Zhongxin Assets
Appraisal Office.
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BEENENEEEREBRE

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung (# X%), aged 60, was appointed an
Independent Non-Executive Director, the chairman of the
Audit Committee, a member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company on 3 October 2016.
Mr. Wu is currently the chief financial officer and company
secretary of Yee Hop Holdings Limited (stock code: 1662) and
the joint company secretary of Shenyang Public Utility Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 0747). Mr. Wu has over 17 years
of experience in accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Wu has
served various public-listed companies in Hong Kong holding
positions such as financial controller, company secretary and
chief financial officer, Mr. Wu also served as an independent
non-executive director of BEP International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 2326). The aforesaid companies are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in arts in accountancy
from the University of Bolton and master’'s degree in business
administration from the University of Newcastle, Australia,
Mr. Wu is currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and an associate member of the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators.
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Professor Xiao Rong Ge (H %), aged 68, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company on 21 January 2010.
Professor Xiao obtained his PhD in Professional Geology from
the China University of Geosciences (Beijing). He is currently
a professor of Professional Geology and mentor to doctoral
students at the China University of Geosciences (Beijing).
Professor Xiao has long been conducting research work in the
fields of geology, mineral exploration and economic evaluation.
He participated in the fieldwork of geological inspection
of metal minerals by an integrated exploration team of the
geological exploration company of the Ministry of Metallurgical
Industry of China, mainly at the regions of Langshan mountain
Bayan Obo, Manzhouli and Daxinganling of Inner Mongolia,
PRC. He also took part in the geological research work of the
Three-River Area of Yunnan and the system research of meso-
cenozoic geological minerals and sylvite and copper minerals
in Yunnan. As a post-doctoral researcher at the Institute of
Geochemistry Chinese Academy of Sciences, he engaged in
geological geochemistry research, focusing research on the
formation of meso-cenozoic sandstone-type copper minerals.
He is currently engaged in the research studies on various
types of minerals involving non-ferrous metals, precious
metals, ferrous metals, non-metals and energy minerals, and
has in-depth studies on the rules for the formation of metal
ore deposits and mine exploration and has accomplished a
series of research achievements. Academic publications in the
recent decade include: Geochemistry of rock mineral deposits
(Geological Publishing House), Boron ore deposits in Liaodong
(Geological Publishing House), Gold mine formation rules
and mineralization forecast in the deep parts of Xiaoginling
(Geological Publishing House), Phosphate ore deposits in China
(Geological Publishing House), Molybdenum ore formation
theory (Geological Publishing House) and Crystalline graphite
ore deposits in northern China (Science Press). Professor Xiao
had engaged in the projects of the National Science Foundation
of China, basic technical research projects of the Department of
Technology, Ministry of Land and Resources, national geological
inspection projects, open laboratory projects on geochemistry of
the Chinese Academy of Sciences and related provincial projects
of the Department of Land and Resources and various mining
enterprises projects, and was awarded a Third Class Award of
Technological Progress by the Ministry of Geology and Mineral
Resources, a First Class Award and a Second Class Award
of Technological Achievement by the Ministry of Land and
Resources. Professor Xiao had engaged in consultant services
for mining investment, valuation for financing, mining rights
valuation and technical inspection, and had conducted valuation
of mining resources for various mining enterprises.
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EENEREEERE

Professor Zhang Tianyu (5RH ), aged 43, was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of
each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company on 21 August 2017.
Professor Zhang was re-designated as the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 31 August 2017.
Professor Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Accounting
from Nankai University, a master’s degree in Accounting from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and a Doctor of
Philosophy in Accounting from The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. He has over 12 years of experience
in accounting. Professor Zhang is a professor in School of
Accountancy and the director of the Center for Institutions and
Governance in The Chinese University of Hong Kong (“Chinese
University”). His research focuses on political institutions and
governance in China emerging market. He is now sitting on the
editorial board of The Accounting Review and Contemporary
Accounting Research. Before joining the Chinese University,
he worked for City University of Hong Kong in 2011. Professor
Zhang also served as an independent director of Netac
Technology Co Ltd from February 2011 to February 2017. The
aforesaid company is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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Senior Management

Dr. SHI, Simon Hao (“Dr. SHI"), aged 54, was appointed as
the chief financial officer of the Company with effect from 20
September 2016. Dr. SHI graduated from Fudan University with
a bachelor’s degree in Biophysics in 1987 and obtained a PhD
degree at State University of New York Downstate Medical
School in 1995, followed by a postdoctoral fellowship at an
affiliate hospital of Harvard Medical School, Harvard University
until 1998. Dr. SHI received his MBA degree from University of
Southern California Marshall School of Business in 2000. He has
over 16 years of experience in financial management, fund and
asset management. Prior to joining the Company, Dr. SHI has
served various international investment groups and public-listed
companies in the PRC, Taiwan and Hong Kong holding various
positions such as manager, financial controller, vice president,
and chief financial officer. He was appointed as a financial
officer of the Company in September 2015. He was appointed
as an non-executive director of L'Sea Resources International
Holdings Limited (“L'Sea”), a company listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
April 1, 2014, and was re-designated as an executive director
on March 31, 2015. He subsequently resigned as an executive
director of L'Sea on 30 September 2017.

Ms. Leung Lai Seung (RE#), aged 55, was appointed as
the company secretary of the Company on 23 January 2017.
Ms. Leung served as Company Secretary of Ceneric (Holdings)
Limited (Stock Code: 542) between April 2011 to December
2016. She is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries. She also holds a Professional Diploma in
Company Secretaryship and Administration from Hong Kong
Polytechnic (now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University)
and an Executive Diploma in Corporate Governance and
Pragmatic Business Eithics from the University of Hong Kong.
She possesses over 20 years of experience in handling company
secretarial practice and corporate governance matter for listed
companies.

BEENENEEERERRE

SREEE

SHI, Simon Haof§+ ( [SHIE L] )
543 RZZE—RFNAZTHEZE
FARARFZERYBE o SHIELR
—NANEFEXREBERE  BEDY
BEELEN WA NANLAEFERER
AN KRBT MNESITIE LB - B
BE-NNANF  HE—EHARBREE
BT REE - SHIE TR —_TTT
FRSEBEEMIMNASBIHERELS
fiZ e SHIET R BER - EeREEE
BrEEEBBI6FLR - MAKRAT

ZHE] SHIE T ERBAPE - 52

BEAZHABEBRKRESEBER ETMRR - E
IR - B BE - JIBRRERTH
BEEZERE - FR_T—RFNAE
ZAAARRBIZHBE - BFRZZFT—NK
FOA—AEZTAFEGEREERZR
BRAR ([FE] ) (REBBER
SEBERAR ( [BXZA] ) EmHA

R ZHEWMTEE YR _ZT—RF=
A=1T—HATANITES - BRHER
ZE—tFNA=ZTHBEREZH®T

EEHo

REFELZL S5 R_ZE—tF—A
T =HEZERARRTZARAIMWE
RUTHR T ——FHOAEZZT—RF
+ RER S EEHaEE (58) GR

NaEl (R - 542) ZRARIME o 1§
BRABHMERITRABRAEUALE
BEHAMELAGZEFEE - BIHA
BEBETER (REESEIKRE) B
B2 RAMERITREEXBARES
K%ﬁ%ZﬁﬁA%iﬁ(@T%é
EEEE)  FEEELTARIZAF
w%%%&ﬁ%am$%ﬁﬁﬁtm¢
K o

\
/

W
23
i
13
A
)
- @t

# ol

=
g

97



a2

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The Directors hereby submitting the annual report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017.

CHANGE OF DOMICILE AND CAPITAL
REORGANISATION

On 12 October 2017, the Board proposed to change the
domicile of the Company from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda
by way of deregistration in the Cayman Islands and continuation
as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda (the
"Change of Domicile”) and to effect the capital reorganization
(the “Capital Reorganization”) in the following manner: (i) the
par value of each of the issued shares of HK$0.125 each in
the existing share capital of the Company ("“Existing Shares”)
reduced from HK$0.125 each to HK$0.005 each (“New
Shares”) by cancelling the capital paid-up thereon to the extent
of HK$0.12 on each of the issued Existing Shares (“Capital
Reduction”); (ii) immediately following the Capital Reduction
taking effect, all the authorised but unissued share capital of
the Company (which shall include the authorised but unissued
share capital arising from the Capital Reduction) would be
cancelled in its entirety and forthwith upon such cancellation,
the authorised share capital of the Company would be increased
to HK$150,000,000 by the creation of additional New Shares
as shall be sufficient to increase the authorised share capital of
the Company to HK$150,000,000 divided into 30,000,000,000
New Shares; (iii) the credits arising in the books of the Company
from the Capital Reduction would be credited to the contributed
surplus account of the Company within the meaning of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda; and (iv) the amount standing
to the credit of the contributed surplus account be applied to
set off the accumulated losses of the Company by the amount
of such credit or be applied in any other manner as may be
permitted under the the bye-laws of the Company in effect
from time to time and all applicable laws of Bermuda.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The aforesaid proposals were approved by the shareholders of
the Company by a special resolution at an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 27 November 2017. Details of
the Change of Domicile and Capital Reorganisation were set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 12 October 2017,
27 November 2017, 12 December 2017 and 2 January 2018 as
well as the circular of the Company dated 1 November 2017.

The Change of Domicile became effective on 11 December
2017(Bermuda time)/12 December 2017 (Hong Kong time),
while the Capital Reorganisation has become effective on 2
January 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set forth in note 29(a) to
the financial statements. The discussion and analysis as required
by schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are set
out on pages 9 to 29. This discussion form part of the report of
the directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017 are set out in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 80
and 81.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2017.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in page 245.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of change in equity on pages 84 and 85 and note 26
to the financial statements respectively.

FIXED ASSETS

Particulars of the movements in fixed assets of the Group
during the financial year are set forth in note 13 to the financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as
at 31 December 2017 are set out in note 23 to the financial
statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Particulars of convertible bonds of the Group and the Company
as at 31 December 2017 are set out in note 24 to the financial
statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE CAPITAL

During the year, the Company has proposed to effect the capital
reorganization and it has become effective on 2 January 2018.

Details of the above transaction and the movements of share
capital of the Company are set out in the section headed
“Change of Domicile and Capital Reorganization” in the report
of the directors and notes 26(a) & (b) in the financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of non-exempted connected transaction entered into by
the Company during the year was set out in the section headed
“Mergers and Acquisitions and Disposal” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis in this annual report. The related party
transactions as disclosed in notes 35 (a)(ii) to (vi) to the financial
statements are fully exempted connected transactions under
chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Liyang (Chairman, appointed on 6 September 2017)

Mr. Chen Sheng (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as director on 6 September 2017 and as
Chief Executive Officer on 24 January 2018)
Mr.Yu Yong (appointed as director and Deputy
Chief Executive Officer on 6 September 2017)
Ms. Zang Dongling (appointed on 6 September 2017)
Mr.Wang Baozhi (appointed on 21 August 2017)

Mr. Zhang Lirui
Mr. Li Xianghong (fesigned on 31 August 2017)

Mr. Wang Hao (resigned on 31 October 2017)
Mr. Zhang Liwei (resigned on 28 April 2017)

Mr. Zhang Shuguang (resigned on 31 August 2017)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Professor Xiao Rong Ge
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung

Professor Zhang Tianyu (appointed on 21 August 2017)

Mr. Yin Chenggang (appointed on 4 January 2017 and
resigned on 31 August 2017)
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The service contract of Mr. Zhang Lirui as an Executive Director
was signed on 10 July 2015 for a term of three years. The
service contract of Mr. Liu Liyang as an Executive Director was
signed on 13 October 2015 for a term of three years. The
service contract of Mr. Wang Baozhi as an Executive Director
was signed on 21 August 2017 for a term of three years. The
service contract for each of Mr. Chen Sheng, Mr. Yu Yong
and Ms. Zang Dongling as Executive Directors was signed on 6
September 2017 for a term of three years.

The service contract of Professor Xiao Rong Ge as an
Independent Non-executive Director was renewed for a term
of three years commencing from 21 January 2016. The service
contract of Mr. Wu Tai Cheung as an Independent Non-
executive Director was signed on 3 October 2016 for a term of
three years. The service contract of Professor Zhang Tianyu as an
Independent Non-executive Director was signed on 21 August
2017 for a term of three years.

There is no specific clause in all the service contracts providing
for the amount of compensation in case of early termination.
Each Director was subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the Company’s annual general meetings in
accordance with the Bye-laws. Pursuant to Bye-law 84(1), Mr.
Liu Liyang and Mr. Zhang Lirui shall retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and shall be eligible
for re-election. Pursuant to Bye-law 83(2), Mr. Chen Sheng, Mr.
Wang Baozhi, Mr. Yu Yong, Ms. Zang Dongling and Professor
Zhang Tianyu shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and shall be eligible for re-election.

Other than as disclosed above, no Director has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

During the year, no consideration was provided to or receivable
by third party for making available the service of director or in
any other capacity while director.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
Executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of its Independent Non-Executive Directors
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTEREST
IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests of the Directors and chief
executives in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and/or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange are as follows:

ESRBETHRARBRKREZ

S

RZE—+tF+-_A=+—H EEFK
EETHRABERARR REMBEEE
(ERABFLHEGRMI(TESRBE
BB D EXVER) 2 IRty - HEER M KE
H - mABRBISLBAEBKRAEXV
HETRSNDE 2R ETEHEARRAR
MR ER(BREEREREZSF LS
BERIZEFEHEEEIRAHEE#E
mREKE)  AIRBFEEFRAERK
B2 352 ik 2 M TEBH AZ G & 7
etz RBEEFRZENGAAD
A MBS AT P 2 R E ST

Number of shares (including underlying shares)

ROBE (BEEBRE)
Number of
underlying
shares held
under equity
derivatives Approximate
(Note b) % of Issued
DRAST &£ Share Capital
Personal Family Corporate I EBEZ HERTRE
Name of Directors Interests Interests Interests  HEERHE Total  ZHHESR
ESpE BAER FiEER ARER (MfEEDb) &t okt
Mr. Liu Liyang 1,700,000 — 978,182,869 138,000,000 1,117,882,869 8.04%
ALt (Note a)
(FizEa)
Mr. Zhang Lirui 266,313,590 - - 138,000,000 404,313,590 2.91%

RAMF L
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Notes:

(@  Tai Ning Investment Holdings Limited (“Tai Ning”) is wholly-
owned by Mr. Liu Liyang. Accordingly, Mr. Liu Liyang is taken to
be interested in 978,182,869 shares held by Tai Ning.

(b)  These represent the interests in underlying shares in respect of
the share options granted by the Company, the details of which
are set out in the section headed “Share Options Scheme”
below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of
the Directors nor chief executive of the Company nor their
associates, had any interest in long position or short position in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which required, pursuant to the Model
Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES

The Company has two share option schemes: the 2004 Share
Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

The 2004 Share Option Scheme was adopted by a resolution
passed by the Company’s shareholders on 18 September 2004
whereby the directors of the Company were authorised, at their
discretion, to invite directors and employees of the Group, to
take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company up to
a maximum of 160,000,000 shares. By a resolution passed by
the Company’s shareholders on 26 May 2011, the Company
refreshed the limit in respect of the granting of share options
under the 2004 Share Option Scheme and all other share
options scheme up to 10% of the total number of ordinary
shares of the Company in issue. The 2004 Share Option Scheme
would be valid and effective for a period of 10 years ended on
17 September 2014. By a resolution passed by the Company'’s
shareholders on 30 May 2014, the 2004 Share Option Scheme
was terminated and thereafter no further options would be
offered or granted under the 2004 Share Option Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no options have
been granted or exercised under the 2004 Share Option
Scheme. Since the exercise period of the outstanding share
options granted under 2004 share option scheme had expired
on 28 October 2017, the relevant share options therefore lapsed
automatically on the same date. Details are set out on page 63
of this section.
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The 2014 Share Option Scheme was adopted by a resolution
passed by the Company’s shareholders on 30 May 2014. The
2014 Share Option Scheme provides that the Board may specify
the eligible participants to whom the options shall be granted.
The eligible participants include directors, employees, suppliers,
customers, consultants, agents and advisers of the Company
and its subsidiaries and any person who, in the sole discretion
of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group in
recognition of their contribution to the Group. The Board shall
determine the exercise price of option in accordance with the
terms of the 2014 Share Option Scheme, which cannot in any
event fall below the price stipulated in the Listing Rules. The
maximum number of the ordinary shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% (i.e. 435,127,903
shares) of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at
the date when the 2014 Share Option Scheme is approved and
adopted. The 2014 Share Option Scheme was effective on 4
June 2014 and will remain valid and effective for a period of
10 years from that date. The existing scheme mandate limit in
respect of the granting of options to subscribe for shares under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme was refreshed and renewed
at the an extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 19 September 2016. The maximum number of the ordinary
shares of the Company upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% (ie.
1,385,769,378 shares) of the ordinary shares of the Company
in issue as at 19 September 2016 being the date of approval of
the refreshment of the existing scheme mandate limit. During
the year, no options have been granted under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme.

Unless approved by the shareholders, the total number of the
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under 2014 Share Option Scheme to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of
Shares in issue.
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Offer of an option (“Offer”) shall be deemed to have been
accepted by any participant (the “Grantee”) who accepts an
Offer in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
and the option to which the Offer relates shall be deemed to
have been granted and to have taken effect when the duplicate
of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the Offer duly
signed by the Grantee together with a remittance in favour
of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the
granting thereof is received by the Company within such period
as the Board may determine and specify in the Offer.

The exercise price of options under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme is at least the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the Company'’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date on
which an offer of an option is made by the Company to
the grantee (which date must be a business day);

(i) a price being the average of the closing prices of the
Company'’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and

(i) the nominal value of the Company's shares.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of 2014 Share Option
Scheme, the maximum number of ordinary shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of ordinary
shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

As at the date of issue of this annual report, the number of
Shares in respect of which options had been granted and
remained outstanding under 2014 Share Option Scheme was
899,269,378, representing approximately 5.39% of the existing
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report.
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Details of the share options granted and remained outstanding
as at 31 December 2017 under the 2004 Share Option Scheme
are as follows:

EEERE

WTNER - Z—+F+_A=+—H%k
—EENFERESEETERE RS
RITENOBIREZ 15

Number of option shares
BRESRROHE
Outstanding Outstanding
at 1 January at 31 December
2017 Lapsed Exercised 2017
Exerdse  —E—t% during during (note 1)
Date of grant Price —-RA-H the year theyear  —B-tf
bk T8 e KT LIPS EnfTE t=A=1-8
HKS WA TE
B (rsE1)
Mr. Zhang Shuguang 28 October 2011 1.51 20,000,000 20,000,000 - -
REXTE —E——4%tAZT/\H
Professor Xiao Rong Ge 28 October 2011 1.51 3,000,000 3,000,000 — -
HREAR “T——%+A-tNR
Other senior management 1.51 86,100,000 86,100,000 - -
staff and employees 28 October 2011
EttRREBAERER —Z——5+A-tNR
Total &3 109,100,000 109,100,000 - -

Note 1:

The above share options are of an exercise price HK$1.51 per share
with the exercisable period from 28 October 2013 to 27 October 2017.
Since the exercise period of the outstanding share options granted
under 2004 share option scheme had expired on 28 October 2017, the
relevant share options therefore lapsed automatically on the same date.
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Details of the share options granted and remained outstanding BE_Z-—NEFERESTE R2F

as at 31 December 2017 under the 2014 Share Option Scheme —tF+-_A=+—HEREmMHEEKT
are as follows: 2 EBREZFERT
Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Exercise asat
asat during  Lapsed during during 31 December
Date of Grant Exercise Price 1 January 2017 the year the year the year 2017
RiAH ke  -B-t% EREH EREX ERffE ZF-tE
HKS -A-H TZA=1-A
B HATE CESHT
Mr. Li Xianghong 12 October 2016 0.2486 138,000,000 - 138,000,000 - -
FRLE “ERETATCR
Mr. Liu Liyang 12 October 2016 0.2486 138,000,000 - - - 138,000,000
Ly ZERETATCR
Mr. Wang Hao 12 October 2016 0.2486 138,000,000 - 138,000,000 - -
TRk “E-RETATCR
Mr. Zhang Lirui 12 October 2016 0.2486 138,000,000 - - - 138,000,000
RS EE “ERETATCR
Mr. Zhang Liwei 12 October 2016 0.2486 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 - -
Fhks ZE-RETATCR
Mr. Zhang Shuguang 12 October 2016 0.2486 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 - -
RERLE “E-RETATCR
Other senior management 12 October 2016 0.2486 730,544,378 - 107,275,000 - 623,269,378
staff and Employees

EpeRERARREE  —E-AFTATZEH

Total &3t 1,342,544,378 - 443275000 - 899,269,378

The above share options are of an exercise price of HK$0.2486 L ERREZTEEREAR0.248678
per share with the exercise period from 12 October 2016 to 11 L (TESHR_E—RNF+A+-BZE
Octoboer 2019. —E-NF+AT+—RH-

The share options granted are recognised in the financial REWERECRTBEHREER - 5@
statements. The information on measurement of the fair value AEEREATEZERSNIEHRE
of share options is set out in note 31 to the financial statements. BisE31 o
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements,
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the financial year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2017, as far as known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company) who had 5% or more interests or short position
in the shares or underlying shares in respect of equity derivatives
of the Company that would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Position in the shares of the Company

Nature of interest

Name of shareholders and capacity
RRER EEMERSH
1. Credit Suisse Group AG Corporate (Note (b))
=B (K1EE (b))
2. Citic Guoan Group Limited Corporate (Note (c))
PERZEEER AT =B (B EE ()
3. Tai Ning Investment Corporate (Note (d))
Holdings Limited EE (MiEEd)

REREZEBRER AR

4. BFAM Partners (Cayman) Limited Corporate (Note (e))
EE (FEEe)
5.  The Bank of New York Mellon Corporate (Note (f))
Corporation JEE (BTEE (D)
Notes:

(a

(b)

The letter “L" denotes a long position whilst the letter “S”
denotes a short position.

Credit Suisse Group AG via its indirectly controlled subsidiaries
beneficially owned 1,669,782,156 shares, of which 48, 120, 156
being physical shares held in the Company and 1,621,662,000
being the underlying shares (including 1,600,000,000 underlying
shares under convertible bonds held and 21,662,000 shares
via the other derivatives interest). Credit Suisse Group AG via
its indirectly controlled subsidiaries also has a short position in
1,647,862,156 shares of the Company.

Road Shine Developments Limited is wholly-owned by Guoan
(HK) Holdings Limited which is wholly-owned by Citic Guoan
Group. Road Shine Developments Limited is directly holding
1,304,347,826 Shares and Citic Guoan Group is deemed to hold
1,304,347,826 Shares through its controlled interests in Road
Shine Developments Limited.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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ZN/NSIE Vi)
Number of
ordinary shares Total

of the Company Percentage
AAREBEREE HEDL
(Note (a))
(FtzE (a))

1,669,782,156  12.02%(L)
1,647,862,156  11.86%(S)

1,304,347,826 9.38%
978,182,869 7.04%
975,380,904 7.02%
716,000,364 5.15%

it

(a)

(b)

[LIRFRFE - MISIRFAKR -

Credit Suisse Group AG 3@iBH R
IR IE AR EwE 1,669,782,156
B B 15+ H #48,120,156 B & A 7]
B EBE AR 1 12 1,621,662,000 % A 4
Bl (BREFETRRES T 24K
A &]1,600,000,000 0% 48 B8 A% 15 &
21,662,000 H fth £7 4 # % ) ° Credit
Suisse Group AG JNiliEE EEEFIH
TARIREHA1,647,862,156 kR
&t o

Road Shine Developments Limited
HEZEBEE)ERERQAAZE
BmE mMEZEFEBEIERBER
AEBEFPEEXEEL2EHRE -
Road Shine Developments Limited
HIE B 1,304,347,826 B B 15 -
H {5 Bl % 5% & 3% 1B H M Road Shine
Developments Limited 42 #1258 &
#£461,304,347,826 IR R ©
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Tai Ning Investment Holdings Limited (“Tai Ning”) is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Liu Liyang, an Executive Director of the
Company.

BFAM Asian Opportunities Master Fund, L.P. has 975,380,904
underlying shares under convertible bonds held in the Company.
Since BFAM Asian Opportunities Master Fund, L.P. is indirectly
and beneficially owned by BFAM Partners (Cayman) Limited,
BFAM Partners (Cayman) Limited is also deemed to be Interested
in underlying shares held by BFAM Asian Opportunities Master
Fund, L.P pursuant to the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap-
571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO").

The Bank of New York Mellon has long positions in 716,000,364
Shares and 716,000,364 Shares in lending pool. Since The Bank
of New York Mellon is wholly owned by The Bank of New York
Mellon Corporation, The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation
is also taken to be interested in the shares held by The Bank of
New York Mellon pursuant to the SFO.

EEERE

REREERERAG(REDHAR
REMTEFE N B EELERER
WE -

BFAM Asian Opportunities Master
Fund " LP.RBEABRBRESF T2 AR
71975,380,904 % 48 B8 AX 15 - M B
BFAM Asian Opportunities Master
Fund - L.P. 4 BFAM Partners (Cayman)
Limitedf@ E R BEm AR - WIEEZE
HFREBEGINEBEODESTIE)
([F#FxREERG]) - BFAM Partners
(Cayman)Limited 75 # R & 7 BFAM
Asian Opportunities Master Fund -
L.P. A HEBER D P A R -

The Bank of New York Mellon
# H716,000,3640 % 7 F B &
716,000,364 % 7] # {8 H & 5 o £
A The Bank of New York Mellon
B The Bank of New York Mellon
Corporation2 & # B * HIREFFH
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Saved as disclosed above in this section, as at 31 December
2017, the Company has not been notified of any other persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
who had any interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors of any
noncompliance with the Model Code during the financial year
ended 31 December 2017, and they have all confirmed their full
compliance with the required standard as set out in the Model
Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 30
to 43 for details.

COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

None of the Directors and their respective associates had any
interest in a business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was continued.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable
to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

—  the largest supplier 24%

—  five largest suppliers totally 51%

Sales
- the largest customer 22%
- five largest customers totally 85%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers
or customers noted above. During the year and up to the date
of this report, the Group maintained good relationship with its
major customers and suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year.

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 34 to
the financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the Group's events after the reporting period are set
out in note 37 to the financial statements.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017
have been audited by Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited (“Ascenda
Cachet”), who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
A resolution for the re-appointment of Ascenda Cachet as
auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Liu Liyang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

-

Ascenda CACFEU

R |Z|3F|

To the members of Munsun Capital Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Munsun Capital Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 80 to 244, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

The assessment of the carrying value of mining rights

As disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements
for further information.

Key Audit Matter

The carrying amount of the Group’s mining rights was
HK$6,129 million as at 31 December 2017.

The mining rights and procedures over management’s annual
impairment test, with reference to valuation of the mining rights
prepared by independent valuers, were significant and the
assessment process is complex, requires significant judgment
and imposes significant estimation uncertainties.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our approach focused on the following procedures:

e assessing the appropriateness of key assumptions (e.g.
price assumptions, production, ores reserves and costing
figures, etc.) as compared with third party/independent
sources or other evidence;

e agreeing key inputs to approved mine plans as
appropriate, and comparing these with historical actual
figures, considering the accuracy of previous internal
forecasts; and

e comparing the calculated recoverable values to the
associated carrying values, assessing whether any
impairment charges were necessary.
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Accounting for business combinations and goodwill

As disclosed in note 32 and note 12 of the consolidated
financial statements for further information.

Key Audit Matter

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
acquired the entire equity interests in Shenzhen Munsun
Asset Management Company Limited for a consideration of
HK$27.8 million. The purchase price allocation resulted in
goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit of the financial
services operation of the Group (the “FS CGU") of HK$7.2
million. Together with the balance brought forward from the
previous year, goodwill allocated to the FS CGU amounted to
approximately HK$281 million as at 31 December 2017.

Accounting for business combinations is complex (including the
assessment of whether the acquisition qualifies as an asset deal
or as a business combination) and requires determination of the
fair value of all assets acquired and liabilities assumed as part of
a purchase price allocation exercise in accordance with HKFRS 3
Business Combinations.

Impairment of goodwill has to be assessed annually. The
assessment process is complex, requires significant judgment
and imposes significant estimation uncertainties.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our approach focused on the following procedures:

e obtaining the purchase price allocation of the
acquisition and testing the identification and value of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by tracing to
supporting evidence including the sale and purchase
agreements, and the results of our audit work over the
acquired company;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

e reviewing management’'s impairment model for
assessing the carrying value of goodwill and
challenging management on the identification of the
FS CGU, cash flow forecasting, discount rates and
growth rates;

® assessing that the cash flow forecasts used in the
valuation are consistent with information approved by
the board of directors and have reviewed the historical
accuracy of management'’s forecasts;

e evaluating the implied growth rates beyond 2017
by considering evidence available to support these
assumptions and their consistency with findings from
other areas of our audit and by performing sensitivity
analyses; and

e assessing the discount rates and long term growth
rates applied within the model by compared
against historical trends to assess the reliability of
management’s forecast.

Going concern

As disclosed in note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements
for further information.

Key Audit Matter

This area is considered an area of risk for year ended 31
December 2017 given the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$2,985 million and the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$390 million. The Group is required to make regular debt
repayments, mainly for the bank and other borrowings.

The directors prepared a cash flow forecast and sensitivity
analysis of the key assumptions to ensure that the Group can
operate as a going concern for at least twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our approach focused on the following procedures:

e  obtaining the Group’s going concern forecasts covering
at least the twelve month from the end of the reporting
period and challenging the key assumptions and
judgements made by the directors therein;

e updating our understanding of the contractual terms of
the Group's financing arrangements; and

e reading the lending agreements to substantiate our
knowledge of the borrowing covenants to which the
Group is subject and recalculating its forecast compliance
with the same over the going concern assessment period.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
OUR AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Yuk Tong.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 March 2018

Chan Yuk Tong
Practising Certificate Number P03723
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

=] = 32
melEEK

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BHEZT F+-ZA= BIEFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars A& 517K )

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other revenue

Other net (loss)/gain

Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses

Profit/(loss) from operations
Finance costs
Share of profit of associate

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Loss per share
Basic

Diluted

The notes on pages 89 to 244 form part of these financial

statements.
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8
HE AR

E7

H WA

HAh (B518) e F 5
HE Moy AR
1TTERE A

SRR (5 R)
BT EA
SEBE A AEF

BRELATE R
PSR X

RRBERA
BEFERBE

BRER
N

BE

2017 2016

—E—+tfF —E—RF

Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHET
4(a) 838,305 766,654
(520,507) (468,540)

317,798 298,114

19,665 31,209

(86,922) 11,637
(15,579) (11,203)
(181,831) (338,660)
53,131 (8,903)
6(a) (426,782) (398,236)
1,973 —
6 (371,678) (407,139)
7 (18,512) (12,012)
(390,190) (419,151)

HK cents HK cents

JEM JEN

11

(2.81) (3.81)
(2.81) (3.81)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive
income/(loss) for the year
(net of tax)

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences

on translation of financial
statements of

— subsidiaries

— associate

Release of exchange reserve
relating to disposal
of subsidiaries

Total comprehensive loss
for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

The notes on pages 89 to 244 form part of these financial

statements.

FEBR

FEHMEE
Wi (E8)
(MERBiE)
HEmJpEEF IR
Bm A -
BRETIRQAE
MISHRRELEY
B A
—EBAR]

4 J =
—EiE A A]

HEME A A
BRARREER
bE S R

RAAEEABEFE
PHEBRAHE

mREZEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-T—+tF+A=+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars A& TT3I7R)

2017 2016

—E—+tfF —E—RF

Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
(390,190) (419,151)

358,409 (331,897)

572 —

358,981 (331,897)

= 7,995
358,981 (323,902)
(31,209) (743,053)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B BARR &R
As at 31 December 2017
\=F—tF+=A=t-A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars A& 517K )

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Fixed assets

Deposits paid for gold mining and

exploration rights

Available-for-sale investments

Investment in associate
Trade, loans and other
receivables, deposits
and prepayments
Pledged deposits
Deposits paid for fixed assets
Other deposits

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade, loans and other
receivables, deposits
and prepayments

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Pledged deposits

Client trust bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Bank and other borrowings

Financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss
Convertible bonds
Tax payable

Total current liabilities

FRBEE
BEE
EE&EE
P TEERAE 2

R ize
A HERE
REFERRIZRE
FEWARSK - B

H b YR

me MIANKIA
[RE-R R EDN
HEEEEMNIRE
Hipir s

FRBEERRE

RBEE
A
FEWARSR - B
H h FEUCROR -
®’e MIBFFOA
FRBHERATAETIK
LERMEE
[RE-RHEEDN
BPERITER
RBekReEHED

REBEEAE

RBAE
FEAS BRR M
H & 5R
RITREAMER
FRERRATE
SR ERMBE
AR BE 55
FEfI IR

RBAEEAE

The notes on pages 89 to 244 form part of these financial

statements.
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2017 2016

—E—tF —E-RF

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B & FET FET
12 6,455,816 6,339,926
13 5,298,507 4,751,182
14 152,375 156,942
15 264,120 234,255
16 8,969 —
18 49,379 90,111
20 47,992 211,945
93,379 91,420

13,464 36,739

12,384,001 11,912,520

17 181,389 109,995
18 316,183 250,463
19(a) - 304,865
20 564,163 806,527
21 4,032 3,230
21 142,039 105,595
1,207,806 1,580,675

22 739,115 531,576
23 2,071,096 2,288,609
19(b) 988,444 561,652
24 385,460 —
9,176 7,322

4,193,291 3,389,159

F8IEFE 244 B 2B AV B REKZ
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Net current liabilities RBEEREE

Total assets less current liabilities Z2EERBREEE

Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREAME K
Financial liabilities at fair value FiBE IR A E R
through profit or loss ZEBEE
Convertible bonds AR ES
Derivative financial instruments PTESMIA
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEEE
Total non-current liabilities ERBABEETE
NET ASSETS EEFE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRAR f#E
Share capital A& A
Reserves s

TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE RATHEE AEMN
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY  #E25#4 %8

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
29 March 2018.

Mr. Liu Liyang
ghErRE
Chairman
FiE
The notes on pages 89 to 244 form part of these financial
statements.

mE M BAR R &
As at 31 December 2017

Z—tF+-A=1+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SA7&7T517R)

2017 2016

—ZE—+tF ZTE—RF

Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B aE FET FAET

(2,985,485) (1,808,484)

9,398,516 10,104,036

23 1,573,945 1,720,593
19(b) — 166,096
24 — 368,308
24 — 30,830
25(a) 614,691 577,120
2,188,636 2,862,947
7,209,880 7,241,089

26
1,737,240 1,737,240
5,472,640 5,503,849
7,209,880 7,241,089

REFGN_ZT—/\F=ZA-tILB&
EILFFRIEE L o

Mr. Chen Sheng
BRES B4
Chief Executive Officer
TTIEAB#
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2017
s — L ‘ =] T

HEZZ
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars JA7%

Convertible

bonds

equity

reserve Accumu-
Share Share Contributed  Statutory AR Capital ~ Exchange [ated Total
capital ~ premium  surplus  reserves &% reserve reserve losses equity

ke RGEE BAR®  iERE  EEBRE  EREE  ENRR gitBE  EREE
HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSU00  HKSOOD HKS 000 HKSO00  HKS D00 HKS 000 HKS 000
& Fér Fén AT & Fér F&n & Fér
(note26  (notes26  (notes26  (note26 (notes24&  (note26  (note26
(b) (a)& ()& () 26()(v) (c) i) (c) i)
(Wite() 260  26006)  (WE26 (KR (W26 (K26
(Wi2s  (Kskoe (i) 26() (c)i) (<))
(@) (@R
(0 () 26(0 (1)

At 1 January 2017 RZE-tE-f-H 1,737,240 5,611,589 - 139,147 - 210429 (351853)  (105463) 7,241,089
Changes in equity for 2016: CE-LEZRERY:
Loss for the year FEEEE - - - - - - = (39019)  (39,190)
Other comprehensive income FEEER2EYA
for the year - - - - - - 358,981 - 358,981
Total comprehensive FERREERER
loss for the year = = = = = = 358,981 (390,190) (31,209)
Lapse of share options BREXH = = = = - (114919) — 114918 -
Transfer of share premium account - R EEREZEAES
to contributed surplus —  (5611,589) 5,611,589 = = = = = =
Appropriation of safety ENRetERS
production fund = = = 5313 = = = (5313) =
Utlisation of safety YRR EERE
production fund = = = (4.242) = = = 428 =
Appropriation of BT EnGE
statutory surplus reserve = = = 6,839 = = = (6,839) =
At31 December 2017 Ho8-tF
tZB=t-A 1,737,240 — 5,611,589 147,057 - 95,511 1128 (388,645) 7,209,880

The notes on pages 89 to 244 form part of these financial FROFEF24B 2B AR BRI 2
statements. — =y o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

At 1 January 2016

Changes in equity for 2016:
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss

for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Issue of new shares upon the
2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure
Extinguishment upon the
2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure
Issue of new shares upon loan
capitalisations
Issue of new shares by share
subscriptions and placements
Issue of new shares upon acquisitions
of subsidiaries
Issue of new shares upon
conversion of convertible bonds
Issue of new shares upon
exercise of share options
Transaction costs attributable to
issue of new shares by share
subscriptions and placements
Equity-settled share-based payments
(note 31)
Lapse of share options
Appropriation of safety production fund
Utilisation of safety production fund
Release of reserve upon disposal
of subsidiaries

At 31 December 2016

R=B-~5-A-R

E-AFZRERD:
KEEER
TEEEMRARR

rEERERREE

I ETARESEEG
BHkD
B NETARES
kiR
SHEMLERT
#ikh
EERGTEREE
BHkD
WERBAA
BHkD
BETARERE
BHkD
T BREE
BHkD
EERGAER
REHRN
BERSHRA
WREEE  RIDERT
(RzE31)
RS
BfixetEES
HERLEEES
HERBAAEG
ElEE

RZZ-AEtZA=1-A

M A HE 34 4
mEREREER
For the year ended 31 December 2017
HE-FFt-A=+-ALFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SA& TSR )
Convertible (Accumu-
bonds [ated
equity losses)/
reserve Retained
Share Share  Statutory Wik Capital ~ Exchange profits Total
aptal  premum  reserves BF  reeve  resene  (ZHER) equity
BE RORE  iTEE  ERBE O AfEE  EXRG  /RYER BReE
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
T Thn Thn TiEn T Thn TiEn i
(note26  (notes26(a)  (note26  (notes24&  (note26  (note 26
(b)) &26(c) (i) () 26(0) ) (c) i) (c) i)
(M2e) (Msrae(a) (W26 (WEuk (e (26
126 (c)vi) (i) 26000 (el (cli)
689,879 4,578,060 138,408 2,203 126,715 (27,951) 258,468 5,765,782
- - - - - - (419151)  (419,151)
- - - - - (3390 - (33900
- - - - - (3390 (419,151)  (743,053)
147,033 202,906 - - — - - 349,939
- - - (2,203) — - 687 (1,516)
74,640 62,697 - - — - - 137,337
614,736 516,379 - - — - — 1131115
204,343 245,218 - - — - - 449 566
1,576 1833 - - — - - 3,409
5,028 8,675 - - (3,703) - - 10,000
— (4179) - - — - - (4179
> i - = 144,833 T - 144,833
= = = L) - 546 —
= = 6,223 — — — (6,223) =
i T (3,340) - = . 3340 =
1 5 (2,144) = - 3 = (2,144)
1,737,240 5,611,589 139,147 e 20429  (351893) (105,463) 7,241,089

F8IEFE 244 A 7B AR IEHE 2

gD e

The notes on pages 89 to 244 form part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017

BE-T-tF-A=t-ALEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars A& 517K )

Operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of
intangible assets
Depreciation and amortisation
of fixed assets
Finance costs
Equity-settled share-based
payments
Interest income
Dividend income from financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Gain on disposal
of fixed assets
Gain on disposal
of subsidiaries
Share of profit of associate
Changes in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Decrease in trade, loans
and other receivables, deposits
and prepayments

(Increase)/decrease in client trust
bank balances

Increase/(decrease) in trade and
other payables

Cash generated from operations

Tax paid
— PRC income tax paid

Net cash generated from
operating activities

KT
BRI ES 18
R

B EESH

BEEENER
B 5
BUR BN
AR HEREE
Pt £/l 57 i
M BUA
BAFER AR
ZEREE
Z B BUA
BAHE AR
ZERMEEZ
N EEE
HEBRTEEE
ZWas
HEMBARZ
Yoz
DAEHEE N B A
LEESHE
FE M), md
FEWARSR - B
Hh FEUCROR -
wre LIENFIA
VZ8es
BEFEFRITHER
(1), m
JEAS Bk S E A AT
g, Ol d)

REFPELEZRE

B HIR
—ENFEMREHR

REFHELECHEFR

The notes on pages 89 to 244 form part of these financial

statements.
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2017 2016

—E—tF TE—REF

Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
(371,678) (407,139)

6(c), 12 96,341 94,602
6(c), 13 97,364 108,495
6(a) 426,782 398,236
31 — 144,833
5 (14,741) (21,593)
5 (537) (4,280)

5 85,196 9,209
5 (153) (344)
5 — (21,764)
(1,973) —

(71,394) 19,921

3,136 87,370

(802) 249
178,433 (149,763)

425,974 258,032
(23,437) (12,725)

402,537 245,307

F8IFEFE 244 B 2 HEBAMBREKZ
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

4= AN L= =

wh = Iﬁlﬁlﬁi‘%‘%
For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE_Z—+5+A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars SA7&TT517R)

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
B aE FET FET
Investing activities REEH

Payment for purchase BEERTEENNK

of fixed assets 13 (277,831) (377,424)
Proceeds from disposal 65 B E & B PTS 5K I8

of fixed assets 830 962
Payment for purchase BABRTLEENK

of intangible assets 12 — (4,287)
Decrease in deposits BB RERE LR

paid for gold mining and FT TR & 0

exploration rights — 45,764
Payment for available-for-sale MAMHHERE 2R

investments — (234,255)
Decrease/(increase) in other HEMIEnsiramd

non-current deposits ($80) 26,052 (2,807)
Decrease in deposits REFTEEXN2ES

paid for fixed assets B 4,950 31,107
Payment for purchase of financial BERATERA

assets at fair value through BacemEE

profit or loss AT — (68,295)
Proceeds from disposal of financial ~ H&ZAFEFF ABEE

assets at fair value through ZemMEEMBIA

profit or loss 221,085 140,234
Dividend received from financial A FET A

assets at fair value through Banze@EE

profit or loss Z BB 537 4,280
Interest received B HFIE 5,797 21,593
Net cash considerations paid for W BES BT /&8 1~ R Pt

acquisitions of subsidiaries BHeREFR 32 (26,264) (35,724)
Net cash consideration received HEMHBARME

from disposal of subsidiary RENBFHE 29(b) — 6,705

Net cash used in RETEHFAZRESER

investing activities (44,844) (472,147)

The notes on pages 89 to 244 form part of these financial EQOFFE UL B B A ERE Y
statements. — =[5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
HEZZE F+ZA= HIEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars A& 517K )

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B aE FET FET
Financing activities AEEE 38
Proceeds from bank RITREAME R
and other borrowings Fr{Ss38 1,167,506 752,728
Repayment of bank ERRITREMER
and other borrowings (1,789,544) (879,755)
Proceeds from financial liabilities at & AF{ExH ABZ
fair value through profit or loss Z e BB EMmSHIE 780,450 562,038
Repayment of financial liabilities at ~ EEIZAF(EFF A&
fair value through profit or loss Zemas (574,919) (463,425)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged BRI FETR LD
deposits (3m) 466,202 (110,196)
Finance costs paid B B R AR (395,070) (347,905)
Payment for the 2016 Convertible Bt =ZT —/NF Al %
Bonds Restructure BEHER IR 24 — (372,385)
Proceeds from new shares issued FERRNORBER
by share subscriptions Al &S 1T AD 2
and placements P8 s8 — 1,131,115
Proceeds from issue new shares TR AR 21T
upon exercise of share options RAD 2 FriS3k1E — 10,000
Payment for transaction costs EBITIR G L
attributable to new share issued R HRAR R — (4,179)
Net cash (used in)/generated BMEEE (A EEz
from financing activities B& 3 (345,375) 278,036
Net increase in cash RERREEEY
and cash equivalents EhNEE 12,318 51,196
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—HZEER
at 1 January ReZEEY 105,595 88,148
Effect of foreign exchange EXEFHITE
rate changes 24,126 (33,749)
Cash and cash equivalents BT=A=1=H==a
at 31 December RERREEEY 21 142,039 105,595

The notes on pages 89 to 244 form part of these financial FEQOFEF2AAB VW B A B RE
statements. — 345 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Munsun Capital Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued
in Bermuda with limited liability. The domicile of the
Company changed from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda
by way of de-registration in the Cayman Islands and
continuation as an exempted company under the laws
of Bermuda with effect from 12 December 2017, details
are set out in note 26(a). The address of its registered
office and principal place of business are disclosed in the
corporate information section of the annual report. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are principally engaged in mining and processing of gold
ores and sale of gold products in The People’s Republic of
China (the “"PRC"), provision of financial services business
in Hong Kong and the PRC, including asset management,
securities brokerage, financing and advisory services,
during the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). A summary
of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

—BREH
EREAEEBERAR([ARRA])
HRERREHSEMKLIERE
RETFEZABRAR - FERBIEE
MSES 2t RRIEERELD
N—REHRRRANEAFERL
2 BALFHFEEHEEMNER
RE AT tF+-A+T=H
A - FIEHNHE26(a) - &
EliR kWS E S i
RERRAREH —HHRE - F
A RRE) SR E K E QR (SR A
SEDEZRHPEARKME ([
BDRESEMAR NMIEESE
miHE  ERABRTEESREHRS
RIRHEY  BREEETR &5
B4~ BUE RAARTS

FESTEE
(a) BREH

It 55 B 7 R R IR IR P A
RzBEM RS EN(E
B HmEE ) (RFARELR
HemEtesmag(sE
BEMAGRHZMA
(ERIEEN A up e =g
Ay (FEEFEIDIE
BERTER D ERERER
AREFRAMBR - fF
MBREINNTEFB(R A
P )FE622F ) 00 iE A K
BEK - W EWHRE R
NeaBEBMERIMARR
(B AT ) B LR A
(TEMARA D RERZ B E
BRE - AEBFRRA2EE
SETBERBMEERHIIN T -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting year
of the Group and the Company. Note 3 Provides
information on any significant changes in accounting
policies resulting from the initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting years
reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017 comprise the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis, except financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss, available-for-sale
investments and derivative financial instruments
that are carried at fair value. Items included in the
financial statements of each entity in the Group
are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The functional currency
of the Company and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong
is Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") and that of its
subsidiaries in Mainland China is Renminbi (“RMB").
For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has adopted Hong
Kong dollars as its presentation currency.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

2.

FESHBE®)

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBEE)

(continued)

b) BRBEFERESE

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements (continued)

In preparing the financial statements, the Company’s
directors have considered the future liquidity of
the Group. The Group incurred a loss for the
year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$390,190,000 for the year ended 31 December
2017, and, as at that date, the Group had net
current liabilities of HK$2,985,485,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast a doubt on the Group'’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Nevertheless,
the directors are of the opinion that the Group will
be able to finance its future working capital and
financial requirements given that:

(i)  The Group’s current liabilities include the fair
value of convertible bonds of approximately
HK$385 million in relation to the outstanding
principal amounts of the convertible bonds of
approximately HK$376 million at 31 December
2017. Pursuant to the 2018 Convertible Bonds
Restructure (as defined in note 24(c)) completed
on 2 February 2018, the Company’s total
outstanding principal amounts of the convertible
bonds at 31 December 2017 reduced to
approximately HK$312 million and will be
repayable on 4 August 2019. Details are set out
in note 24(c).

(i) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Company has issued and allotted 2,779
million new ordinary shares of the Company
with net proceeds of approximately HK$155
million after deducting issuing expenses. Details
are set out in note 37(a).

(&)
REHVBEBRER AR
AEEEDEREAEBZK

KnEh&Ee- HEZT
—+FE+-_/F=+—HI
FE - AEEEEXEAXARQF
BMBEANELZAFEEEBE
390,190,000 7T ° M M #%
B A&EEZzRBEEFE
7452,985,485,00078 JC ° %
EBERBERERATEEEZ
FE #tmAgge<siEl
CIEHBRERENBEXERR -
A ZERTMEIRE &
ERBAEE KA EMNER
REBEES RMEHRK

() AEBZRBHEEBRRE
AMEESZAFE
#385\FEBIL N
T—+F+-_A=+—
B @R ESZ
REEBLRLBEH A6
BEAL - BEER=
E—-NEFE_AZH%=
RE - — \Fr#
KEHEH(GEE RW
FE24(c)  ARBRIRZ
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

(iii)  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Group has been granted new bank and
other borrowings of approximately HK$130

million which include loans repayable within
and beyond the next twelve months after the
end of the reporting period of HK$50 million

and HK$80 million respectively. Details are set
out in note 37(b). Save as disclosed above, the
Company’s directors are of the opinion that
the Group will be able to obtain the renewal
of bank and other borrowings due in the
foreseeable future.

(iv) A shareholder, the chairman and executive
director of the Company, Mr. Liu Liyang
(“Mr. Liu"), has agreed to provide continuing
financial support as necessary to enable the
Group to meet its liabilities as and when they
fall due in the foreseeable future.

(v) Based on a cash flow forecast prepared by the
Group’s management for the twelve months
after the end of the reporting period, the
Group will be able to generate adequate cash
flows from its continuing operations and to
obtain sufficient fundings to meet the debts
of the Group as and when they fall due in the
foreseeable future.

Accordingly, the Company’s directors are of
the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare of
the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017 on a going concern basis. The
financial statements have not reflected any effects of
adjustments if the Group was unable to continue to
operate as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A7

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2017. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(c) Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements
of control described in the accounting policy for
subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBEE)

(continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill (d) TEESHLEEHE

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAZSTLAIR + R BB FTHESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill

(continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired,
the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBEE)

(continued)

(d) Business combinations and goodwill (d) tEEHEEE®E)

(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets
are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

(1) Mining rights

Mining rights with finite useful lives are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment loss (see
note 2(h)(ii)). The mining rights are amortised
over the estimated useful lives of the mines,
in accordance with the production plans
of the mines concerned, by using the unit
of production method based on the actual
production volume over the estimated total
proven and probable reserves of the gold
mines.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

(i1)

Exploration rights and assets

Exploration rights and assets are stated at
cost less any impairment losses. Exploration
rights and assets include the cost of acquiring
exploration rights, topographical and geological
surveys, exploratory drilling, sampling
and trenching and activities in relation to
commercial and technical feasibility studies.

Exploration and evaluation costs include
expenditure incurred to secure further
mineralisation in existing ore bodies as well as
in new areas of interest. Expenditure incurred
prior to accruing legal rights to explore an area
is written off as incurred.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that an
exploration property is capable of commercial
production, exploration and evaluation costs
capitalised are transferred to either mining
structures or mining rights and depreciated/
amortised by the unit of production method
based on the proved and probable mineral
reserves. Costs incurred for exploration which
can be directly attributable to the development
of mining structures are transferred to mining
structures when the exploration reaches the
stage of commercial production. All other costs
will be transferred to mining rights. Exploration
rights and assets are written off to profit or loss
if the exploration property is abandoned.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 3R 2R B =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e) Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

(continued)

(i)~ Trading rights
The trading right at the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange Limited is recognised as intangible
assets in the consolidated balance sheet.
It has indefinite useful lives and are tested
annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

(f) Fixed assets

Fixed assets, other than construction in progress, are
stated in the statement of financial position at cost
less any accumulated amortisation and depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses (see note

2(h)(ii)).

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the income statement in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A7

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

()

Fixed assets (continued)

Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including
any lumpsum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as interests in leasehold land held for own use under
operating leases and included in fixed assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The cost of self-constructed items of fixed assets
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial
estimate, where relevant, of the cost of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site
on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowings
costs (see note 2(w)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of fixed assets are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f) Fixed assets (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of fixed assets, other than mining structures,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight line method over their estimated useful lives
as follows:

- Buildings situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired
term of lease and their estimated useful lives,
being no more than 50 years after the date of

completion.
- Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
- Motor vehicles 4 - 8 years
- Office equipment, fixtures 3 -5 years

and fittings

Depreciation of mining structures is provided to write
off the cost of the mining structures. The mining
structures are depreciated over the estimated useful
lives of the mines, in accordance with the production
plans of the mines concerned, by using the unit of
production method based on the actual production
volume over the estimated total proven and probable
reserves of the gold mines.

Where parts of an item of fixed assets have different
useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of
an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.
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2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

()

(9)

Fixed assets (continued)

Construction in progress represents buildings, mining
structures and plant and equipment in the course
of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is stated at cost
less any identified impairment loss (see note 2(h)
(ii)). Cost comprises construction expenditure and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
fund during the period of construction and other
direct costs attributable to such projects, if the
amount of capital expenditures and the time
involved to complete the construction are significant.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of fixed assets when completed
and ready for its intended use.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction
in progress until it is substantially complete and ready
for its intended use.

Leases

(@) The Group as leasee

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or
a series of transactions, is or contains a lease
if the Group determines that the arrangement
conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets
for an agreed period of time in return for
a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes
the legal form of a lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESTBE®@E)
(continued)
(9) Leases (continued) (g) HE &)
(@ The Group as leasee (continued) (@) K £EH(FAE&HA
(4&)
(i)  Classification of assets leased to the (i) MELAEFHZE
Group ESHE
Assets held by the Group under leases REBEREHER

which transfer to the Group substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as being held under finance
leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified
as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

- land held for own use under an
operating lease, the fair value
of which cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of
a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted
for as being held under a finance
lease, unless the building is also
clearly held under an operating
lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time
that the lease was first entered into
by the Group, or taken over from
the previous lessee.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(continued)

(g) Leases (continued)

(@  The Group as leasee (continued) (a) K £ E (F 5 & H A
(%)
(i) Assets acquired under finance leases (i) RIEFBEHEERS
ZEBE

Where the Group acquires the use of WMAEERERE
assets under finance leases, the amounts HEEBFEEZR®
representing the fair value of the leased FA# - Al#EEER
asset or, if lower, the present value of HEZEEANFESK

the minimum lease payments of such ZEEENXIEME
assets are included in fixed assets and the EREZHEMN
corresponding liabilities, net of finance REK ) EEE) 5
charges, are recorded as obligations REEEE - M
under finance leases. Depreciation is ez 8B HR

provided at rates which write off the cost
of the assets over the term of the relevant
lease or, where it is likely the Group
will obtain ownership of the asset, the
life of the asset, as set out in note 2(f).
Impairment losses are accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy as
set out in note 2(h) (ii). Finance charges
implicit in the lease payments are charged
to profit or loss over the period of the
leases so as to produce an approximately
constant periodic rate of charge on the
remaining balance of the obligations for
each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Leases (continued)

(@) The Group as leasee (continued)

(i)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets
held under operating leases, payments
made under the leases are charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over
the accounting periods covered by the
lease term. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged as
expenses in the reporting period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S T3

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Leases (continued)

b)

The Group as lessor

A sale and leaseback transaction involves the
sale of an asset and the leasing back of the
same asset. The lease payment and the sale
price are usually interdependent because they
are negotiated as a package. The accounting
treatment of a sale and leaseback transaction
depends upon the type of lease involved. If the
leaseback is a finance lease, the transaction is a
means whereby the lessor provides finance to
the lessee, with the asset as security.

When the Group is a lessor under finance
leases, an amount representing the minimum
lease payment receivables and initial direct
costs is included in the consolidated statement
of financial position as trade and loans
receivables. Any unguaranteed residual
value is also recognised at the inception of
the lease. The difference between the sum
of the minimum lease payment receivables,
initial direct costs, the unguaranteed residual
value and their present value is recognised as
unearned finance income. Unearned finance
income is recognised over the period of the
lease using the effective interest rate method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF R R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of other investments and trade,

loans and other receivables

Other investments and trade, loans and other

receivables that are stated at cost or amortised

cost are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is objective

evidence of impairment. Objective evidence
of impairment includes observable data that

comes to the attention of the Group about one

or more of the following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; and

significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor.

For unquoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset where the effect of
discounting is material. Impairment losses
for equity securities carried at cost are not
reversed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Impairment of assets (continued)

(1)

Impairment of other investments and trade,
loans and other receivables (continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss
is determined and recognised as follows:

- For unquoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset where the effect of
discounting is material. Impairment losses
for equity securities carried at cost are not
reversed.

- For trade and loans receivables and
other current receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition
of these assets), where the effect of
discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where these financial
assets carried at amortised cost share
similar risk characteristics, such as similar
past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future
cash flows for financial assets which
are assessed for impairment collectively
are based on historical loss experience
for assets with credit risk characteristics
similar to the collective group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of other investments and trade,
loans and other receivables (continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade debtors included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the
impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is
written off against trade debtors directly and
any amounts held in the allowance account
relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i1)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

- intangible assets;

- fixed assets and construction in progress;

— deposits paid for gold mining and
exploration rights and fixed assets;

- available-for-sale investments;
- investment in associate;

- other non-current deposits; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the
Company's statement of financial
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated:

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.,
a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss whenever the carrying amount of
an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying amount of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), or
value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated bABTTHIR + Br S B FTHESM)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim Financial
Reporting, in respect of the first six months of
the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year (see
notes 2(h) (i) and (ii)).

Investment in associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 3R 2R B =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/

BT - BREFEN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(i)

Investment in associate (continued)

The Group's investment in associate is stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group's share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of associate is
included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investment in the associate, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to
be accounted for under the equity method. In case,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate,
the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

()

(k)

Trade, loans and other receivables

Trade, loans and other receivables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts
(see note 2(h)(i)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF R R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAZSTLAIR + R BB FTHESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(k)

\)

Inventories (continued)
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any writedown of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the writedown
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
writedown of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

Other investments

The Group’s policies for investments in equity
securities other than investments in subsidiaries and
associate are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at
fair value, which is their transaction price unless it is
determined that the fair value at initial recognition
differs from the transaction price and that fair value
is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for
an identical asset or liability or based on a valuation
technique that uses only data from observable
markets. Cost includes attributable transaction costs,
except where indicated otherwise below. These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are
classified as current assets. Any attributable
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred. At the end of each reporting period the fair
value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
dividends or interest earned on these investments as
these are recognised in accordance with the policies
set out in notes 2(u) (i) and (iv).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Other investments (continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any
of the above categories are classified as available-for
sale securities. At the end of each reporting period
the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain
or loss being recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in
the fair value reserve. As an exception to this,
investments in equity securities that do not have
a quoted price in an active market for an identical
instrument and whose fair value cannot otherwise be
reliably measured are recognized in the statement of
financial position at cost less impairment losses (see
note 2(h)(i)). Dividend income from equity securities
is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the
policies set out in note 2(u)iii).

When the investments are derecognised or impaired
(see note 2(h)(i)), the cumulative gain or loss
recognized in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments
or they expire.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHBEE)

(continued)

(o) EBEmR N FEIEK

(o) Financial liabilities at fair value through

profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the
near term. This category includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are
not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by HKAS 39. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in the consolidated
income statement. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated income statement
does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities. Financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA TSR » Br BBEETIEIN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(p) Convertible bonds

(1)

Convertible bonds that contain an equity
component

Convertible bonds that can be converted
to equity share capital at the option of the
holder, where the number of shares that
would be issued on conversion and the value
of consideration that would be received at
that time do not vary, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments which contain
both a liability component and an equity
component.

At initial recognition, the liability component
of the convertible bonds is measured as
the present value of the future interest and
principal payments, discounted at the market
rate of interest applicable at the time of initial
recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds
over the amount initially recognised as the
liabilities component is recognised as the equity
component. Transaction costs that relate to the
issue of a convertible financial instrument are
allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently
carried at amortised cost. The interest expense
recognised in profit or loss on the liability
component is calculated using the effective
interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the convertible bond equity
reserve until either the convertible bond is
converted or redeemed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(p) Convertible bonds (continued)

(1)

(1)

Convertible bonds that contain an equity
component (continued)

If the bond is converted, the convertible bond
equity reserve, together with the carrying
amount of the liability component at the time
of conversion, is transferred to share capital
and share premium as consideration for the
share issued. If the bond is redeemed, the
capital reserve is released directly to retained
profits.

Other convertible bonds
Convertible bonds which do not contain an
equity component are accounted for as follows:

At initial recognition, the derivative component
of the convertible bonds is measured at fair
value and presented as part of derivative
financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds
over the amount initially recognised as the
derivative component is recognised as the
liability component. Transaction costs that
relate to the issue of the convertible bonds
are allocated to the liability and derivative
components in proportion to the allocation
of proceeds. The portion of the transaction
costs relating to the liability component is
recognised initially as part of the liability. The
portion relating to the derivative component is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAZSTLAIR + R BB FTHESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(p) Convertible bonds (continued)

(i1)

Other convertible bonds (continued)

The derivative component is subsequently
remeasured in accordance with note 2(q). The
liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised
in profit or loss on the liability component is
calculated using the effective interest method.

If the bond is converted, the carrying amounts
of the derivative and liability components are
transferred to share capital and share premium
as consideration for the shares issued. If the
bond is redeemed, any difference between the
amount paid and the carrying amounts of both
components is recognised in profit or loss.

(q) Derivative financial instruments

(r)

Derivative financial instruments are initially

recognised at fair value on the date of grant and

are subsequently remeasured at fair value at the

end of each reporting period. The gain or loss

on remeasurement to the fair value of derivative

financial instruments is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Employee benefits

(1)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave, contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.
Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts

are stated at their present values.
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2.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

() Employee benefits (continued)

(i1)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of
share options that is expected to vest is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to profit or loss for the year
of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset,
with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of share options that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions that relate
to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the capital
reserve until either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
() Employee benefits (continued)

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

(s) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in the profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused
tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary differences or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss
or credit can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future
or, in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and the following additional conditions are met:

(i) in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously; or

(i) in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities which, in
each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA 75!

7.

<

I S

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions

and contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e., the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the "holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the

terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee,
the fair value of the guarantee is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade
and other payables. The fair value of financial
guarantees issued at the time of issuance is
determined by reference to fees charged in an
arm’s length transaction for similar services,
when such information is obtainable, or is
otherwise estimated by reference to interest
rate differentials, by comparing the actual
rates charged by lenders when the guarantee
is made available with the estimated rates
that lenders would have charged, had the
guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made.
Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with
the Group's policies applicable to that category
of asset. Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition

of any deferred income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (continued)

(1)

(i1)

Financial guarantees issued (continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in
profit or loss over the term of the guarantee
as income from financial guarantees issued.
In addition, provisions are recognised in
accordance with note 2(t) (iii) if and when (i)
it becomes probable that the holder of the
guarantee will call upon the Group under
the guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that
claim on the Group is expected to exceed the
amount currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee, i.e., the
amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation.

Contingent liabilities assumed in business
combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination which are present obligations at
the date of acquisition are initially recognised
at fair value, provided the fair value can be
reliably measured. After their initial recognition
at fair value, such contingent liabilities are
recognised at the higher of the amount initially
recognised, less accumulated amortisation
where appropriate, and the amount that would
be determined in accordance with note 2(t)
(iii). Contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination that cannot be reliably fair valued
or were not present obligations at the date of
acquisition are disclosed in accordance with
note 2(t) (iii).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAZSTLAIR + R BB FTHESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (continued)

(i)

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
or the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the
time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(continued)

FESHBE®)

(t) B EEBER - BiEH
HAEB(E)

Al REARE B

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (continued)

(i) Other provisions and contingent liabilities (i)

(continued)

Provisions for the Group's obligations for
land rehabilitation are based on estimates
of required expenditure at the mines in
accordance with the PRC rules and regulations.
The Group estimates its liabilities for final

(%)
SR B AR 4R P BR A &
ERAEEHEILATR X
M MmERAENEE
L - ARERIE
RAGETTHBTIES

rehabilitation and mine closure based upon B R 2R IR & B 2 if &5 48
detailed calculations of the amount and timing FTEMETEKRBER K
of the future cash expenditure to perform BN ERENE

the required work. Spending estimates are
escalated for inflation, then discounted at
a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability such that the
amount of provision reflects the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(u) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can
be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit
or loss as follows:

(i) Sale of gold products
Revenue is recognised when the title to the
goods and the related risks and rewards of
ownership are passed to customers, the Group
will not execute the right of supervision and
control over the goods, either the proceeds
are received or entitlement to proceeds is
evidenced, and the cost of sale of goods can
be estimated reliably. Revenue excludes value
added tax and is after deduction of any trade
discounts and returns.

(i)  Revenue on financial services business from
management and performance fees, securities
brokerage and commission, financing and
advisory services rendered is recognised once
the duties under the service contracts are
performed and outcome of the transactions
can be foreseen with reasonable certainty.

(iiiy  Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment
is established.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 35 ¥R R MY ot

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

UIEH

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESHEE

(continued)

(U) LIQAEEH/L,\ (48

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

(lv)  Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

(v)  net fair value gains/losses on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, include realised

() FIBIARE AR E
HIES

() BATEHARRENHS
BEE2 AT RS

gains/losses which are recognised on the /Fﬂ&%%ﬁﬁﬁam
transaction dates when the relevant contract w6518 RS H
notes are exchanged; and unrealised fair value “Tﬁ‘ﬁf;ﬂ]%*ﬁf S

gains/ losses which are recognised in the period
in which they arise.

(v) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Nonmonetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that
are stated at fair value are translated using foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of operations outside Hong Kong are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the exchange reserve.

R RASBEAFEK
=/ EERELBE®E

27
2R o

(v) SNERE

FREAZINER SRR 5 A
ZIERME o LASNE BB AL
LEBEERBEIERSE
HRzZEXRBE - ELRE
FEHRARAER

VASINEE 32 B s PR AN 5T B 2 3F
EREERBERRSBE
RzEXRBE - LIMNERE
W ARFEINERZIFES
ﬁ?&ﬁ%%ﬁ%%%“¥
EEMERZEXRGRE

ERRIEBZRERRS
REREXRBEZERRE
RBTL e MM EKRIEAR A
BREMREACERBE
RETL - MELEZERZR
REMEEKEPHER I
R T E SRR Bl R
At e

Wt
B
s
13
A A
i)
- at

2 ol

7
5

133



134

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(v)

(w)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

On the disposal of an operation outside Hong Kong
(i.e., a disposal of the Group's entire interest in an
operation outside Hong Kong, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes an
operation outside Hong Kong, or a partial disposal of
an interest in an associate that includes an operation
outside Hong Kong of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Interest-bearing borrowings and
borrowing costs

(i) Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised
initially at fair value less attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings, together with any
interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/ TR -

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(w) Interest-bearing borrowings and
borrowing costs (continued)

(i1)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred,
except to the extent that they are capitalised
as being directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in
progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is
suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying
asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted
or complete.

(x) Related parties

(@

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF R R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAZSTLAIR + R BB FTHESN)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(x) Related parties (continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(x) Related parties (continued)
(b)  (continued)

(vij The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the

Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/

2.

BT - BREFEN)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(y)

(2)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Company’s directors, i.e., the
chief operating decision-maker, for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value
is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement
of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the current year, the Group has where applicable
applied the following new and revised HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA which are or have become effective:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealised losses
Amendments to HKFRS Disclosure of Interests in
12 included in Annual Other Entities: Clarification of
Improvements to HKFRS the Scope of HKFRS 12
2014-2016 cycle

Except for the Amendments to HKFRS 12, which are
not relevant to the preparation of the Group’s financial
statements, the nature and the impact of other
amendments are described below:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETAII7R »

3.

B BEPTIEIN)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes. Disclosure
of the changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities is disclosed in note 38 to the financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 clarify that an entity,
when assessing whether taxable profits will be
available against which it can utilise a deductible
temporary difference, needs to consider whether tax
law restricts the sources of taxable profits against
which it may make deductions on the reversal of
that deductible temporary difference. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance on how an entity
should determine future taxable profits and explain
the circumstances in which taxable profit may
include the recovery of some assets for more than
their carrying amount. The amendments have had no
impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group as the Group has no deductible temporary
differences or assets that are in the scope of the
amendments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WER D HER
(@) Revenue (a) Uz
Revenue represents sales value of gold products and WapiEeBARER(ER
other by-products to customers (net of value added M) TehEE2EMRH
tax, returns and discounts) under the Gold Mining BRI E m 2 HEBEORIEE
Operation (as defined below) and management Mo RE R R @RS
and performance fees, securities commission and ¥B(EROT) TZERR
brokerage fee and interest income under the *BER BHEEASK
Financial Services Operation (as defined below). The KEBRURFERA - F
revenue during the year is analysed as follows: Wi AT -
2017 2016
—E—tF —T-RF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FE&T
Revenue from SHAREK WS
Gold Mining Operation
Sale of HE
— Gold products —EHEEMm 654,195 689,110
— Other by-products — H b Bl ZE o 153,351 56,477
807,546 745,587
Revenue from Financial SR EK WS
Services Operation 30,759 21,067
838,305 766,654
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and
services and has two reportable operating segments
as follows:

(i) mining and processing of gold ores and sales of
gold products and other by-products (the “Gold
Mining Operation”); and

(i) provision of financial services including asset
management, securities brokerage, financing
and advisory services (the “Financial Services
Operation”).

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit or
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit or loss
before tax. The adjusted profit or loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group's profit or loss
before tax except that interest income and finance
costs are excluded from such measurement.

All assets are allocated to reporting operating
segments.

Segment liabilities exclude bank and other
borrowings, convertible bonds and their related
derivative financial instruments and other unallocated
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

More than 90% of the Group's revenue was derived
from activities in the PRC and its principal assets
were located in the PRC during the reporting period.
Accordingly, no analysis by geographical information
is provided.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 3R 2R B =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

4.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) Segment Information (continued)

The Group's operation by business segment is as

follows:

Segment revenue
Revenues from external

customers

Segment profit/(loss)

Reconciliation:
Interest income

Finance costs
Loss before tax

Other segment information
Capital expenditure
Depreciation and amortisation
Fair value loss on financial assets
at fair value through
profit or loss

Share of profit of associate

DEBA
REIEEPUIA

AEER,(BE)

FEAA -
FBHA
BIISARA

BRBLATE IR

Hitt o BEH
BEAZH

e R

BRTE ARG
ERMEBERATEBR

DIEBEE R AR

4. WEKDHER (@)
N\ RN s
(b) I]ﬁBEi*#(E)
REBREBHHE D E
JERUNS
2017 2016

—E-tF ZT—RF

Gold Financial Gold Financial

Mining Services Mining Services
Operation ~ Operation Total Operation Operation Total

B SRBR® SRR SRR
% £ st S % w@t
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET FET FET
807,546 30,759 838,305 745,587 21,067 766,654
117,323 (76,960) 40,363 (27,910 (2,586) (30,496)
14,741 21,593
(426,782) (398,236)
(371,678) (407,139)
277,769 62 277,831 376,737 687 377,424
192,546 1,159 193,705 202,628 469 203,097
— 85,196 85,196 — 9,209 9,209
— 1,973 1,973 — — —

EREXAEEEFER QA
—E -t FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) Segment Information (continued)

At 31 December 2017
R-B—tF+=A=+—-H

At 31 Decmber 2016
RZE-RE+ZA=+—H

Gold Financial Gold Financial
Mining Services Mining Services
Operation ~ Operation Total Operation Operation Total
B SRERY SRR CRARTS
X% £ gt % % w@t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Segment assets and
total assets PHBEERBEE 12,892,026 699,781 13,591,807 12,553,900 939,295 13,493,195
Segment liabilities AMEE 2,321,653 29,773 2,351,426 1,795,473 48293 1,843,766
Reconciliation: AEIE
Corporate and other RAIREA
unallocated liabilities KoEcafE 4,030,501 4,408,340
Total liabilities aEa 6,381,927 6,252,106

Revenues from customers, which are all in the Gold
Mining Operation, contributing 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group are as follows:

Customer A EFH
Customer B ®PZ
Customer C PR
Customer D ZPT
Customer E EPX

* The transactions with these respective customers did
not contribute 10% or more of total revenue of the
Group during the years ended 31 December 2017
and 2016.
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FU 2B (2ERESHE

FIERER) 2 e T -
2017 2016
—E—tF T AF
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FHET
183,670 47,996*
163,021 194,674
141,771 27,850*
122,926 128,050
101,156 239,935
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET (LOSS)/ 5. HtwAREAM(EE)

GAIN Wy 5 R
2017 2016
—E—+tF A
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other revenue H g A
Bank interest income SRITH EUA 14,741 21,593
Dividend income from financial assets FREEEATEYER
at fair value through profit or loss ZERMEEREBA 537 4,280
Sundry incomes FEIE W 4,387 5,336
19,665 31,209
Other net (loss)/gain Hit(&E) W FE
Exchange loss, net b B F R (1,879) (1,262)
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair ~ FiBIBIHIE AT ENEZ
value through profit or loss TREEZ AT EERE
(Note 19(a)) (MHEE 19(a)) (85,196) (9,209)
Gain on disposal of fixed assets & EEEERE 153 344
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR
(Note 29(b)) (FfFEE29(b)) — 21,764
(86,922) 11,637
ERERNEEERA A
—TE-tLtEER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 4 2% )

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA L3I 7R -

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(@) Finance costs: (a)
Interest on bank and
other borrowings
Interest on convertible
bonds (note 24)

Interest on financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss

Less: Interest capitalised into
construction in progress
(note 13(c))
Interest capitalised into
deposits paid for gold mining
and exploration rights

Total interest expenses

Fair value loss on financial liabilities
at fair value through profit
or loss (note 19(b))

Fair value gain on derivative
financial instruments (note 24)
Loss on the 2016 Convertible Bonds

Restructure (note 24)

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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B SAEMEIN)

6. BRBIAIEIE

15 :

MR

HRITR
HER T8

AR ES TR
(Ff5E24)

FRIBREATE
SIFE Y S8
]

B RERIRER
B2 T B
(MFEE 13(c))
RHE B ERE &
REEREFT
mENEXR
ZFE

MEFX B
ERBEEZAFE
PRz &Rt A&
NFEEE
(HFEE19(b))
PTESMIARNTE
Wz (FisE 24)
TE—NFAR
EAE4HEIE
(Mf5E24)

BRERIEBEENR(GEA) TF&
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
397,645 292,640
44,431 51,424
442,076 344,064
20,910 31,137
462,986 375,201
(6,762) (32,151)
— (2,536)
456,224 340,514
1,388 939
(30,830) (6,331)
— 63,114
426,782 398,236




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued) 6. BRBIATEE (50
Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BREATEBE R (G A) TH&
(continued) 18 (48)
2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) {EEKZA
remuneration) (BIEEEMS)
Salaries, wages and other benefits HE IER
H A2 A 83,745 84,034
Contributions to retirement RIREN FHEI K
benefit schemes 8,211 7,470
Equity-settled share-based AR E 2 IR 1n
payment expenses AERTHER — 90,887

91,956 182,391

o]
iR
s
13
A
Ji)|
i ot

ol

# &
5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 3R 2R B =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated S 7517~

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(continued)

(o)

Note:

U

Other items
Cost of inventories sold

under the Gold

Mining Operation (note (i))
Direct costs under

the Financial Services Operation

Total cost of sales
Amortisation of intangible
assets (note 12)
Auditor’s remuneration
— audit service
— non-audit service
Depreciation and amortisation
of fixed assets (note 13)
Operating lease charges in
respect of:
— land and buildings
— machinery and equipment

Cost of inventories sold under the Gold Mining Operation

(c)

CBREEEN)

6. BRTIAIEER(E)

BEpBEE NG, GEA)TII%

15 (8&)
2017 2016
—ZE—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
HihEH
ZBHE
FERA (M) 520,507 462,187
T RURFS E
ZEEERKAR — 6,353
HE K AN EBRE 520,507 468,540
mEEEH
(FzE12) 96,341 94,602
Gl
— Tt R 3,239 2,940
— TR 970 880
ElE & ETE RE#E
(FFzE13) 97,364 108,495
BEANT&EEZ
KETHEER
— T R EEY 22,829 10,900
— W38 MR 80 53
B5E -

includes HK$216,939,000 (2016: HK$223,988,000)
relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation
expenses and operating lease charges, which amounts
are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed

separately above for each of these types of expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A T3~ + Br A FTESN)

7. INCOME TAX 7. P
(@) Tax in the consolidated income statement represents: (a) HAEZERAMITZIEES:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Current tax NERFL IR
— PRC income tax — A TSR (23,675) (19,638)
— Hong Kong profits tax —BRBNEH — (1,514)
(23,675) (21,152)
(Unden)/Over provision in prior years 4 (1@ ),/ tBEEE
— PRC income tax — B AEH (1,630) 2,254
— Hong Kong profits tax —BENEHR 1,402 —
(228) 2,254
(23,903) (18,898)
Deferred tax credit RIEFIRE 2
(note 25(a)) (FF5E 25(a)) 5,391 6,886
Total income tax expense FriStn < 4258 (18,512) (12,012)
(b) :ReconC|l|at;9nbt|)etween ta.x expense and accounting (b) BEBLAEEEREH
oss at applicable tax rates: TR > Y
2017 2016
—E—+F —E-REF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss before tax Br B A RS 1B (371,678) (407,139)
Notional tax on loss before tax, EREABAHGEEER
calculated at the rates applicable ZERABETE
to the tax jurisdiction concerned BRIATEIB  BERBIA (66,397) (76,695)
Tax effect of non-deductible AR H 2 FHIBE
expenses 92,015 99,485
Tax effect of non-taxable income  JFEFERRFIWA Z FiIEZ 2 (6,841) (8,524)
Profit attributable to associate F/NE iyl (493) —
Under/(Over)-provision in prior years TR,/ (B58) BifE 228 (2,254)
18,512 12,012

The share of tax attributable to associate amounting
to HK$660,000 (2016: HK$nil) is included in share
of profit of associate in the consolidated income
statement.

DIEHELFEMBIEA
660,000 L (=T — /" F :
TEIL)ETAGEBRERZ
DR E R BIREFIA o

e

\U]])]
13
A

)

BR A
+ FF

# ol
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

7.

INCOME TAX (continued)

(0)

(d)

(e)

The provision for PRC income tax is calculated on
the assessable profit of the Group’s subsidiaries
incorporated in the PRC at 25% during the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been
made during the year ended 31 December 2017 as
the Group did not have any assessable profit subject
to Hong Kong profits tax. The provision for Hong
Kong profits tax is calculated on the assessable profit
of the Group's subsidiaries incorporated in Hong
Kong at 16.5% during the year ended 31 December
2016.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda,
the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI"), the Group is exempted from any income tax
in Bermuda, the Cayman Islands and the BVI.
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7.

& @)

(9

(d)

(e)

REEHBEDBREASE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A T3~ + Br A FTESN)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, Section 383(1) (a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Salaries,

allowances

and benefits
Directors’ in kind

fees H&

-4

EZHe RENAE
Note HKS000  HKS000
iz FET FET

8. EERTHARMS

EERITHREAEMESRE LR
8« B2 R &G 383(1)(a)
()~ (O RMIERARI(HEESF
HERDBHIE2BHENT

Equity

settled

Retirement share-hased
scheme payment 2017
contributions NRE Total

BIRGHE  Subtotal KERH —F-tE
s Mt BBERH st
HK$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
FAT AT FET FET

Executive directors HES

Mr. Liu Lyang e @) — 2688 18 2706 — 276
Mr. Chen Sheng RELE (o) = 159 6 165 = 165
Mr. Yu Yong RELE () — 318 6 324 — 324
Mr. Wang Baozhi IREEE (A = 182 7 189 — 189
Ms. Zang Dongling ARRTT (0 = 159 6 165 - 165
Mr. Zhang Lirui RABEE — 2,688 18 2,706 — 2,706
Mr. Li Xianghong TRBLE e = 2,000 12 2,012 — 2,012
Mr. Zhang Shuguang REXEE (e) - 1333 12 1,345 - 1,345
Mr. Wang Hao TErsE ) = 2,500 15 2,515 = 2,515
Mr. Zhang Liwei RNERE () - 653 6 659 - 659
Independent BUFHTES

non-executive directors
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung BARGEE 240 - - 240 - 240
Professor Xiao Rong Ge BREHE 240 = = 20 - 20
Professor Zhang Tianyu RERHE (d) 87 = = 87 = 87
Mr. Yin Chenggang FEREIEE (h) 158 = = 158 = 158
Total @t 125 12,680 106 1351 — 13,51
ERERNEEERA A 151
TE-—LtEER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Salaries,

allowances

and benefits

Directors’ inkind

fees %%

R

5he  REMAE
Note HKS'000  HK$'000
i3 AL TAR

8. EERITHARME &)

Equity

settled

Retirement share-based
scheme payment 2016
contributions PARRE Total

BIRGHE Subtotal  HEZRH —EB-RE
k3% Pt EBESH a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i TETL Tix Tir

18 2,08 14,682 16,950
18 2,268 14,682 16,950

8 1,043 14,682 15,725
18 2,263 14,682 16,950
18 3,142 3,192 6,334
18 3,142 3192 6,334
12 1,227 - 1,227
12 2,139 - 2,139
12 1,227 - 1,227
- 59 - 59
- 53 - 53
- 240 - 240
- 146 - 146
- 222 - 222
- 222 - 222

Executive directors BEs

Mr. Liu Liyang Anmrs - 2,250
Mr. Li Xianghong ZAELE - 2,250
Mr. Wang Hao TERE 0) — 1,035
Mr. Zhang Lirui EHHRE - 2,250
Mr. Zhang Liwei KNEEE - 3124
Mr. Zhang Shuguang RERLE - 3,124
Mr. Chang Yim Yang RERLE ] - 1,215
Mr. Lam Cham e () - 2121
Mr. Deng Guoli HEMELE (k) - 1,215
Independent BUFHTES

non-executive directors

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung BAREE () 59 -
Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson ~~ BRE L& (m) 53 —
Professor Xiao Rong Ge BREHR 240 -
Mr. Wang Hao BRE (i 146 -
Mr. Chan Kin Sang B (n) oy —
Mr. Wong Lung Tak, Patrick ~ E3E% 4 (n) 222 -
Total it 942 18,590

134 19,666 65,112 84,778

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016,
no emoluments were paid or payable to the Company’s
directors or chief executive or any of the five highest paid
individuals set out in note 9 below as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Company or as compensation for
loss of office. There was no arrangement under which any
directors or chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during both years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(0)

(©)

(e)

)

(9)

(h)

@

U

(m)

(n)

Mr. Liu Liyang was appointed as the chairman of the
Company on 6 September 2017.

Mr. Chen Sheng was appointed as the executive director
and the chief executive officer of the Company on 6
September 2017 and 24 January 2018 respectively.

Mr. Yu Yong was appointed as the executive director and
deputy chief executive officer of the Company and Ms.
Zang Dongling were appointed as executive director of the
Company on 6 September 2017.

Mr. Wang Baozhi was appointed as executive director of
the Company and Professor Zhang Tianyu was appointed
as independent non-executive director of the Company on
21 August 2017.

Mr. Li Xianghong resigned as the chairman and the chief
executive officer and the executive director of the Company
and Mr. Zhang Shuguang resigned as executive director of
the Company on 31 August 2017.

Mr. Wang Hao resigned as executive director on 31
October 2017.

Mr. Zhang Liwei resigned as executive director on 28 April
2017.

Mr. Yin Chenggang, was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 4 January 2017 and
resigned on 31 August 2017.

Mr. Wang Hao was re-designated from independent non-
executive director to the executive director of the Company
on 9 August 2016.

Mr. Chang Yim Yang and Mr. Lam Cham resigned as
executive director on 9 August 2016.

Mr. Deng Guoli resigned as the executive director of the
Company on 9 August 2016 and remained as the chief
engineer of the Group.

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung was appointed as independent non-
executive directors of the Company on 3 October 2016.

Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson was appointed as independent
non-executive director of the Company on 3 October 2016
and resigned on 23 December 2016.

Mr. Chan Kin Sang and Mr. Wong Lung Tak, Patrick
resigned as independent non-executive directors of the
Company on 3 October 2016.

EERTRARME (8

GEE

(@ BINWBEER-Z—tFAAR
BEZER/ARRERE -

(b) BREBEENHIN-F—LFNA
AARZZE-N\F-AZ+HA
BZERRRARPITEFERITH
HBE -

(0 RIZE—LFNARE RBEX
EREZERARRANTELERE
BEDBRE LT ERZERER
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ERRARYBREZERARA
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() RZEBE—LHFN\A=+—H F
BB A BHEA R 7 AT
BB R ATEE RRE K S B
EARARTES -

f EEFEEER-_ZT—-—LtFT+AH
=+ HBERTES -

(99 FRO#EENR-_ZFT—+LFMA
“HNEHBERTES -

(hy FEMEER_Z—tF—AMN
HEZERARRBILIERITE
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BHE ©
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() KEBEERMMERER_-ZF
—RENANBBFERTES -

(k) BEMELER-Z—RENAN
BREARRRITEELEETR
ZNER B 4 TARAD o

I WAFEEER-_ZE-—RF+H=
REZERARRBIIERNTE
=o

(m) BRBEEN-_Z—RNE+A=
BEZITAKRRRBIYIENITE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four directors (2016: five), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining one (2016: nil) highest paid
employee who is neither a director nor chief executive of
the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits e o RN
in kind EWH =

Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIE R

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following band is as follows:

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 BT E
2,500,000 47T

10. DIVIDEND

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2016.
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9. HfUBEMEES

FRELGRSHEeRERERENEE
F(ZE—RF 1A) HBeH
BEN EXMES s T — & (=
TRNEFB)UIFARBESRL
TTRARE N RSB 2 B R F B

THFFBIT
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HKS$000 HK$°000
FHET FET
2,000 —
18 —
2,018 —

MeEATHEAMTBES BT
BagnssMeEERANT

Number of employees
EBEAH
2017 2016
S —E-RF

10- Hﬁ/%\
ARRIESTEZZRBE_T—+
FR_FT-RF+A=+—HLE
FEIRM MRS



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated PA;

11. LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$390,190,000 (2016: HK$419,151,000) and on
the weighted average number of 13,897,919,000
(2016: 10,993,214,000) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares:

R—A—BxZ
E%ée'f"f i E AR

Issued ordinary shares
at 1 January

Effect of issue of new shares — = — /N AL (& FH
upon the 2016 Convertible ~ E#B1& 21T
Bonds Restructure IR n < &

Effect of issue of new shares B EAR(L 14377
upon loan capitalisations MRz &

aﬁLﬁxfﬁp B R BCE
BITHBR D 22 E

Effect of issue of new shares
by share subscriptions and
placements

Effect of issue of new shares
upon acquisitions of
subsidiaries

Effect of issue of new shares
upon conversion of
convertible bonds

Effect of issue of new shares

VR R e AT
$ARYD 2 B

SRR 77 1R
BITHBR D 2 E

TR IR T

upon exercise of share iR in 2 R 2
options
Weighted average number W+=ZA=+—HZ

BB bt 8

of ordinary shares
at 31 December

ﬂ%ﬁ%zl?ﬁ%f

11. BREE

(a)

AR - RBBFTESN)
BRERERE

EREANEETREAR
N aE A ANEWLEE
390,190,000/ (=& — /<
£ 419,151,000 7T ) A &
RERNBEZFITERK 2 N
15 #£13,897,919,000 I (=

£ — ;X % :10,993,214,000
BOFHE -
BRIz I8
2017 2016
Weighted Weighted
average average
number of number of
ordinary ordinary
shares shares
—E—+tF —E—RE
EERZ a i
InREF 1T B kg T8
‘000 ‘000
FIE TR
13,897,919 5,519,031
— 935,227
— 451,919
— 3,596,230
— 482,395
— 4,236
— 4,176
13,897,919 10,993,214
EREXAEEEFER QA
TE-LEFER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

11. LOSS PER SHARE (continued) 11. EREEB @)

(b) Diluted loss per share

The calculation of diluted loss per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company'’s outstanding
share options or conversion of outstanding
convertible bonds which had anti-dilutive effect and
would result in a reduction in loss per share during
the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.
Therefore, the diluted loss per share is same as basic
loss per share during the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2016.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI AT
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)
12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12. BEEE
Exploration
Mining rights and Trading
rights assets right Goodwill Total
REE HFEEREE R5E HE &t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HKS$ 000
FET FET AT FET FET
(note a) (note a) (note b) (note ¢)
(fita) (Hia) (frith) (i)
Cost R
At 1 January 2016 RZZ-x"5-A-A 6,729,911 43,074 - - 6,772,985
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBA - — 500 273,893 274,393
Transfer from deposits paid for  BREHEBRERFEE

gold mining and exploration ~ Fi{i#E%

rights 503,459 - — — 503,459
Additions #E — 4,287 — — 4,287
Exchange adjustments [ A (231,847) (5,203) — — (237,050)
At 31 December 2016 RZE-1E

+-A=t-H 7,001,523 42,158 500 273,893 71,318,074
At 1 January 2017 R-E-+F-A—-H 7,001,523 42,158 500 273,893 7,318,074
Acquisition of subsidiary YR B AR (M3 32)

(note 32) — — — 1,225 1,225
Exchange adjustments L 255,518 3,186 = = 258,704
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F

TZA=1-H 7,257,041 45,344 500 281,118 7,584,003
Accumulated amortisation ~ EstE#
At 1 January 2016 RZ2-7E-F-H 928,646 — — — 928,646
Charge for the year EmiiR(MiT6(0)

(note 6(c)) 94,602 - - - 94,602
Exchange adjustments R (45,100) — — — (45,100)
At 31 December 2016 RIT—RE

+-B=1-R 978,148 — — — 978,148
At 1 January 2017 W2t 978,148 — — - 978,148
Charge for the year EmEiR(ME6(0)

(note 6(c)) 96,341 — — — 96,341
Exchange adjustments R e 53,698 - — - 53,698
At 31 December 2017 RZE—t&

+-A=t+-H 1,128,187 — — — 1,128,187
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+-A=+-H 6,128,854 45,344 500 281,118 6,455,816
At 31 December 2016 RZE-—1F
e tEEt - 6,023,375 42,158 500 273,893 6,339,926
EREARNEBERAD A
ZTE—tEFER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 3R 2R B =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(a)

i

(ii)

(iii)

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s mining
rights with a total carrying amount of
HK$2,174,843,000 (2016: HK$2,903,813,000)
were pledged as security for bank and other
borrowings facilities granted to the Group (note
28).

At 31 December 2017, the directors of the
Company conducted assessments of the
recoverable amounts of the mining rights
with reference to the valuations conducted
by an independent firm of professional
valuers with recognised qualifications and
experiences, using the income-based approach
methodology. Based on the assessments, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the
estimated recoverable amounts of the mining
rights were approximate or higher than their
respective carrying amounts and therefore, no
impairment on the mining rights was required
at 31 December 2017.

The directors of the Company also considered
that there was no impairment on the carrying
amounts of the exploration rights and assets at
31 December 2017.

The amortisation charge during the year is
included in cost of sales in the consolidated
income statement.
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12. EBELEE®)

(a)

(i)

(i)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A T3~ + Br A FTESN)

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(b)

()

It represents trading right on securities brokerage on
the Stock Exchange.

Impairment test for goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations,
which included Shenzhen Munsun Asset
Management Company Limited (“Shenzhen
Munsun”) during the year (note 32) and Munsun
Asset Management (Asia) Limited (“Munsun Asia”)
and Munsun Securities Limited (“Munsun Securities”)
during the year ended 31 December 2016, has been
allocated to the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of
the Financial Services Operation of the Group for
impairment testing.

At 31 December 2017, the recoverable amount
of the lowest level of CGU has been determined
based on value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a period of five years.
There are a number of assumptions and estimates
involved in the preparation of cash flow projections
for the period covered by the approved budget. Key
assumptions include the expected growth rate in
revenues and timing of future capital expenditures
and selection of discount rates. The growth rate is
based on management’s plan on launch of products
and expected growth in the CGU of the Financial
Services Operation. Growth rates ranging from 13%
to 15% (2016: 9% to 19%) have been applied to
the cash flow projections. The discount rate applied
to the cash flow projections is 16% (2016: ranging
from 18% to 20%). In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, no impairment on the goodwill was
required as at 31 December 2017.

12. BEEE (5)

(b)

(9

It TR 4R FE B SX AT IR M AR AR
RIS T -

R ER B

B At (BRFARNFRIT
ERBEEEEARABIR
YIRS (M FE32) MBI E—
E-REF+ZA=+—RHI1k
FEMEREEETE(DM)
BERARIERTEM D R
ERBHFERDA(EEE
Z))FEENEMEDBEAKR
SEERREEBHNRSE
EEMAERERI

RZZE—tF+_A=1+—
H ZBAANREeELES
W ATKESERAR SR
EBEANREBEEEESZNA
FHOMBEEREREAER
B ERECHEREEA
HEWRE S RERANE T X
REBREZLHE T ER
REREEEENTERERR
RREAFZHOERMER
BRI RMEE - EREER
EEBHLEMMETENKR
PRRBEEBNREELS
UMBEHER RERER
MEEAEREEAI3%E
15%(ZF — XN F: 9% %
19%) - RERETEREAK
BRI A 16% (T —/NF ¢
H18% E20%)°> AR AlE
ERB RTE—+F+=

A=+—HHERELEEE
BIE e
EREAEEARA T
—B-tEFH
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Cost
At 1 January 2016
Exchange adjustments
Acquisitions of subsiiaries
Disposalof subsidiaries
Additons
Disposals
Interest capitalised
Transfer from construction

In progress

At 31 December 2016

At 1 January 2017

Exchange adjustments

Acquisiton of subsidary
(note 32)

Additions

Disposals

Interest capftalised

Transfer from construction
In progress

At 31 December 2017

13. FIXED ASSETS

S
RZE-75-R-
g
YEHEAA
HENBAE
22
i
gkl
SRETETE

AE-ETZAz1-H

RE-+E-f-B
Eige
YEMBAF (W)

KE

&
ERfhlg
SREERIE

R=E-tE+A=t-H
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA 75!

™ BRBBEFAEN)
13. BEEE

Interests in

leasehold

[ands held

for own

Offce use under

equipment, operating

Buildings fumiture leases

heldfor ~ Machinery and fixtures it

own use and Motor BAE Mining ~ Construcin  ER&R
BEEBR  equipment vehides  BE-HE  stuctwes  inprogress EREE Total
ZEEN RERRE RE  REREE  FRERH ERIR  tHER it
HKS000 Hso H§000 Hso o0 Hso S0 S0
FAT 77 FAT 2. & 2 741 FAr

(notss (0)é1(c)
Wb ko)

13,576 66,170 26,621 1817 2933417 184425 8,162 4,880,188
(890) (4335 (1,639 (4ds) (192,170) (120,69) (589) (320,760)
B 1 m 150 - nm IV IICE )
- - - ] - - - &)
1441 2918 1351 1,720 4631 364,704 599 37744
- - 2189 (8%8) - - - (3046)
- - = = - 3,151 - 32151
- - - AL IR <} - -
14358 64,934 131 833 3894 761 1,152,733 3974 519413
14,358 64,934 13N 8332 3,894,761 1,152,733 35914 5195413
1,085 4908 2,050 531 294333 87,360 2118 392,985
- - 4344 0 - - - 4,386
- 2,386 157 2308 2,862 269,518 - ms3n
- (11.214) (429) (131) - - - (11,778)
- - - - - 6,762 - 6,762
- - - - 433,605 (433,605) - -
15,483 61,014 31,083 11,082 4,625,561 1,082,768 38,692 5,805,603




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

13. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 13. BIEEE &)

Interests in
leasehold
[ands held
for own
Office use under
equipment, operating
Buildings fumiture leases
heldfor ~ Machinery and fixtures it
own use and Motor BAE Mining ~ Construcin  ER&R
BEEBR  equipment vehides  BE-HE  stuctwes  inprogress EREE Total
ZEEN RERRE RE  REREE  FRERH REIR  theEE it
S0 Hso H§000 Hso HS 000 S0 S0 S0
FAT 77 FAT 2. & 2 741 FAr
(notss (0)é1(c)
(W)
Acumulated amortisation ~~ EstHERHE
and depreciation
At 1 January 2016 RIF-nF-A-A 4018 1596 16,984 5426 N7 - 131 365,510
Bichange adjustmens B (8 (1872 (985) (329) B - (05) 173
Charge for the year R
(note6(c) (stsio) 1,909 5013 290 1553 %870 - 8 108,495
Disposal of sUbsidiaries HERBLA - - - (15) - - - (15)
Wtten back on disposel HERAE - - .18 (312) - - - (2429
At 31 December 2016 RoE-ETZAZ1-H 5599 9127 16,785 6323 384923 - 1474 444 31
At 1 January 2017 RoF-t5-3-A 5599 LRI 16,785 6,323 38493 - 1474 4231
Eichange adsimens Ejgn 506 20% 1301 " 01 - 103 %5%
Charge for the year R
(note 61c) (Histe(o) 2218 5395 3152 151 84,150 - 818 97,364
Writen back on disposel tERED = (10,609) (1) (115) = = = (11,097)
At 31 December 2017 R=B-tE+A=t-H 8383 25,949 20,885 8162 501,22 - 2495 567,09
Canying amounts BEE
At 31 December 2017 R=B-tE+A=1-H 7,060 35,005 10,158 2920 4124339 1,082,768 36,197 5,298,507
At 31 December 2016 R-E-rEt-f=1-A 8759 35807 153 2,009 3,509,838 115,733 34500 4751182
ERAAEEERAA
TE-—LtEER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B

5 AR ML

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

13

14.

. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(@ As at 31 December 2017, the Group's fixed assets
with a total carrying amount of HK$816,326,000
(2016: HK$1,298,933,000) were pledged as security
for bank and other borrowings facilities granted to
the Group (note 28).

(b) The construction in progress at 31 December
2017 and 2016 primarily relates to the additional
production premises, mining structures and facilities
of subsidiaries in the PRC.

(0 During the year, interest on bank and other
borrowings capitalised in above construction in
progress was HK$6,762,000 (2016: HK$32,151,000).
The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a
rate of 9% (2016: 9%) per annum on the specific
borrowings used for financing the construction in
progress (note 6(a)).

DEPOSITS PAID FOR GOLD MINING AND
EXPLORATION RIGHTS

At 31 December 2017, the Group paid aggregate deposits
of HK$152,375,000 (2016: HK$156,942,000) for two
proposed acquisitions of certain mining and exploration
rights for gold mines in Henan and Yunnan, in the PRC
from independent third parties. The transactions have
not been completed during the year and up the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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13. EEEE(H)

(a)

(b)

(o)
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15.

16.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Unlisted investments, at fair value JEETIRE AR F(EET

At 31 December 2017, the Group's available-for-sale
investments included investment in an unlisted company
in the PRC of HK$251,958,000 (2016: HK$234,255,000)
and investment in a private equity fund in the PRC of
HK$12,162,000 (2016: HKSnil).

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s available-for-sale
investments with carrying value of HK$251,958,000 (2016:
HK$117,128,000) was pledged as security for the Group’s
bank and other borrowings (note 28).

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

Share of net assets DIEFEE

15. B ERE

2017 2016
—¥-—tF —T-AF
HKS$°000 HK$'000
FRT FIET
264,120 234,255

RZF—+tF+=ZA=+—H"
AEEMNAHRBEEREBRRER
—HPRBRRERNEKEEFELELTAF
251,958,000 JL(Z & — /N F ¢
234,255,000 L) KA —EF
LEREESHIRE2,162,000
BIL(ZE—RF - T8I °

R-ZZE—+F+=-A=+—08" &
M {H251,958,000/8 7L (— & — /X
#F:117,128,000/870) 2 3k b
RECHARNERANSE 2 RITRE
&K (FF5E28) ©

16. RBEERT 2 RE

2017 2016
—E—+tF TE—RF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
8,969 —

o]
iR
s
13
A
i)
i ot

2 ol

# =
5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 R )

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

16. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE (continued) 16. RBEERRZRE(®)
At 31 December 2017, particulars of the associate are as RZZE—+F+=_A=+—H B
follows: ERAIZERINEHRAT
Proportion of ownership
interest
BERERLA

Place of Group's

incorporation/ Fully paid-up effective Held by a

Name of associate operations registered capital interest  subsidiary Principal activities

gMEL/ r5H B — &

BENFER BEmE ERREMER BERES DNABE FEEK

% %

Shenzhen Baotengsheng Fund The PRC RMB10,000,000 245 245  Asset management
Management Company Limited AE10,000,0007C and advisory service
(note i) BETENZARE

AIMRERESEEERAR

(P&Ei)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRBETREE QAT EERH
information of the associate: G
2017 2016
—E2—tF —E-RF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHETT FET

Non-current assets FERBEE 2,646 —

Current assets MENE B 34,865 —

Current liabilities mEEE (903) —

Net assets BEFE 36,608 —

Revenue Was 11,081 —

Profit for the year FEm A 8,052 =

Other comprehensive income Hi2mElas — —

Total comprehensive income FHREBRE 8,052 —

Dividend received from the associate RGN el 35N — —

Proportion of the Group’s ownership RNEE B RELLA 24.5% —

Group's share of net assets of the REEE(REE
associate and the carrying amount of NEIZEBEFER
the investment KERMEE 8,969 —

() The English name is for identification purpose only. (i) HEXHWERBRNZA -
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17.

18.

INVENTORIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

Total

R
ERm
LK R

TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Trade and loans receivables

Less: Allowance for
doubtful debts

Other receivables

Sub-total
Deposits and prepayments

Non-current portion
Current portion

JE W AR SR B B R
B RAR AR

HoAth & WA

it
fee RIM IR

e IR L)
BN ER

As at 31 December 2017, all of the trade, loans and other
receivables, deposits and prepayments are expected to

be recovered or recognised as expenses within one year,

except for the non-current portion.

17. 7€

REMBRARAZFERERE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
23,015 11,856
121,166 90,275
37,208 7,864
181,389 109,995

18. BWWERFX - ERREME
WHIE - RERFENFIE

Note
B 5T

(a) to (¢

2017 2016
—2—tF —TRF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET TrET
132,336 150,173
132,336 150,173
115,369 132,198
247,705 282,371
117,857 58,203
365,562 340,574
49,379 90,111
316,183 250,463
365,562 340,574

R-E—+FE+-_A=+—8 "

B REWERR

B R CE R U

B BeRBAMNFEHBHR —F

AT AN E K ER R - HEIER

HAEB D BRS ©

Wt
i3
s
13
A
i)
- at

2 ol
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

18. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Trade and loans receivables

Trade receivables under & TEBIFRES T
the Gold Mining 2 FEWLBR 3K
Operation

Trade and loans TRIREEB T2
receivables under FEWER R R E R

the Financial
Services Operation

Trade receivables under the Gold
Mining Operation

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables under
the Gold Mining Operation (net of allowance for
doubtful debts) based on invoice date at end of the
reporting period is as follows:

Less than two months DRARE A
More than two months but BiBmEAR
less than six months DR INE A

The Group generally requires the customers to make
payment on the date of delivery of products or
within 7 days after delivery of products. Credit term
within two months is granted to the customers with
high credibility.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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18. BWWERFX - ERREME

WRIE - BERBENRE

£ £k

(a) BWERFKRER
2017 2016
—E—+tfF —E—RF
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 2 FET FHEIT
(b) 23,524 54,839
(©) 108,812 95,334
132,336 150,173

E
FA

(b) EEMAREHT BWIR

T FE WBR SR (2 F0BR R BR 5

B)RBERZEHHZRRSN
N
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE-REF
HK$000 HK$ 000
FET FET
18,757 54,839
4,767 —
23,524 54,839

AEE-REFESRES
138 B S R @ % £ B W
VR 3K = FAELA A PO 2 45
EHETAASEEEEY
B -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

18. BN - ERRHEALLE
WRIE - HERBENRE

(#&)

(b) Trade receivables under the Gold (b) TEFRRERT EWER

18. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Mining Operation (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables under the
Gold Mining Operation that are neither individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

(&)

I 45 {8 5l 25 B8 B8 1 AR A5 2R
BzeBRAREL T RKK
KRB DM -

At At

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

R=ZB—tF R-T—AF
+=A=+—-B +t=—A=1—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Neither past due nor impaired R HAS R (A 18,757 54,839
Less than six months BER DR N E A

past due 4,767 -

23,524 54,839

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables
under the Gold Mining Operation that were neither
past due nor impaired relate to certain independent
customers for whom there was no recent history
of default. Receivables that were past due but not
impaired relate to certain independent customers
that have a good track record with the Group. Based
on past experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable. The Group did not hold
any collateral over these balances.

RBmEHKR - BERBHITFAR
WMEZEERARXER TE
Ui B R B B AT 08 B 48 R RC 8%
ZETEILEFAER - BaH
1830 R (B 2 FE W R IR B S
TRAKEBEREREZ
BYEFPBR REBEL
B EEEMEHANZS
EEMRIELRERE  ARHE
EEEXZVESARES I
Rz EEen 28 -
AEBEYBRAFEHRTE
EfEH S -

EREAEEBAERQA 187
ZTE-tLtEFER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

18. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(c) Trade and loans receivables under the

18. BN - ERRHEAME
WRIE - BFERBANRE

(%&)

() ERRBZEEHT EIRK

Financial Services Operation MERER
2017 2016
—E—+fF —E-REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Trade receivables from BHBILET
securities brokerage business: FEYBRK
— Cash clients -HerP 1,182 3,324
— Clearing house in HK —REAZEER 164 283
1,346 3,607
Trade and loan receivables from Hith e BRI EBER
other financial services business ERNER 107,466 91,727
108,812 95,334

The settlement terms of trade receivables
from securities brokerage business are two
days after the trade date. No ageing analysis is
disclosed as the ageing analysis does not give
additional value in view of the nature of these
trade receivables. The credit terms on trade
and loan receivables from the other financial
services business under the Financial Services
Operation are ranging from one year to three
years. The ageing analysis of these trade and
loans receivables (net of allowance for doubtful
debts) from other financial services business
under the Financial Services Operation based
on the age of these receivables since the
effective dates of the relevant contracts at end
of the reporting period is as follows:

S
&
7

N\

Less than one year
More than one year

% %
B
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(i) BEHFRLEGZEKIE
RZBFH/XHAIEK
M E - R EF R R
RZME - RieD A
SRHEBEIMEE - Fit
WEREREDIT - &
BMIRBER N2 HE D
B0 AR 75 5 75 2 YR K
ERERZEEHH—F
E-FIF - RNMEH
R REEFEBAENE
M H BRI F £ B8RS
EB T 2 EA S B ARF
E 5 WA R &
AE BREERRARER

(BN%RERE) 0
BT :

2017 2016
—g—tf —FAF
HKS$°000 HK$000
FHAT FATE
258 91,727
107,208 >
107,466 91, 727




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

18. TRADE, LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(c) Trade and loans receivables under the
Financial Services Operation (continued)

(ii)

The trade and loans receivables under the
Financial Services Operation that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired is as follows:

I 4 78 B 2R B

Neither past due nor impaired

Less than six months past due  #HAD 575 1@ A
More than six months but B HARR A< E A
less than one year past due 1BV —4F

More than one year past due BHIZ R —4F

At the end of the reporting period, trade and
loans receivables under the Financial Services
Operation of the Group that were neither past
due nor impaired relate to certain independent
customers for whom there was no recent
history of default. Receivables that were past
due but not impaired relate to cash clients from
securities brokerage business of HK$1,098,000
(2016: HK$3,161,000) and the management
fee receivables from the asset management
funds managed by the Group of HK$1,017,000
(2016: HK$nil). The Group held the securities
of these cash clients from securities brokerage
business as collateral over their individual
balance and has assessed the recoverability of
the management fee receivables from the asset
management funds. The management believed
that no impairment allowance was necessary in
respects of these receivables.

18. BWRR - ERRHEAE
WRIE - HERBANRE

\

()

(&)

T RAR A A T B UUER

MR EF ()

(i) 3 A AE Rl s 3 R AR ER
ENERRBESL 2
T 2 R ER R R & a0
T

2017 2016
—¥-—tF —TAF
HKS$°000 HK$'000
FHAT TR
106,697 92,173
407 1,203

1,053 140

655 1,818

2,115 3,161
108,812 95,334

REmEBHR REBRARS
HNR R E 2 & B AR 1S % 75
TREREERREFRERES
Rk ETRLER
- CaBERBREIE
WHIBERFSFLCLEB 2B
& F F A 51,098,000%
(=& — /54 13,161,000
L) RRBAKEEER
THEEEEES 2REKE
BEM1,017,0008T(—F
—NF BB c AEREF
EREEFCLEBTIZE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT 19. ZBBEBZ LA FEIIERZE

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(@) Financial Assets

Listed securities RS
Unlisted equity investments in KREESH
investment funds JELTRERE

During the year, the Group recognised fair value
loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of HK$85,196,000 (2016: HK$9,209,000) (note
5), which includes fair value loss arisen from listed
shares and unlisted equity investments in investment
funds of HK$80,721,000 (2016: HK$4,178,000) and
HK$4,475,000 (2016: HK$5,031,000) respectively.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

MEEREE
(a) EWMEE
2017 2016
—ZE—+tF —E—RF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
— 253,808
— 51,057
— 304,865

FAAEERREATE
ATAERCcEREEATE
& 18 /485,196,000 sT(—
T — X4 9,209,000 7T )
(M5E5) - HPBELETRE
KIEETRERE 2 A TEE
B R1A80,721,0008 (=
T — X4 4,178,000 7T )
X 4,475,000 T(Z & — <
£ 5,031,000 7T) °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(continued)
(b) Financial Liabilities

The Group financed through leases of gold from
banks by selling the leased gold through the
Shanghai Gold Exchange (“SGE"”). On maturity, the
Group would return gold with the same quantity
and specification purchased through SGE, and pay
interests on leases of gold to banks. The maturity
periods are within one to three years. The Group has
engaged in gold forward contracts in accordance
with the quantity, specification and repayment terms
of gold to be returned to banks in the future. The
banks have granted gold leasing financing to the
Group under the same banking facilities arrangement
of the Group’s bank borrowings (note 23(a)).

The fair values of the financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss as at 31 December 2017 are
determined based on a valuation performed by
an independent firm of professional valuers with
recognised qualifications and experiences using
observable inputs including gold future price and risk
free rates. During the year, fair value loss on financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss was
HK$1,388,000 (2016: HK$939,000) (note 6(a)).

20. PLEDGED DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s total deposits of
HK$612,155,000 (2016: HK$1,018,472,000), including
non-current portion and current portion of HK$47,992,000
(2016: HK$211,945,000) and HK$564,163,000 (2016:
HK$806,527,000) respectively, which were held in bank
and financial institutions were pledged as security for bank
and other borrowings facilities granted to the Group (note
28). The interest rate of the pledged deposits ranged from
0.1% to 3.8% (2016: 0.1% to 3.8%) per annum during
the year.

19. EBBERRAVEHIRZE

MEEREEB®)

(b) ERERE

AEERRTHEARS - BB
rEBLEEERXFM( L
BEEXSMDELME
BETMFEES  REHA -
AEBEBBLBEEEXHM
BEAHRBENRENES
BEERTIXNESEEN
B-HEHSE=FA-
AEBRRBRRARFEBET
RITOEEZHE - REME
BEFRITRERGH -
RITERBEAEERITER
MAERRITEERHRANE
ERELEHEHEREME
23(a)) °

R-E—+tF+_A=+—
HEBIEBRRAFEIEZ
CHEEAFEDNREAS
RABENEROBLRE
HERBERAATERNE A
FE(BEECHEERRE
BB F R)ETHEEE
FoRER BRIBFLXA
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EE 18 /51,388,000 (=
T — X 4F 939,000 T )
(fzE6(a)) °

20. EEBER
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EEFRAE612,155000% 7T
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TT)  BREIERBDIBM R RE B
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— X £ : 211,945,000 T ) &
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806,527,000/ ) * 2S5 F A
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AEEERZRITEEMERE
B(H:E28) - FABEBERZ
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

CLIENT TRUST BANK BALANCES

Cash at banks RITIE K

Cash in hand "e

Cash and cash equivalents ReERBALEEY
Client trust bank balances BEPEFERITES

The Group maintains trust and segregated accounts with
authorised financial institutions to hold clients’ deposits
arising from securities brokerage business transactions.
The Group has classified the clients’ deposits as client trust
bank balances in the current assets and recognised the
corresponding trade payables to the respective clients in
the current liabilities, on the grounds that the Group is
liable for any misappropriation of the respective clients’
deposits as stipulated under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO"). The Group is not allowed to
use the clients’ monies to settle its own obligations under
the SFO. As such, these monies are not included in cash
and cash equivalents of the Group for cash flow purposes
in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

The interest rates on cash at banks ranged from 0.1% to
0.4% (2016: 0.1% to 0.4%) per annum during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$74,667,000 (2016:HK$53,755,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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21. BERBESSEBYREF

EFERITHERR
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
141,721 105,397
318 198
142,039 105,595
4,032 3,230
146,071 108,825

AEEERAEBERRFEELR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. BENERAREAESRIE

2017 2016

—ZE—+tF —E—RF

Note HK$000 HK$'000

B 5T FET FET

Trade payables BRI (a) to () 156,568 42,499
Accrued charges and BIRERAK

other payables H th &< FRIE 518,006 452,925

Financial liabilities measured R AGTE

at amortised cost ZEmaE 674,574 495,424
Receipts in advance U BR X 64,541 36,152
739,115 531,576
(a) Trade payables (a) FETBRZR
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE-RF
Note HK$000 HK$'000
b5 FET FET
Trade payables under CRAREBT
the Gold Mining 2 FERTBRER
Operation (b) 152,288 38,820
Trade payables under TRBREEB T2
the Financial RIS BRFR
Services Operation (c) 4,280 3,679

156,568 42,499
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 22. BAERRREMENKE
(%)
(b) Trade payables under the Gold Mining (b) EEMKREKR TENER
Operation BN

RBER - SEARED

The ageing analysis of trade payables under the Gold
geing analy pay THRNEZEEFZEASY

Mining Operation based on invoice date at the end

. L BREC D HTIAT -
of the reporting period is as follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Less than three months PIR=1E A 86,362 33,844
More than three months BiB=1EA
but less than one year BAIR—F 59,799 3,189
More than one year BE—F 6,127 1,787
152,288 38,820
(c) Trade payables under the Financial (<) ERIREEB T EER
Services Operation EN
2017 2016
s ZE-RF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables from E ST
securities brokerage business: FERTRRAX
— Cash clients -BeEP 4,280 3,679
The settlement terms of trade payables from BHERILEG 2 ENERERZ
securities brokerage business are two days after EXHAXZRHEMAE - &
the trade date. Trade payables to cash clients also NREBFPERTBRERFN
include those payables placed in trust and segregated MBI B 2 B ERP
accounts with authorised institutions. No ageing ZEMBER - BRI EEN
analysis is disclosed as the ageing analysis does not BRRZ2HEE Rk oT e
give additional value in view of the nature of these REFBINMEE - FH I B
trade payables. BERER DT ©

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

23. RITREMBER

R-ZE—tF+-A=+—8B XK
SEEEATRITREMER

23. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had bank and other

borrowings as follows:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Note HK$000 HK$°000
B 5 FET FET
Secured bank and other BIRHIRIT
borrowings HEmER (a) 2,269,478 2,816,969
Unsecured bank and AR TT
other borrowings HaEH (b) 1,075,563 886,546
Loans from related parties EATER 35(a)(ii) 300,000 305,687
Total et 3,645,041 4,009,202
Carrying amounts repayable: RIEEFIARMEIE
Within 1 year or on demand —F A EEK 2,071,096 2,288,609
After 1 year but within 2 years —F A EEMFLAA 761,610 716,117
After 2 years but within 5 years MELNEBRFUA 721,898 817,992
After 5 years HFELE 90,437 186,484
3,645,041 4,009,202
Less: Current portion o BNERER 4 (2,071,096) (2,288,609)
Non-current portion JEENHAER 12 1,573,945 1,720,593
ERERE B R 2 A
TE- Lt EER 175
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

23. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(@

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's secured bank
and other borrowings and the financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss were secured by the pledge
of the Group's assets and share charge of certain
subsidiaries of the Group (note 28) and guarantees
given by certain subsidiaries and the Company,
certain executive directors of the Company and senior
management staff of subsidiaries and related parties
(notes 35(a)(iii) to (v)). At 31 December 2016, the
Group’s secured bank and other borrowings and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
were pledged by the Group’s assets and share charge
of certain subsidiaries of the Group, share charge of
a company which is wholly owned by an ex-executive
director of the Company, and guarantees given by
certain subsidiaries and the Company, certain executive
directors of the Company and a related party.

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s unsecured
bank and other borrowings of HK$180 million
(2016: HK$167 million) were guaranteed by certain
subsidiaries and the Company and a (2016: two)
senior management staff of a (2016: two) subsidiary
(note 35(a)(vi)). Save as disclosed above, the
remaining balance at 31 December 2017 and 2016
was unsecured and unguaranteed.

The range of effective interest rates on the Group's
fixed rate and variable rate bank and other
borrowings are 4% to 15% (2016: 4% to 10%) and
6% to 9% (2016: 5% to 9%) respectively.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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23. BITREMER @)

(a)

(b)

(@)

RZE—tF+A=+—
B AEECDEBERITREAM
EFRUA R B BEBERE AT E
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BERAEBETHBARZ
B 1D & R EE (P 3 28) &
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BREEAS REETELE
R FE35@)GNEWV) » B =
T-XNE+-_A=+—H K
SBEZEEPRITEEMER
URBEREBREAFEYERS
CRBBECUAAREEC BER
AEBETHBARZRNE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M’%ﬁ & MY &t
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A T3~ + Br A FTESN)
24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 24, ATARES
Liability
The 2016 Convertible Bonds component Derivatives Total
—RETRRES s &R0 fTEIA mat

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

At 16 March 2016 RZE—R"F=A+~H 348,083 37,486 385,569
Interest expense charged to T A4RE Wz &

consolidated income ZHERY (KiFE6))

statement (note 6(a)) 33,857 — 33,857
Interest paid ERHE (10,548) — (10,548)
Conversion into shares R SR (3,084) (325) (3,409)
Fair value gain (note 6(a)) ~ AFEUWES (FiiiE6()) — (6,331) (6,331)
At 31 December 2016 RZZE—RE+ZA=1+—H 368,308 30,830 399,138
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+F—HA—H 368,308 30,830 399,138
Interest expense charged to T A4RE Wamk

consolidated income ZFBEFY (KizE6(a))

statement (note 6(a)) 44,431 — 44,431
Interest paid ERFLE (27,279) — (27,279)
Fair value gain (note 6(a)) ~ AFEWE (FiiE6()) — (30,830) (30,830)
At 31 December 2017 RZZ—tF+-A=1—H 385,460 = 385,460
Representing: ?5 :

At 31 December 2017 RZZE—+F+=ZHA=+—H

Current liabilities RENAE 385,460 — 385,460
At 31 December 2016 RZZE—RE+ZA=1+—H
Non-current liabilities ELTEIN=KE 368,308 30,830 399,138
EREAEEERAD T
—B—tEEH 177
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Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LABTTHIIR + B 58 P

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

4h)

24. "R ESF (&)

Liability Equity Put
The 2013 Convertible Bonds component component Option Total
“E-ZEUBRRES =N Em e AL HE o
HKS$'000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2016 RZZE—RF—A—H 1,032,630 2,203 30,258 1,065,091
Interest expense FPAGRA WK

charged to consolidated ~ ZF| B

income statement (Kiz¥6(a))

(note 6(a)) 17,567 — — 17,567
Interest paid BASFLE (37,192) — — (37,192)
Extinguishment upon —E-RETHRRES

the completion of the EHTHIE

2016 Convertible Bonds 54 (F3E())

Restructure (Note (i) (1,013,005) (2,203) (30,258)  (1,045,466)
At 31 December 2016 RZT—RF

+-A=+—H — — — —
Note HizE :
()  Loss on the 2016 Convertible Bonds Cash paid
Restructure and fair
ZE-AEURRESEACER value of
shares Equity
issued component of
for the 2016 the 2013
Convertible Lossonthe  Convertible
Bonds 2016 Bonds
Carrying  Restructure Convertible  transferred
amount “E-RE Fair value Bonds  toretained
ofthe2013  W#RKREH  ofthe2016  Restructure profits
Convertible  E&2H£  Convertible =Z-xF  EEZR{E
Bonds  FEREM Bonds  MEREH p¥ilpd
ZE-ZF RHZAVE ZE-AE  BAFRE 2 C-E-=F
TRRES (Note (i)  W#KEH  (Noteb(a) TEKESH
ZEASHE (B3 (ii)) ZDFE  (MFE6(a) R
HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Liability components AEFSIRITETIE
and derivatives 1,043,263 720,808 385,569 (63,114) —
Equity component ERzSH 2,203 1,516 — — 687
1,045,466 722,324 385,569 (63,114) 687
(i) Cash paid and fair value of shares issued (i) —E—AETHRRELZEHAZES HKS$’000
for the 2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure: HERBTROZATE FET
Cash payment IR & FUE 361,078
Transaction costs R SR 11,307
Total cash outflow included in AAGERERER RS
consolidated statement of cash flows e 372,385
Shares issued at fair value BATERITZ’GD 349 939
722,324
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A T3~ + Br A FTESN)

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(a)

On 4 February 2013, the Company issued the
convertible bonds with the principal amount of
HK$1,028 million which charged interest at 7.25%
per annum and would be mature on 4 February
2018 (the “2013 Convertible Bonds”). On 5
February 2013, the 2013 Convertible Bonds were
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited. The 2013 Convertible Bonds entitled the
bondholders to convert the 2013 Convertible Bonds
into ordinary shares of the Company at a conversion
price of HK$1.8125 per share at any time on or
after 17 March 2013 up to the close of business
on the date falling ten days prior to the maturity
date on 4 February 2018. The bondholders had
the right to require the Company to redeem the
2013 Convertible Bonds on 4 February 2016 at its
principal amount together with accrued unpaid
interest (the “Put Option”). The Company had the
right to redeem all of the 2013 Convertible Bonds at
their principal amount together with accrued unpaid
interest to such date at any time after 4 February
2016.

In 2016, the Company made the convertible
bonds restructure (the “2016 Convertible Bonds
Restructure”) that included extinguishment of
the bondholders’ rights on the Put Option and
amendment to the existing terms and conditions
of the 2013 Convertible Bonds. On 16 March
2016, the 2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure was
completed and the Company issued and allotted
approximately 1,176 million new ordinary shares of
the Company and paid the aggregate amount of
approximately HK$361 million to the bondholders.
On the same date, the rights of all bondholders for
the Put Option were extinguished with immediate
effect. The Company’s total outstanding principal
amount of the 2013 Convertible Bonds was reduced
to approximately HK$379.5 million as at 16 March
2016.

24. "R ESF (&)

(a)

RZTE—=F_AMAHA - K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 3R 2R B =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAUEITSIR » B BB FTEIN)

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The key amendments to other existing terms and
conditions of the 2013 Convertible Bonds under
the 2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure (the “2016
Convertible Bonds”) include a reduction in the
conversion price to HK$0.4283 per share and a
reset to the conversion price on each of 4 August
2016 and 4 February 2017. If the volume weighted
average price during a period of 20 consecutive
trading days immediately prior to each date thereto
is less than the conversion price prevailing on the
last day of such period, the conversion price shall
be reset, subject to a minimum reset price equal to
HK$0.25 (“Conversion Price Reset”). Modification
is made to the redemption right at the option of
the Company, whereby (i) the Company may at any
time on, or after 4 February 2016 to, and including,
4 February 2017, redeem the outstanding the 2016
Convertible Bonds at 105% of their outstanding
principal amount, with accrued but unpaid interest
together with the interest which would have accrued
from and including the date on which the 2016
Convertible Bonds are redeemed to, but excluding,
4 February 2017; and (ii) at any time after 4 February
2017, the Company may redeem, together with
accrued but unpaid interest to (x) the aggregate
principal amount of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
such that after such redemption, the outstanding
aggregate principal amount of the 2016 Convertible
Bonds remaining is two-thirds of the aggregate
principal amount of the 2016 Convertible Bonds as
at 4 February 2017 provided the volume weighted
average price of the Company’s shares for a period
of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the date
which is no more than 5 trading days prior to notice
of redemption is at least 130% of the conversion
price immediately prior to notice of redemption,
(y) the aggregate principal amount of the 2016
Convertible Bonds such that after such redemption,

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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24. "R ESF (&)

(a)

(%)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

the outstanding aggregate principal amount of the
2016 Convertible Bonds remaining is one third of the
aggregate principal amount of the 2016 Convertible
Bonds as at 4 February 2017 provided the volume
weighted average price of the Company’s share
for a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending
on the date which is no more than 5 trading days
prior to notice of redemption is at least 140% of
the conversion price immediately prior to notice of
redemption, and (z) all remaining the 2016 Convertible
Bonds outstanding provided the volume weighted
average price of the Company’s shares for a period
of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the date
which is no more than 5 trading days prior to notice
of redemption is at least 150% of the conversion
price immediately prior to notice of redemption. Save
as disclosed as above, the 2016 Convertible Bonds
bear interest rate at 7.25% per annum and will be
mature on 4 February 2018 that are kept unchanged
with these terms of the 2013 Convertible Bonds.

24. "R ESF (&)

(a)

(%)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated LA/

TEEIR » B SAFESN

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The amendments to the terms and conditions of the
2013 Convertible Bonds under the 2016 Convertible
Bonds Restructure are considered to be substantial
modification of terms and conditions of the 2013
Convertible Bonds. Accordingly, the 2013 Convertible
Bonds have been accounted for as extinguishment and
the 2016 Convertible Bonds have been recognised
upon the completion of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
Restructure on 16 March 2016. The Group recognised
a loss of the 2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure of
HK$63,114,000 (note 6(a)) during the year ended
31 December 2016, which was mainly arisen from
the difference between the issue price of the shares
of HK$0.25 each pursuant to the terms of the 2016
Convertible Bonds Restructure and the fair value of
the Company'’s share of HK$0.2975 with reference to
market price of the Company’s shares issued to the
bondholders at the date of completion of the 2016
Convertible Bonds Restructure on 16 March 2016.
The Group recognised the liability component and
derivatives of the 2016 Convertible Bonds on 16 March
2016 which were determined based on the valuations
performed by an independent firm of professional
valuers with recognised qualifications and experiences
using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar
bond without a conversion option and Monte Carlo
simulation method, respectively. No equity component
of the 2016 Convertible Bonds was recognised as it will
not be settled by a fixed number of shares due to the
Conversion Price Reset. The effective interest rate of the
liability component is 12.7% per annum. The derivatives
of the 2016 Convertible Bonds include the option of
the bondholders to convert the 2016 Convertible Bonds
into the Company's ordinary shares and the option of
the Company to redeem the 2016 Convertible Bonds.
Both options are interdependent.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated M 7T

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(b)

During the year, none of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
were exercised and the conversion price of the 2016
Convertible Bonds was adjusted from HK$0.26 to
HK$0.25 under the Conversion Price Reset with
effect from 4 February 2017. Details are set out
in the Company’s announcement on 6 February
2017. At 31 December 2017, the outstanding
principal amount of the 2016 Convertible Bonds was
approximately HK$376 million. The 2016 Convertible
Bonds will be mature on 4 February 2018.
Accordingly, the liability component and derivatives
of 2016 Convertible Bonds were reclassified from
non-current liabilities to current liabilities as at 31
December 2017.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the fair values
of derivatives of the 2016 Convertible Bonds was
determined based on the valuation performed by
an independent firm of professional valuers with
recognised qualifications and experiences using
Monte Carlo simulation method. The following
assumptions are used to calculate the respective fair
values of the derivatives:

Share price (HK$) RE(ET)

Conversion price (HK$) HBE(ET)

Expected remaining life of AR ES BRI
the convertible bonds (years) FEH(4F)

Expected volatility (%) ?EHH‘}E@J(%)

Risk free rate (%) B2 12 (%)

Expected dividend yield (%) iﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ BE (%)
Discount rate (%) BRI & (%)

ﬂ%ﬁ%zl?ﬁ%f

BRRBMIESN)

24. TTAREZ (8)

(b)

FN - HE-_ZF— AET@
REFETE M_FT—
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BRI R ®EH26E TH
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HNARAEHR_-_T—+
FZARNRBZRMA - R
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B4 R376 8 BB

2 NF A ] &
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FEDHEEBRAELRE
B E X ERERNA
SR RERR AL 21
BEE - FIBRKRIIARE

BEEPTETEZAYE:
2017 2016
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0.063 0.225
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0 0
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(0)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Company through an independent consent
solicitation agent, Daiwa Capital Markets Hong
Kong Limited, invited bondholders to consider
amendment to the existing terms and conditions of
the 2016 Convertible Bonds (the “2018 Convertible
Bonds Restructure”). The key amendments to
the existing terms and conditions of the 2016
Convertible Bonds under the 2018 Convertible
Bonds Restructure include: (a) a cash redemption
amount of HK$131,099 per each bond with principal
amount of HK$1,000,000 to each bondholder in
addition to the HK$350,000 per HK$1,000,000
principal amount paid on 16 March 2016 under
2016 Convertible Bonds Restructure (the “Principal
Paydown Amount”) plus an amount equal to 20%
of the accrued interest to be paid on the completion
date of the 2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure; (b)
extension of the maturity of the 2016 Convertible
Bonds together with accrued and unpaid interest
thereon on 4 August 2019; (c) modification to the
redemption right at the option of the Company,
whereby: (i) the Company may at any time on or
after 4 October 2018 to, and including 4 November
2018 (the “Optional Redemption Date”), redeem
all, but not some only, of the bonds on the payment
business day specified in the optional redemption
notice as being the Optional Redemption Date at
their outstanding principal amount together with
accrued but unpaid interest to such date; (ii) if the
Company issues an optional redemption notice,
each bondholder will have the right to elect that all
or some only of such holder’s convertible bond(s)
(subject to partial redemption at the amount equal to
HK$362,271.85 (the “Partial Redemption Amount”)
per each bond) shall not be redeemed (such bonds
in respect of which such election is made) (the
“Retained Bonds"); (iii) on the Optional Redemption
Date, all Retained Bonds will be partially redeemed
at the Partial Redemption Amount, whereupon
the outstanding principal amount of such Retained
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated M 7T

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(@

(continued)

Bond shall be reduced by the Partial Redemption
Amount for all purposes; (iv) on the Optional
Redemption Date, all convertible bonds other than
Retained Bonds shall be redeemed in full by the
Company at their outstanding amount together
with accrued but unpaid interest to such date;
and (v) removal of the Company’s existing right to
early redemption exercisable after 4 February 2017;
(d) modification of the interest rate whereby the
convertible bonds bear interest from and including 4
February 2013 but excluding 4 February 2018 at the
rate of 7.25% per annum and thereafter at 8.5%
per annum, and in the event that the Company
does not issue the Optional Redemption Notice, the
interest rate shall increase to 11% per annum with
effect from and including 4 November 2018; (e)
modification to the conversion period so that the
conversion right in respect of a convertible bond may
only be exercised at the option of the bondholder
at any time on or after 5 November 2018; (f)
reduction in the conversion price to HK$0.0618;
and (g) removal of Conversion Price Reset provision
in the existing terms and conditions of the 2016
Convertible Bonds.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

(@

(continued)

The 2018 Convertible Bonds Restructure was
approved by a written resolution of the bondholders
and by the shareholders at the Company’s special
general meeting on 5 January 2018 and 31
January 2018 respectively. On 2 February 2018, the
Company completed the 2018 Convertible Bonds
Restructure and paid the Principal Paydown Amount
plus 20% of the accrued interest in an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$78 million to the
bondholders. The total outstanding principal amount
of the 2016 Convertible Bonds of approximately
HK$376 million reduced to approximately HK$312
million at 2 February 2018 and will be repayable
on 4 August 2019. Details of the 2018 Convertible
Bonds Restructure are set out in the Company's
circular on 15 January 2018 and the Company’s
announcements between 21 December 2017 and 2
Februrary 2018.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

25. DEFERRED TAX 25. ?E%ﬁﬁlﬁ
(a) Deferred tax liabilities recognised (a) EERELNIBEER
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised FARERE T IR R R
in the consolidated statement of financial position BT IE R BERD R HE
and the movements during the year are as follows: E) N
Depreciation
allowance in
excess of
related
depreciation
Intangible RERE
assets BEE Others Total
BYEE  WENEE Hitr ot
Note HKS$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
ik TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2016 RZE-~E—HA—H 580,644 12,166 6,483 599,293
Exchange adjustments [Raﬂ (37,526) (1316) (679) (39,521)
Acquisition of subsidiaries Wﬁﬁﬁ N - — 24,234 24,234
(Credited)/charged BREGIA)/ Mk
to consolidated
income statement 7a) (15,140 7,555 699 (6,886)

At31December 2016 RZE—1F

+-A=+-EH 527,978 18,405 30,737 577,120

At 1 January 2017 RZE—+F-F—H 527,978 18,405 30,737 577,120

Exchange adjustments [ i F1% 39,282 1,820 1,822 42,924
Acquisition of subsidiary Yt & 2 & (Fi13 32)

(Note 32) — - 38 38

(Credited)/charged MEABRRGEA) /1
to consolidated
income statement 7(a) (17,019) 11,838 (210) (5.391)

At31December 2017 R=ZE—+%F
+=-A=1+—-H 550,241 32,063 32,387 614,691
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 3R 2R B =

As at 31 December 2017, temporary differences
relating to the undistributed profits of the Group's
PRC subsidiaries of approximately to HK$1,721
million (2016: HK$1,773 million) and the related
deferred tax liabilities of approximately HK$172
million (2016: HK$177 million) have not been
recognised in these financial statements. In the
opinion of the Company’s directors, the Group
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries
and it has been determined that it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute profits in the
foreseeable future.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2017, the
Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of cumulative tax losses of approximately
HK$19 million (2016: HK$19 million) as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses of the
Group do not expire under current tax legislation.

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s

26.

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)
25. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25. IELEBIE (&)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities not (b) AERELHEBEEER
recognised =N

RZZE—+F+=-A=+—
H BRANSEEPENEB
RAEZ KD IKEF 2 B =
BEHB1721B8EBT(=ZE
—NFE17IB3EEET)
MiEEELERIBEEN 1728
EAT(ZE—XRF 1778
BET) AR ST B ®RE
R ARBIEERE A%
EZHZENE AR ZREK
K WRARAUTERLREKZSE
Bﬁ%;\aﬁ—fﬁ A/\/ﬁ/ﬁu
F o

Br EXXCRTIRBEEI - RZF
—t&F+=-_A=+—8"
REBRERREBRH
BHEBHIBEEEL(ZE
—ARFI9BEBBIL) L
MBEE RARMEBERG
AEEERERTRA T
AT ALK EZEEBER 2R
RIERT @K o REE 2B
BEERE B BT %A 6
TEEIH -

RAF it

A EEEA S R BHRET
S KAk B MR R GR A s
B3 o ADAE EREERBHR
BEMNEERZBHEEMT -

individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the reporting period are set out below:
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e B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 26. RA K f#s (&)
The Company N
Convertible
bond
equity
Share Share  Contributed reserve Capital ~ Accumulated
capital premium surplus THRRES resrve losses Total
it RriE Edas BERR ErdR ithE 2

#5000 HS000 #5000 S 000 8000 #5000 S 000
FAT 7ET AT FET iz 7AT 7ET
(notss (¢) (note(¢)
(mote ) (rotes(a) &0/} frote(a)&(c)f) 2 i
W) (i (W&
() Jil) o Wiz (el

At 1 January 2017 N-E-tE-F-A 1,731,240 5,611,589 - - 10429 (1,603,635) 5,955,623
Changes in equity for 2017; “E-tE7RERE:
Total comprehensive ERrEEBLE

lossfor the year - - - - - (178,283) (178,283)
Transfer of share premium account RiEERET RS

to contrbuted surplus - (5,611,589) 5,611,589 - - - -
Lapse ofshare options ERELN = = = = (114,918) 114,918 -
At 31 December 2017 HoE-tE+2A=1-R 1,737,240 - 5,611,589 - 95,511 (1,667,000) 5777,340
At 1 January 2016 W-E-AE-F-R 689,879 4578060 - 20 126715 (1,153671) 443,18
Changes in equity for 2016; “E-REJRRT.
Total comprehensiie ERrEERER

lossfor the year - - - - - (508,067) (508,067)
s of new shares upon the E-RETAREREER

2016 Convertble Bonds Restructure B 147033 202,906 - - - - 349,939
Exinguishment upon 2016 Convertble IREAREREAR

Bond Restructure i - - - 2203 - 687 (1516)
lsue of new shares upon loan EHERRBATRG

capitalisation 74640 62,697 - - - - 131337
s of new shres by share BERhIEREE

subscriptions and placements B 614736 516,379 - - - - 1,131,115
lsue ofnew shares upon WENBL RIS

acquisiton of subsidiaries 204388 21518 - - - - 449 566
s of new shares upon conversion ShTARRERK

of comerte bonds LUl 1576 183 - - - - 3409
st of new shares upon exercie fEERERLTIRN

of share option 5028 8675 - - (3703) - 10,000
Transaction costs atributable BARNIEREESH

to sue of new shares by share DR A

subscriptions and placements = (4179 = = = = (4179
Fquity-ettled share-based payments WREEE ROERTH = = = = 144833 - 14483
Lapse ofshare options BlEsi = £ = = (57416 57416 -
At 31 December 2016 R-E-A§+2A=1-R 1,737,240 5,611,589 oy e 210429 (1,603,635) 5,955,613
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % SRR Y R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SA& T3l

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(@)  Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the extraordinary
meeting by the Company’s shareholders on 27 November

N

 BRABATIESN)

2017, the Company has taken the following events:

(i) cancellation of the entire amount standing to
the credit of the share premium account of the
Company of approximately HK$5,611,589,000 and
to transfer the credit arising from such cancellation
to an account designated as the contributed surplus
account of the Company before the change of

domicile becoming effective on 12 December 2017,

(i)  change the domicile of the Company from the
Cayman Islands to Bermuda by way of de-registration
in the Cayman Islands and continuation as an
exempted company under the laws of Bermuda with

effect from 12 December 2017; and

(i) implemented the capital reorganisation (the “Capital
Reorganisation”) after the change of domicile
becoming effective which comprises the following:
(a) the issued share capital of the Company was
reduced through a cancellation of the paid-up capital
of the Company to the extent of HK$0.12 on each
of the issued existing shares such that the nominal
value of each issued existing share was reduced from
HK$0.125 to HK$0.005; (b) immediately following
the capital reduction taking effect, all the authorised
but unissued share capital of the Company (which
shall include the authorised but unissued share
capital arising from the capital reduction) was
cancelled in its entirety and forthwith upon such
cancellation, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased to HK$150 million by the
creation of such number of additional new shares as
shall be sufficient to increase the authorised share
capital of the Company to HK$150 million divided
into 30,000 million new shares; and (c) the credit
arising in the books of the Company from the capital
reduction was credited to the contributed surplus
account of the Company. The Capital Reorganisation
was completed on 2 January 2018, a credit of
approximately HK$1,668 million arisen from the
capital reduction was transferred to the contributed

surplus account of the Company.

Details of the above are set out in the Company's circular
on 2 November 2017 and the Company’s announcements
on 12 October 2017, 27 November 2017, 12 December

2017 and 2 January 2018.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) Share capital

Authorised and issued share capital

Note
[iE:3
Authorised: AERA
Ordinary sharesof ~ BREME0.1258T
HK$0.125 each LER
At 1 January R—A—H
Increase during REREM
the year (i)
At 31 December “+ZA=1+-H
Ordinary shares BRAB0.125%T
of HK$0.125each,  EER, ERTRAR:
issued and fully paid:
At 1 January iz =
Issue of new shares ZE-RFUBRES

upon 2016 Convertible ~ EA%E1THMRL
Bonds Restructure
Issue of new shares ERENERTHRS
upon loan
capitalisations
Issue of new shares by EBRHAE REE
share subscriptions BTHRG
and placements
Issue of new shares KENBLARETHRG
upon acquisitions

of subsidiaries
Issue of new R Rk ER%
shares upon BIHRG

conversion of
convertible bonds
Issue of new shares TEBRERRTHRR
upon exercise of
share options

At 31 December wt-A=1+-8

26. AR wHfE(E)

(b) A7
JETER BT
2017 2016
“E-tf “ERE

Number Number

of shares of shares

RAOEE BGEE
‘000 HKS000 000 HK$000
i FET it FET
20,000,000 2,500,000 10,000,000 1,250,000
10,000,000 1,250,000 10,000,000 1,250,000
30,000,000 3,750,000 20,000,000 2,500,000
13,897,919 1,737,240 5,519,031 639,879
— — 1,176,265 147,033
— — 597,120 74,640
= = 4,917,889 614,736
= = 1,634,783 204,348
= = 12,606 1,576
= = 40,225 5,028
13,897,919 1,737,240 13,897,919 1,737,240

EREXAEBMAERD A
—E-—tEER

191



192

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) Share capital (continued)

Authorised and issued share capital (continued)

Notes:

(i

By an ordinary resolution passed at the annual
general meeting of the Company on 22 June
2017, the Company’s authorised ordinary share
capital was increased from HK$2,500 million to
HK$3,750 million by the creation of additional
10,000 million ordinary shares of $0.125 each.
These shares rank pari passu in all respects
with the then existing ordinary shares of the
Company.

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(1)

(i1)

(i)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the transfer
of the credit arising from the cancellation of
share premium of the Company (note 26(a)).
The contributed surplus is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of
the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to employees of the
Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 2(r)(ii). Details of the share
option schemes of the Company are disclosed
in note 31 to the financial statements.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises the exchange
differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the Group’s operations
outside Hong Kong.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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26. RA N #E @)
(b) BEA (%)
SEEREEFTRAE ()

GEE

(i)

(c) fEtE

(1)

(i)

(itf)

BEARR ZE—+F
NAZTFZHER#T 2K
RAFAKE LBABL—
THERRZEER ﬁﬂﬁg

HMEEE 10,000 B B E
Hxﬁfaonza%nﬁﬂ i
BIE  ARBZIEAEE

AR AH2,5008 &8
TN E3, 7508 &8
e ZERHESHE
HARREFZREBYL
BRZEAR SR o

HE N AE

Vo
EHAERIBERTHEHA
AR R B E AR EER

(Mt3x26(a)) - B A
D/)E%$Aﬁjﬁ§$ °©

pur
51'\

0|

B
ERARBERERTAR
AEB ZRI1TEERE
ERSEFEE 2T
B - 2R EE2(n)(i)
RBLLARR D B E 5 2
RN 2 & 5T BUR T
aﬂ o NN A IRAERT &

2 BB S AR MY 5T
31HFE o

[E 7 71
[EREEREASER
BERBBINET 2 W
RETHREMEE 2 —
PIEH 258 o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 26. BA R #E®)

() Nature and purpose of reserves (continued) () "EMHERAZEW®W)
(iv)  Statutory reserves (v) SEEE
Statutory surplus reserves JEEBEREIE

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to transfer 10% of their net profit,
as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of their registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distribution
of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to make
good previous years' losses, if any, and may
be converted into share capital by the issue of
new shares to shareholders in proportion to
their existing shareholdings or by increasing the
par value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the balance after such issue is
not less than 25% of their registered capital.

Safety production fund

Pursuant to the relevant regulations in the PRC,
the Group's subsidiaries are required to transfer
safety production fund at fixed rates based

BEFE e RA KA
B+ A S B R R E 2B
BAEIEZ10% 2 Fi
MBA LT BB
BEERERBESED
HAMEARZ250% - &
BEZIERE N ARE
f& B kA% B RTHETT ©

ATEBRFEEA BIER
MAEFEZ BRI
B LAERBREREE
BERBRHRLOIETT
ity - SREEIE R
BRFEZBRPEE
KOAERBRFERERR
P - EEITRDRZ
BHRIAGINEMER
Z25% °

LEEERD

RIFFBIREBER - &
SB 2B RRARE
FRETeEAZRE

on a specific amount of volume of gold ores EMNEEBRT2EER
excavated to a specific reserve account. The SERRIFEERP - %
fund is used for improvements of safety of the EcARAEBRSELE
mines and is not available for distribution to the RAAHREDE - B
shareholders. Upon incurring qualifying safety BAESERNLERAY
expenditure, an equivalent amount would be B RSB GDER
transferred from safety production fund to BREHEEESERE
retained profits. st e

i3
s
13
A
i)
- at

2 ol

7
5
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAZSTLAIR + R BB FTHESN)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(v)  Convertible bonds equity reserve
The convertible bonds equity reserve comprises
the value of the unexercised equity component
of convertible bonds issued by the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for convertible bonds in note

2(p) (i).

(vi)  Share premium

Under section 34 of the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is available for distribution
to shareholders subject to the provisions of the
Articles of Association of the Company which
was in effect before the change of domicile
becoming effective on 12 December 2017 and
no distribution may be paid to shareholders
out of the share premium account unless,
immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid,
the Company shall be able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 27
November 2017, the change of domicile of the
Company from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda
was approved by the shareholders. The change
of domicile of the Company was subsequently
completed on 12 December 2017. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the funds in
the share premium account of the Company
may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

(d) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2017, the aggregate amount
of reserves available for distribution to owners
of the Company was HK$3,944,589,000 (2016:
HK$4,007,954,000), which included the balances
of contributed surplus (2016: share premium) and
accumulated losses, provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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26. AR wHfE(E)

(c)

EEEE R ARG

(v) AR IESE D RS
Ak EsFERFEER
M 7 2(p)(i) 1= R BE
AT E A5 RN 2 g5
BREREANEEZET
AR EHFRITERE
B EIEE ©

i) B wmE
BRERESEHS X RE
(f/ H—J—)%341|7K ViNE/N
AR E—tF+ =
A+ = BE M ERA &
RmEBRPAIRE AR
ERZHATMBREEST
Dl AR AR D &
BEERPRAKRRETD
RzAERGEHRERDR
T &5 B2k R AR
BEWREZEXN A
BRANRRIBRNEN
FHELKEBRIERE
EHEB BREBE_-Z
—tF+—HA=++tH
%\‘ﬁm LRSS

TSR R L $
Tﬁﬁxﬁ%ﬁﬁ
%Kﬁ%'ﬁ@ﬂ%%
RZZE—+tF+ = A
T AEXEM - BRI
(BERBEE—NAN—
FRRE) AREIR
BEZRERPFNES
AJ 3 38 AR 32 AR A B 2 =
HEITHR o

(d) —Hﬁ“dfﬁfnﬁﬁ

—+F + = A
E+—E| a#oIR T A
RAIBBAZHBBRER
3,944,589,000/% (= =
— 7N £ :4,007,954,000 %
L) BREEHRBHZE
—NF RDEE) RBRETE
Brith HEEREZEIEK
REHHEE  AREARE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debts divided by total equity plus net
debts. The Group’s net debts include bank and other
borrowings, financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and convertible bonds, less cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits. The Group’s
total equity comprises total issued share capital and
reserves of the Group. The gearing ratio at the end
of the reporting periods is as follows:

Total debts BIHAETE
Less: Pledged deposits B BEERER
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEFEED
Net debts FRIE
Total equity HarEs

Total equity and net debts

Gearing ratio BEEREBEE

26. AR wHfE(E)

(e) EXRERE

AEBERERAZHEZRR
TIREARE B e G BERIE
FEKEARELE  {ETE
18 52 [ g 7K 7 A8 B R 2 EE
KRG EBAREREEK
AZBE BERRREIE
Bl SEMED ABIEE

o

B

AEBANBEEABLER(A
AR ERR A EE R IFE
H)EEER REBEZF
ERBRRITREMER
FREREATEIEZS
BEE N RESRER
T RREFEMRE AT
o REHEZ BEDBRA
SEDHTRARE R
B RBEMRZEERE
[/ S (1

[l

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
5,018,945 5,105,258
(612,155) (1,018,472)
(142,039) (105,595)
4,264,751 3,981,191
7,209,880 7,241,089

s R MR ER

11,474,631 11,222,280

37% 35%
EREAEEARARAA
ZTE-LEEEHR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

26. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher returns to the owners of the
Company that might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments
to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions. There were no changes in the
Group's approach to capital management during the
year.

Except for share charge of certain subsidiaries of
which details are set out in note 28, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements during the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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26. AR wHfE(E)

(e) EXEE (&)

AR B EEY R R
BREM  REHAR TR
BABBERATLER S
8B T RAR BB B A M
RFEHEBRRER 2R
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BT AREEARE - FR
AR EAAEIE Y R
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Deposit paid for fixed assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Amounts due
from subsidiaries

Other receivables,
deposits and
prepayments

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Other payables
Bank and other borrowings
Convertible bonds

Total current liabilities

FRBEE
B AR ZKE
HEEEEMTIRE

FRBEERE

RBEE
Ry = NCIE |

Hip e s ~ e M
B RIR

RE-RHEED N

BekReEHEY

RBEELE

RBAE

eI BB & R RIA
H b & 5RR
RITREME R
QE:JiEes

RBARELE

Net current (liabilities)/assets K& (8 &) BEFHE

Total assets less
current liabilities

REERMBAEE

27. RRAT) 2B #EARREK

2017 2016
—2—+tF —E-RF
HKS$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
7,229,641 7,229,641
3,162 3,162
7,232,803 7,232,803
282,892 480,737
17,504 19,272
— 3,299
53,698 38,570
354,094 541,878
298,527 14,743
64,834 32,288
54,782 362,989
385,460 —
803,603 410,020
(449,509) 131,858
6,783,294 7,364,661
EREAEEARARAA
ZTE-LEEEHR
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B R R MR
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)
27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 27. RRR 2B BRI T (@)
THE COMPANY (continued)
2017 2016
—E—+fF —E—RF
Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FAT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMER 1,005,954 1,009,900
Convertible bonds Al AR E S — 368,308
Derivative financial PTESRMIA
instruments — 30,830
Total non-current liabilities ERBEELATE 1,005,954 1,409,038
NET ASSETS EEFE 5,777,340 5,955,623
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRARfHE 26
Share capital & 7 1,737,240 1,737,240
Reserves fHE 4,040,100 4,218,383
TOTAL EQUITY EATEBA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO PE{h R4
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 5,777,340 5,955,623

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of KEFEeN _T— ) \F=ZA=-thB#%

directors on 29 March 2018. AEWFFRI R o
Mr. Liu Liyang Mr. Chen Sheng
B hmErE FR B S 4
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
e 7T Aa
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

28. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's assets with the
following carrying amounts were pledged to secure bank
and other borrowings (note 23(a)) and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (note 19(b)):

Intangible assets — mining rights 2 & & — SR

Fixed assets Bl E & E

Available-for-sale investments AfEERE

Financial assets at fair value BATEFABRZ
through profit or loss CRIEE

Pledged deposits EHEMER

Except as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, all
issued shares of six (2016: six) subsidiaries of the Company
were subject to share charge as security pledged for the
Group’s bank and other borrowings (note 23(a)) and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (note
19(b)).

28.

Note
ihE=2

12(a)
13
15

19(a)
20

EERH

R-ZZE—+F+=-A=+—08 &K
SEUTERAEZ EED AR KT
RITREMERMFE23@) A &
FRBEREAFEIEZEMAERE
(FFEE19(b)) -

2017 2016
—¥-—tF T AF
HKS$°000 HK$'000
FRT T
2,174,843 2,903,813
816,326 1,298,933
251,958 117,128

— 253,808

612,155 1,018,472
3,855,282 5,592,154

B biised  R-T—tF+ A
=t+—B ARAAE(ZE—-RX
FrRABINBRARZAADET
B EREREBERTREMER
(M EE23@) A RBEBIERE AT
B zEBAEPIE190)) 2
Pty A

Wt
B
s
13
A A
i)
- at

2 ol

7
5
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

29. SUBSIDIARIES

(@  The following list contains only the particulars of the
principal subsidiaries of the Group at 31 December
2017. The class of shares of those subsidiaries which
were incorporated outside the PRC held is ordinary

unless otherwise stated.

Name of Company

ARLE

China Precious Metal
Resources Co., Limited
HEEEBARERAT

Able Supplement Limited

Decent Connection Overseas
Limited

Wah Heen Holdings Limited
ERERARLA

Sinowise Century Limited

Munsun Asset Management
(Asia) Limited
RREEER(TH)BRAA

Munsun Securities Limited
REESERAT

Hongkong Realking
Mining Industry Ltd.
BAREREARAA

edd Annual Report 2017

Place of
incorporation/
operations
e/
e

BVI/Hong Kong
ABRABB/FR

BVI/Hong Kong
ZERAER/ B

BVIHong Kong
LBRAKEE/EE

BVIHong Kong
RERAER/ B

BVI/Hong Kong
RERABE/ B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
i

mh

Hong Kong
#

oH

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED

Issued and

fully paid-up
share capital/
registered capital
BRTRAR
Ra/EREs

Uss2
VES

US§50,000
50,000 %

US$50,000
50,000 % T

US$10,000
10,000%7

USs1
X7

HK$10,000,000
10,000,000 &7

HK$95,140,000
95,140,000/57

HK$10,000
10,0007

29. ffEB A F

(@ TREINHFAEBER_-Z
—tF+-_A=+—HZ=E
ENBRAEICER -BREHE
HIBASN - FTFFZ SRR EIR
HNTE A SZ 2 BT B A B R 1D
BRI ALK -

Proportion of ownership interest

RRERELA
Group's Held Held
effective by the bya
interest Company  subsidiary Principal
1] HALH H-HE activities
ERER 52} AABE IERH
% % %
100 100 - Investment
holding
REER
100 - 100 Investment
holding
RERK
100 - 100 Investment
holding
RERR
100 - 100 Investment
holding
REER
100 - 100 Investment
holding
RERR
100 100 —  Asset management and
advisory service
EEER AR
100 100 = Securities brokerage
Exig
100 = 100 Investment
holding
RARR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

29. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 29. ffB A TF (&)
(@) (continued) (@) (%)

Proportion of ownership interest

BREERLA

Place of Issued and Group's Held Held

incorporation/ fully paid-up/ effective by the bya
operations registered capital interest Company  subsidiary Principal
Name of Company HBAL/ BRARAR/ A58 BAAT BB activities
AIER e g BERER <L) AABA IERH

% % %
Hongkong T&R Mining Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 - 100 Investment
Investment Limited Bk 10,0007 7 holding
BARRBEREARAT RERK
Kong Chun Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 100 - 100 Investment
Limited B 1,000%7 holding
BREBARAT REZR
Fast Trend Investment Limited ~ Hong Kong HKS 1 100 - 100 Investment
LERERRAA Bk 1T holding
REHR
Chifeng Yongfeng Kuangye ~ The PRC RMB40,820,000 100 - 100 Mining and
Co,, Ltd. (note (i) # AR 40,820,000 processing of gold
TEXERFEREL ores and sale
N () of gold products
SRR NIR
EREDHE
Luanchuan County The PRC RMB122,450,000 100 - 100 Mining and
Jinxing Mining Co,, Ltd. ~~ #F AR122,450,0007T processing of gold
(note (i) ores and sale
B RBLXARER of gold products
2 (H0) LW NI
ERERHE
Luanchuan County The PRC RMB102,050,000 100 = 100 Mining and
Luanling Gold Mine HE AR102,050,0007 processing of gold
Co., Ltd. (note (i) ores and sale
R ERBLRERARD of gold products
(HzEG) SBFER - MIR
REEMPE

BREAEH A
A -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

29. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(@) (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

operations
Name of Company HRRTL/
ARER e

Mojiang County Mining The PRC
Co., Ltd. (note (i) i
BIERXARELAR
(KrEE)

Pu'er Hengyi Mining Co,, Ltd ~ The PRC
(note () k]
EERGRIAREL
Aa (A

Kai Yuan Financial Leasing The PRC
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (note (i)
SEREEE (M) ARAR
(&)

Shenzhen Munsun Asset The PRC
Management Company i
Limited (note (i)

MmEREERRAA

(Ktx)

Zhuhai Munsun Asset The PRC
Management Co,, Lid. EF
(note (i)

HERRARERERAR

(KizE(i)

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

Issued and

fully paid-up/
registered capital
BRORER/
iR

RMB102,050,000
ARH102,050,0007T

RMB102,050,000
AEH102,050,0007

RMB150,000,000
AR 150,000,000 T

RMB17,857,140
AR 1785714070

RMB1,000,000
AR#1,000,0007

29. M A T ()

(@ (&)
Proportion of ownership interest
BREERLA

Group's Held Held

effective by the bya
interest Company  subsidiary Principal
A%H NG} H-HE activities
BERER <L) AABA IERH

% % %
100 - 100 Mining and
processing of gold
ores and sale
of gold products
LRFR - IR
EREDHE
100 - 100 Mining and
processing of gold
ores and sale
of gold products
SBRR  MIR
BEEMPE
100 - 100 Provision of financing
services
RURERS
100 - 100 Asset management and
advisory service
EEEE IR
100 - 100 Investment
holding
REZR
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29. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

29. B R (&)

(continued) (a) (&)
Notes: MIEE -
(i)  These subsidiaries established in the PRC are wholly () PR ZFARBA

foreign-owned enterprises.

(i) This subsidiary established in the PRC is limited (ii)

liability company.

(i) The English names of all above PRC subsidiaries are (iii)

for identification purpose only.

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Net liabilities disposed of:
Fixed assets

Deposits paid for fixed assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other payables

Tax payable

Release of capital reserves
Release of exchange reserve

Gain on disposal of
subsidiaries (note 5)

Satisified by Cash

Net Cash inflow from disposal
Consideration received in cash and
cash equivalents
Less: Cash and cash
equivalents disposed of

AESIEEEDLE -

WA BRI Z B AR A
BREMERT -

NE2EPEMBRRZ
KX EREEHRBANZA -

(b) HEMBARWER

2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
FET
EHESEFEHE:
BEE&E 37
MEETEESMNZEE 194
BeNREEEY 2,585
E et IR (5,234)
e RLIE (15,907)
(18,325)
BRI B NS (2,144)
% bR 5 7,995
(12,474)
HEN B R T
(MIzES5) 21,764
LAIR & S 1+ 9,290
2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
FET
HEEECHESFERA
BEUWIRE MRS EEBY
RE 9,290
B EHERE R
REeEEYD (2,585)
6,705
ERERE B R 2 A
TE- Lt EER

203
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

30. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 30. ETRAKREF

204

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities in the PRC
whereby the Group is required to make contributions to
the Schemes at a rate ranging from 13% to 20% (2016:
13% to 20%) of the eligible employees’ salaries. The
local government authorities are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group has no obligation for the payment of pension
benefits associated with those schemes beyond the annual
contributions described above.

The total costs charged to consolidated income statement
of HK$8,211,000 (2016: HK$7,470,000) represent
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group
during the year.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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RIEPE 2 RS TG REE -
ANEE 2 i B A A B 5 R
JITHE A B 37 2 FE REAR IR AR B KR
EI(TEHEID) - Bt - NEEAERET
EER M SHEUAEREESY
£ 2Z13% E20% (=T — N F -
13% £20% )T E © #1757 BT
BEMEKEEZEEHIRKSE -

REBIREEHARFERTESH
EHED - RIZBBRERIHEET
ZEEXRIBFIMATELTE([HE
BeitEll)  ceESTEE—E
MBIV EEABE 2 TEHIURIK
ETEl - RIERESE - EXRHE
B BB HFHEIEL iRE BRI
AZS5%ETEZHR - MBAFE
2 AWK A PR &30,000%
7T © stEl—B{EH KAV R o

B Dt B F RN ANEE RS E
SRR BEFE AR BT -

RirEEBERANTRZBEER
8,211,000 (= & — X & :
7,470,000 8 L) EA K ERF A
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has two share option schemes: the 2004
Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

The 2004 Share Option Scheme was adopted by a
resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders on 18
September 2004 whereby the directors of the Company
were authorised, at their discretion, to invite directors
and employees of the Group, to take up options to
subscribe for shares of the Company up to a maximum
of 160,000,000 shares. By a resolution passed by the
Company's shareholders on 26 May 2011, the Company
refreshed the limit in respect of the granting of share
options under the 2004 Share Option Scheme and all
other share options scheme up to 10% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue. The
2004 Share Option Scheme would be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years ended on 17 September 2014. By
a resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders on 30
May 2014, the 2004 Share Option Scheme was terminated
and thereafter no further options would be offered or
granted under the 2004 Share Option Scheme. However,
outstanding options granted under the 2004 Share Option
Scheme remain valid and exercisable.

31.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 3R 2R B =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)
31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 31. UREGE2ROERR
TRANSACTIONS (continued) (&)

206

The 2014 Share Option Scheme was adopted by a
resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders on 30
May 2014. The 2014 Share Option Scheme provides that
the board of the directors of the Company (the “Board”)
may specify the eligible participants to whom the options
shall be granted. The eligible participants include directors,
employees, suppliers, customers, consultants, agents
and advisers of the Company and its subsidiaries and
any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has
contributed or may contribute to the Group in recognition
of their contribution to the Group. The Board shall
determine the exercise price of option in accordance
with the terms of the 2014 Share Option Scheme, which
cannot in any event fall below the price stipulated in the
Listing Rules. The maximum number of the ordinary shares
of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not
in aggregate exceed 10% (i.e. 435,127,903 shares) of the
ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at the date
when the 2014 Share Option Scheme was approved and
adopted. The existing scheme mandate limit in respect of
the granting of options to subscribe for shares under the
2014 Share Option Scheme was refreshed and renewed
at the an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 19 September 2016. The maximum number of
the ordinary shares of the Company upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 10% (ie. 1,385,769,378 shares)
of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at
19 September 2016 being the date of approval of the
refreshment of the existing scheme mandate limit. The
2014 Share Option Scheme was effective on 4 June 2014
and will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from that date. During the year ended 31 December 2016,
1,385,769,378 options were granted under the 2014
Share Option Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The exercise price of options under the 2004 Share Option
Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme is at least the
highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the Company's shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on
the date on which an offer of an option is made by
the Company to the grantee (which date must be a
business day);

(i) a price being the average of the closing prices of the
Company'’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and

(i) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the 2004 Share
Option Scheme and 2014 Share Option Scheme, the
maximum number of ordinary shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2004
Share Option Scheme and 2014 Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company shall not
exceed 30% of the total number of ordinary shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 31. UREEE ZRDERR
TRANSACTIONS (continued) 2 (48)
2014 Share Option Scheme —E-NFEERETS
(@) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed (a) FARBEBERD 2 G
during the year are as follows, whereby all options RARHEWT - Bt FIERE
are settled by physical delivery of shares: PRIELARR D 2 BEMRWAEE
Number of shares

issuable under
options granted

REERE
B ERF Vesting conditions Exercise period
BITRO<BE BEKRH TEEH
‘000
TR
Options granted
on 12 October 2016
R-B—XRE
t+A+=H
Bz BRE
Directors£% 612,000 Immediate on the date of the 3 years from the
options granted date of the
REHEREEH options granted
BB
HEEst =5
Employees(& & 283,000 Immediate on the date of the 3 years from the
options granted date of the
REHEREE B options granted
B R
HEEst =5
ConsultantsEa [ 490,769 Immediate on the date of the 3 years from the
options granted date of the
REHEREE B options granted
BB
HEEst =5
1,385,769
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(b)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of
share options are as follows:

Outstanding at
1 January

Granted during
the year

Exercised during
the year

Lapsed during
the year

Outstanding at
31 December

Exercisable at
31 December

—RA-RHATHR

REARIH

REATE

RERXN

TZA=+-H
HALTE

tZA=+-H
1T

31. UREEE 2RO ERR
2 (18)

—E-NERERESEE)
(b) FERRAEER K0T T

BT :
2017 2016
“E-tE ;3

Number of Number of

shares shares

issuable issuable

under under

Weighted options  Weighted options
average granted average granted
exercise REBRH exercise REEEH
price  Exercise  BRET price Exercise  BRMRET
T pricc  FEORH  ETS pice  TE{TRH
& T8 o (] 18 18 288
HKS HK$ ‘000 HKS HKS '000
BT BT TR BT BT T
0.2486 02486 1,342,544 - - -
— — — 0.2486 0.2486 1,385,769
— — — 0.2486 0.2486 (40,225)
0.2486 0.2486 (443,275) 0.2486 0.2486 (3,000)
0.2486 0.2486 899,269 0.2486 0.2486 1,342,544
0.2486 0.2486 899,269 0.2486 02486 1,342,544
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF R R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(© () No options were exercised to subscribe for
ordinary shares of the Company during the
year. The options were exercised to subscribe
for 40,225,000 ordinary shares of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2016.

(i) The share options outstanding at 31 December
2017 had an exercise price of HK$0.2486 and
a weighted average remaining contractual life
of 1.78 years.

(d)  Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the
fair value of options granted is measured based on
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model. The contractual
life of options is used as an input into this model.
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 31 UREBEE 2ROERR
TRANSACTIONS (continued) 2 (18)
2014 Share Option Scheme (continued) —E-MFERESE(E)
(d) Fair value of share options and assumptions (dy BREREATFEREBRE)
(continued)
Fair value of share options and assumptions are as BiRE s A TERBERAT
follows:
Directors Employees Consultants
BE=x 3= &
Fair value at REtEBEZ
measurement NEEGET)
date (HK$) 0.106 0.092 0.110
Share price (HK$) RE(ET) 0.245 0.245 0.245
Exercise price (HK$)  T7{EE(ET) 0.2486 0.2486 0.2486
Expected volatility (%) FEHR &) (%) 72 72 72
Option life (expressed  B& A% # 45 HA
as weight average RNk
life) (years) FH)(F) 3 3 3
Expected dividends — FEHARL B & (%)
yield (%) 0 0 0
Risk-free interest rate & & £l &
(based on Exchange (3% HINE
Fund Notes) (%) EEEE) (%) 0.62 0.62 0.62
The expected volatility is based on the historical TRHIRE DA LR E R E
volatility adjusted for any expected changes to future ERBARABER 2 BH
volatility based on publicly available information. RN EFMIELTHEE
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends. TEEIR B D IRE £ IR B R K
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could B BB A2HEBERE
materially affect the fair value estimate. B H A TEZHEEX
BEATE -
Share options were granted under a service HE I W T AR IR AR A 6 T %
condition. The condition has not been taken into He lWIEHTEMNAGTE
account in the grant date fair value measurement FIERBREL BB AT
of the services received. There were no market B AL BEREN BN
conditions associated with the share options granted. S -
(e) The fair value of the share options granted under @ = EEE = % = B

the 2014 Share Option Scheme of HK$144,833,000
was fully recognised in equity-settled share-based
payment expenses and the capital reserve of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2016.

=+t—HILEE BE_F
— VU G BB S A T B BB AR
¥ 7 N F{E 144,833,000 8
TEREERAENEE AR
BEEZROHERTHER
NE AR -
EREAXEEERADT
TE- Lt EER



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF R R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2004 Share Option Scheme

(@ The terms and conditions of the grants that existed
during the year are as follows, whereby all options
are settled by physical delivery of shares:

31. LR E R BB
2 (58)
—FEME MR
(a) FARBEEERDZHENX

FARFIS - R FRARE
PRAEARL D 2 BRI AEE

Number of shares
issuable under
options granted

Contractual life

RECREBRE Vesting conditions of options
AFRTRGZBE BRI BREZANFH
‘000
7
Options granted
on 28 October 2011
R-B-——F
+tRA=+NR
Rz BRE
Tranche 1
F—#t
— Directors 33,600 24 months from date of grant 6 years
-&% B SR -+ EEA 6F
— Employees 46,830 24 months from date of grant 6 years
—EE8 BB -+ EEA 6F
— Consultants 19,500 24 months from date of grant 6 years
— B H SR -+ EEA 6%
99,930
Tranche 2
st
— Directors 44,800 36 months from date of grant 6 years
-5 B4 BEHRF=1ER 6F
— Employees 62,440 36 months from date of grant 6 years
—E& B H BRI =1+RER 6F
— Consultants 26,000 36 months from date of grant 6 years
— B&R LB =1EA 64
133,240
Tranche 3
E=Ht
— Directors 33,600 48 months from date of grant 6 years
&% B E B+ /\E A 6 F
— Employees 46,830 48 months from date of grant 6 years
—E& B & H BRI+ \EA 6
— Consultants 19,500 48 months from date of grant 6 years
— R B B s m+ N\ @A 64
99,930
Total number of
shares issuable 333,100

A FRITID 2 B2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2004 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(b)  The number and weighted average exercise prices of
share options are as follows:

Outstanding at
1 January
Tranche 1
Tranche 2
Tranche 3

Total

Exercised during
the year

Lapsed during
the year
Tranche 1
Tranche 2
Tranche 3

Total

Outstanding at
31 December
Tranche 1
Tranche 2
Tranche 3

Total

—RA-BHRTE

.
=

‘%FHI Tﬂﬁ Eid
IR

o
=

5t

RERTTE

RERXH

-
=

FFHI Tﬂﬂi Eid
IR

o
=

5t

Weighted
average
exercise

price
T
T8
HK$
B

1.15

1.15

1.15

31. UREEE 2RO ERR
2 (18)

S TMERRES ()

(b) MEEMREEE RMNEFHITE
BT
2017 2016
ZE-tF “ERF
Number of Number of
shares shares
issuable issuable
under under
options  Weighted options
granted average granted
REERE exercise REERE
Exercise BT price Brercse  FERRIER
pricc  FERORG  METH pice  TETRG
e Z¥H IhE IhE LHE
HKS ‘000 HK$ HK$ '000
B TR BT BT T&
1.15 32,730 1.51 59,850
1.15 43,640 1.51 79,800
1.15 32,730 1.51 59,850
109,100 1.51 199,500
1.15 (32,730) 1.51 (27,120)
1.15 (43,640) 1.51 6,160)
1.15 (32,730) 1.51 (27,120)
(109,100) 1.51 (90,400)
1.15 — sl 32,730
1.15 — 1.51 43,640
1.15 — 1.51 32,730
— sl 109,100
EREAEBEBAERADA
ZTE—tEFEFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF R R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

2004 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(b)  The number and weighted average exercise prices of

share options are as follows: (continued)

Exercisable at
31 December
Tranche 1
Tranche 2
Tranche 3

Total

Weighted
average
exercise

price
EFH
1&E
HKS
B

.1_

SO M &l |1
| oV o
=R S @
T

m

o

st 1.15

31. X
2

(©0  No options were exercised to subscribe for ordinary

shares of the Company during the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2016.

REGE2ROERI

(#&)

SN FRBRERT S (#)

(b) HEBRHEHE MMEFIITE
BT - (&)
2017 2016
—B-tE “E-R
Number of Number of
shares shares
issuable issuable
under under
options  Weighted options
granted average granted
RECEE exercise REEEL
Exercise  BRET price Bercse  EERRIER
pricc  FRORH  MELH pice  TE{IMGH
T8 a2 11 1 Z8H
HKS ‘000 HKS HKS '000
B T B BT T
1.15 — 1.51 32,730
1.15 — 1.51 43,640
1.15 — 1.51 32,730
— 1.51 109,100
(0 REEZZ—tFR=ZF
—RNFE+ZA=+—HLHF
B MEBEREEITEUR
BARNA L@ -
(d —ZTMFERETEET

(d) The exercisable period of the share options under

2004 Share Option Scheme expired during the year.
The 109,100,000 outstanding share options were

lapsed accordingly.

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

MEERETTEHBERFE
A J& % ° 109,100,000 15 4
RITIE Z BIFED E UL 2R3 -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

32. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 22 April 2016, the Company and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Purchaser”) entered
into an agreement (the “Shenzhen Munsun Agreement”)
with all shareholders (the “Shenzhen Munsun Sellers”)
of Shenzhen Munsun, a company incorporated in the
PRC. Pursuant to the Shenzhen Munsun Agreement, the
Shenzhen Munsun Sellers agreed to sell and the Purchaser
agreed to purchase the entire equity interest in Shenzhen
Munsun at a consideration of RMB25,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$27,830,000). On 3 January 2017,
the Group completed the acquisition of the entire equity
interest in Shenzhen Munsun. Shenzhen Munsun is
engaged in asset management and advisory services in
the PRC. The acquisition was made to expansion on the
Group's existing businesses into asset management and
advisory service industry in the PRC and to broaden its
source of revenue.

32. ¥ &6

RZE—XRFWUA=-+=H AR
aRANBIzZEEMBRR (B
7)) BERYIZER - —FRFBEE
MK RTE]) 228BRE ( R
NEERER] ) Iz (DRI
BEWpEl ) - BEBEFRINEED
FARNERBEHFRZHEME S
FIEBERINNERE 2 2ERE - R
A AR%25,000,0007C (HHER
#927,830,000%7C) - RZT—+
F—A=8  XEEZKEERI
BRI o FYIEBREPBEA
EEEEERERRG X - #
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 3R 2R B =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

32. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 32. ¥%E6t®

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of R E B RN H 5
Shenzhen Munsun as at the date of completion on the BEMBEZATER
acquisition are as follows:
Note HK$' 000
B & THExT
Net assets acquired: EWBEEETE:
Fixed assets ETEEE 13 4,386
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 11,284
Investment in associate REEERRZIE 6,424
Other receivables, deposits Hofth FEUCRIE
and prepayments e kBN 13,460
Cash and cash equivalents ReRHR2EED 1,566
Trade and other payables FEAT BR TR S EL A FE 5 500R (16,477)
Deferred tax liabilities TERBERE 25(a) (38)
Total identifiable net assets BATHES| R 2 I #S
at fair value BEFEERE 20,605
Goodwill Gk 12 7,225
27,830
Satisfied by cash DREXHRE 27,830
An analysis of the consolidated cash flows HEWEHBLAREE 2
in respect of the acquisition of REBRERE
a subsidiary is as follows: oHWT
Cash consideration paid ENRENRE (27,830)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BEWBERERREEED 1,566
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents SFAREBESRENE
included in cash flows from investing activities {33 & KR & EEY
b e (26,264)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

32. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

Shenzhen Munsun contributed revenue and net
profit after tax of HK$18,707,000 and HK$4,525,000
respectively to the Group for the period between the
date of completion on the acquisition and the end of
the reporting period.

Had the acquisition of Shenzhen Munsun taken
place at 1 January 2017, the revenue and the net
loss after tax of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017 would have been HK$838,305,000
and HK$390,332,000.

The fair value of the other receivables were
HK$11,563,000 as at the date of completion of the
acquisition. The gross contractual amounts of the
other receivables were HK$11,563,000. None of the
receivables was expected to be uncollectible at the
date of completion on the acquisition.

The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$92,000
for this acquisition. The transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in consolidated income
statement.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of
Shenzhen Munsun is attributable to the expansion
on the Group’s businesses into asset management
and advisory service industry in the PRC and revenue
sources from the anticipated profitability and revenue
growth of Shenzhen Munsun. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income
tax purpose.

32. ¥%E6t®

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

N2 B A W B ST Ak B ER &
BEEMEHRZHAE AR
S EH R A RBLEF R F
7 Bl 18,707,000 7T &
4,525,000 7T °

Bl ERIERN T
—+tF—A—HB#TT"
B AREBR T — £ F
+ZA=+—RALFEZ
WAERBZFEBEESD
7] %838,305,0008 T M
390,332,000/ T °

H b e R IE RN B T X B
HAH) A ¥ B & 11,563,000%
JLo EMEKRIENRE L
4 %8 /511,563,0008 7T °
WEE TR B HY - B4 B R
TRTEER Ty AU e o

AEERRHREEER S
FX 7K 92,0008 7T © X B A
B WREEEREEA
E\EO

BRI EREENHETS
HRBEBAXNEERTEEE
B Nk R 1T BRI
ERWTEHENE N KA
ERESHNRARIR - B8
ERRBZEHERPARME
BN

Wt
B
s
13
A A
i)
- at

2 ol

7
5

217



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 3R 2R B =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 tREMEERESHMITA

218

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include pledged
deposits, client trust bank balances, cash and cash
equivalents, trade, loans and other receivables, available-
for-sale investments, trade and other payables, bank
and other borrowings, financial assets and liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, derivative financial
instruments and convertible bonds. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include credit,
liquidity, interest rate and currency risks. The Group is also
exposed to price risk arising from any unexpected changes
in price of gold products. These risks are limited by the
Group's financial management policies described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade, loans and other receivables, pledged deposits,
client trust bank balances and bank balances.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposure to the credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and loan receivables, credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. Credit terms are
granted to customers, depending on the credit
worthiness of individual customers. At 31 December
2017, there is certain concentration of credit risk as
8% (2016: 22%) of the total trade debtors was due
from the Group's five largest customers. The Group
did not hold any collateral over these balances.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

In respect of other receivables, the credit quality of
the debtors is assessed by taking into account of
their financial position, relationship with the Group,
credit history and other factors. Management
regularly reviews the recoverability about these
receivables and follows up the amounts overdue,
if any. The directors are of the opinion that the
probability of default by counterparties is low.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by appropriate credit-rating agencies.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade,
loans and other receivables are set out in note 18.

Liquidity risk

At 31 December 2017, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$2,985,485,000. To
manage liquidity risk, the Group regularly monitors
its current and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from
banks and financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The
directors are of the opinion that the Group will
be able to finance its future working capital and
financial requirements as described in note 2(b) to
the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF R R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated SAUEITSIR » B BB FTEIN)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of
the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities and
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

Specifically, for bank and other borrowings which
contain a repayment on demand clause which can be
exercised at the lender’s sole discretion, the analysis
shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period
in which the Group can be required to pay, that is, if
the lenders were to invoke their unconditional rights
to call the loans with immediate effect. The maturity
analysis for bank and other borrowings is prepared
based on the scheduled repayment dates.

0

“5-tf
Morethan ~ More than
Total Within 1year 1years
contractual 1year hut but
undiscounted oron  lessthan  lessthan
Carying ~ cashoutflow ~~~ demand 1years 5 years
ot JHAFE -ERE SR-E BHCE
RIE RehigE BER BONCE  BONEE
HSOw Ao KO SO HKSO
711 i i1 # 71

Non-derivativ financialliablities
Trade and other payables 674574 674574 4574 - -
Bank and otherborrowings IS0 405108 2185601 849,289 916,608
Converthl bonds T?‘i xfiﬁ M0 WM 398 = =

4705075 515532 3250010 849,289 916,608

Dervative financal iabiles ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁ

Dervative fnancil instumens

Financl abiltes a ar vlue
through proft o loss

SEBAM 10910 1039170 - -

SeBAM 10910 1039170 - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
(c) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank and other
borrowings and bank balances and fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank and other
borrowings, financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and pledged deposits.

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest
rate profile of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings, financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss, bank balances and
pledged deposits at the end of the reporting
period:

Variable rate bank and SZENRIRIBITI

other borrowings HAh &%

Fixed rate bank and ElEFIEFITR
other borrowings HER

Total borrowings ERmsE

Fixed rate borrowings EEFEER
as a percentage of HERERE
total borrowings LB

Fixed rate financial ElEFXFE BB
liabilities at fair value BATEE
through profit or loss ZeMAak

Variable rate bank balances JZE)FI% R1T4H
Fixed rate pledged deposits  [EEF%& B K #1773
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BEBRFIZE  HKS000 EREFIE  HKS000
% FETT % FET
6-9 1,066,482 5-9 1,256,777
4-15 2,578,559 4-10 2,752,425
3,645,041 4,009,202
71% 69%
4-7 988,444 3-6 727,748
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

All of the bank and other borrowings, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
pledged deposits of the Group which are fixed
rate instruments are insensitive to any change
in interest rates. A change in interest rate at the
end of the reporting period would not affect
profit or loss.

At 31 December 2017, it is estimated that
a general increase/decrease of 100 basis
points in interest rates for variable rate bank
and other borrowings and bank balances,
with all other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group’s loss before tax
and its accumulated losses by approximately
HK$9,248,000 (2016: HK$11,514,000). Other
components of consolidated equity would not
change in response to the general increase/
decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for variable
rate interest bearing financial instruments in
existence at that date. The 100 basis point
increase/decrease represents management's
assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the period until the end of
the next annual reporting period. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2016.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(d) Price risk

(1)

(i1)

Gold product price risk

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from
the market price fluctuations on gold products.
To protect the Group from the impact of price
fluctuations in gold products, the management
closely monitors gold product price exposure
and will consider to use derivative contracts
should the need arises.

Changes in the fair value of derivative contracts
that economically hedge the price fluctuations
in gold products and for which no hedge
accounting is applied are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Equity Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities
price risk from equity instruments and fund
investments held by the Group which are
classified in the statement of financial position
as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and available-for-sale investments. Price risk
is the risk of changes in fair value of financial
instruments from fluctuations, whether such a
change in price is caused by factors specific to
the individual instrument or factors affecting
all instruments traded in the markets. The
Group did not enter into any equity securities
forward contracts to manage this price risk. The
Group mitigates this price risk by performing
detailed analysis of investments and dedicated
professionals are assigned to oversee and
monitor the performance of investments. The
management considers the Group's equity
price risk is low as the Group has only available-
for-sale investment in relation to investment in
a private equity fund of HK$12,162,000 (2016:
HKS$nil) at 31 December 2017 (note 15).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(e) Currency risk

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s
exposure at the end of the reporting period
to currency risk arising from the following
significant assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate.

The management may consider to use forward
foreign exchange contracts to manage its
foreign currency risk arising from above
anticipated transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. During the year, the Group did
not enter into any forward foreign exchange
contracts to manage its foreign currency risk.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33. SR MEERERMIA
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ZAFEGE)

(continued)

(e) Currency risk (continued) (e) B2 (%)
() Exposure to currency risk (continued) () SMNERERAE (B)

2017 2016

—E—tF —TE—RF

HK$'000 HK$°000

FETT FET

Assets/(liabilities) BETIEZ
denominated in USD gE/ (Aa\E)

Cash and cash equivalents ReLREEED 11 15
Pledged deposits [REEwCEE N — 3,299

Bank and other borrowings SRITREMER — (350,383)

Total assets mEE 11 3,314
Total liabilities BEE — (350,383)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) RS

The management considers that the pegged ERERA  ELHLE
rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the T EEZELD
United States dollar would not be materially BUHABTHETIHME
affected by any changes in movement in value [EXEXNERTE -
of the United States dollar against the Hong I MERRGRE S
Kong dollar. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis feZaME_T—RX

has been prepared. The analysis is performed FrR—EEET
on the same basis for 2016.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(f) Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group's financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
guoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(1)

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair
value (continued)

Recurring fair value

measurements KREEATETE
Assets/(Liabilities): BE/ (8fF)
Financial assets at fair value ABBERATE

through profit or loss SER eRAE
Financial liabilities at fair value ~ EBBEREATE

through profit or loss SRz eRARE
Derivative finandial instruments 744 & T A

33. e A M EERESRMIT A

ZAFEE)
(f) DFEFTEE)
() BAFEIEGSRE

2017
it Ll of 3
Level 1 Level 2
ERE E28
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
— (988,444)

ELEAE (&)

2016
ZE—REF

Level 1 Level 2
F1H F28
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
253,808 51,057
— (727,7498)

— (30,830)

There were no transfers between instruments in
all levels during the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2016.

An independent valuation company with
appropriate recognised professional qualifications
is engaged to value the derivative financial
instruments at each financial reporting period.
Appropriate valuation methods and assumptions
with reference to market conditions existing at
each financial reporting period to determine the
fair value of the derivative financial instruments
are adopted. The basis for determining the fair
value is disclosed in notes 19 and 24.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(ir)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost
are not materially different from their fair values
as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 except
for the convertible bonds. As at 31 December
2017, the fair value of the convertible bonds
amounted to approximately HK$346,392,000
(2016: HK$326,169,000) which is categorised
into Level 1 fair value measurements (i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices).

34. COMMITMENTS

(@ Asat 31 December 2017, the Group had contracted
but not provided for capital commitments in respect

of the acquisitions of gold mining and exploration
rights of HK$14,998,000 (2016: HK$13,944,000)
and fixed assets of HK$119,726,000 (2016:
HK$91,950,000). Investment in unlisted equity
investment funds of HK$46,804,000 (31 December
2016: nil) and capital contribution in associate of
HK$4,799,000 (31 December 2016: nil).

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

33. cREMEENREMTA
ZAFEE)

(f) QXFEFEE

(i)
34, &iE
(@) M=

BRFEKNES %
BEEREES 2 FE
I 62 B 4 K AN S S AR
IRz T A
FEEAER T —+
FRZBE—XF+=A
=t+—HZAFETE
FEEREZR WA
BREHRI c RZF
—+E+_A=+—
H AR EH A
& #) /346,392,000
Bao(ZE — XN F
326,169,000/ 7T ) -
TInERE—BMEATF
B2 (B0 R & A ER
B) -

TLET-A=t—

H AEBERKEER
BEGEELRGEEERTEE
EREEIHNERBEER
# #£ 14,998,000/ (= &
—7N4F 13,944,000 T) &
119,726,000 L(ZZE — <
£ :91,950,000/87T) ° IE+
MRELEES MR EFE
46,804,000 B L(=ZZT—RF
+—A=+—H: &)UAKE
BN A& AREIE 4,799,000

B Z T —

NEFE+Z A

=S —H - A



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF 5 ¥R 2R BT RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

34. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b)

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are payable as follows:

Within 1 year —FR
After 1 year but within 5 years —F U ERFURN
After 5 years AEE

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of
properties for an initial period of three to ten years
(2016: two to ten years). None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@ During the year, the Group had the following related

party transactions:

)

As further detailed in note 32, the Group
completed the acquisition of Shenzhen Munsun
on 3 January 2017. Mr. Li Xianghong (“Mr.
Li"), was one of the executive directors and
the shareholders of Shenzhen Munsun and Mr.
Li's spouse was also one of the shareholders of
Shenzhen Munsun. Mr. Li was appointed as the
executive director of the Company on 10 July
2015 and the chairman and the chief executive
director on 7 August 2015 and resigned all
above posts on 31 August 2017. Mr. Zhang
Lirui (“Mr. Zhang"), the executive director of
the Company, was one of the shareholders of
Shenzhen Munsun. The spouse of Mr. Zhang
was also one of the shareholders of Shenzhen
Munsun. The above acquisition transaction
has been approved by the Company’s
shareholders at extraordinary general meeting
on 20 July 2016. Further details are set out
in the Company’s circular on 4 July 2016 and
announcements on 22 April 2016, 1 June
2016, 20 July 2016, 25 October 2016 and 3
January 2017.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(ii)

During the year ended 31 December 2016,
Munsun Assets Management Ltd (“Munsun
Assets”) and Tai Ning Investment Holdings
Limited (“Tai Ning”) (the “Joint Lenders”)
jointly granted a loan of HK$300 million (the
“Joint Loan”) to the Group and the Group
through the acquisition of Munsun Asia had
a loan of HK$165 million (the “Loan”) due to
Munsun Assets. At 31 December 2017, Munsun
Assets and Tai Ning held approximately 0.2%
(2016: 18.87%) and 7.04% (2016: 7.78%),
respectively, shareholding in the Company. Tai
Ning is wholly-owned by Mr Liu. Both loans are
charged at an effective interest rate of 9% per
annum and unsecured. During the year, the
Group fully settled the Loan and agreed with
the Joint Lenders to extend the repayment date
of the Joint Loan to January 2019. The Group
recognised interest on the Joint Loan and the
Loan of HK$27,000,000 (2016: HK$259,000)
and HK$30,000 (2016: HK$4,242,000)
respectively in the consolidated income
statement during the year. At 31 December
2017, the outstanding balances of the Joint
Loan and the Loan, were HK$300,000,000
(2016: HK$300,259,000) and HK$nil (2016:
HK$5,428,000) respectively as included in the
Group’s bank and other borrowings (note 23).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

During the year, Mr. Li and Mr Zhang have
provided personal guarantee for bank and
other borrowings facilities granted to the
Group of HK$404 million (2016: HK$167
million) and HK$126 million (2016: HK$nil),
respectively (note 23(a)).

During the year, Mr. Li, Mr. Liu, Mr. Zhang
Shuguang (who was appointed as the executive
director of the Company on 6 September
2011 and resigned on 31 August 2017) and
their spouses, Mr. Zhang and two senior
management staff of two subsidiaries have
provided certain joint personal guarantees for
bank and other borrowings facilities granted
to the Group with an aggregate amount
of HK$765 million (note 23(a)). During the
year ended 31 December 2016, Mr. Zhang
Shuguang and his spouse provided personal
guarantee for bank and other borrowings
facilities granted to the Group with an
aggregate amount of HK$538 million.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@) (continued)

(v)

During the year ended 31 December 2016,
Mr. Chang Yim Yang, who was appointed as
the executive director of the Company on 19
June 2008 and resigned on 9 August 2016
provided the share charge of his wholly-owned
company as security together with his personal
guarantee for bank and other borrowings
facilities granted to the Group approximately
HK$678 million. The share charge and his
personal guarantee were released during the
year (note 23(a)).

During the year, a (2016: two) senior
management staff of a (2016: two) subsidiary
has provided personal guarantee for bank
and other borrowings facilities granted to the
Group of approximately HK$180 million (2016:
HK$167 million) (notes 23(b)).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Key management personnel

remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in notes 8 and 9 is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits RHE ST

Post-employment benefits BERAR A

Equity-settled share-based AR E 2 R 1D
payment expenses A HER

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The method, estimates and judgements the directors
use in applying the Group’s accounting policies have a
significant impact on the Group's financial position and
operating results. Some of the accounting policies require
the Group apply estimates and judgements on matters
that are inherently uncertain. In addition to note 31 which
contains information about the assumptions and the risk
factors relating to fair value of share options granted,
certain critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group's accounting policies are described below.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Mining rights and mining structures

Mining rights and mining structures are amortised
or depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the
mines, in accordance with the production plans of
the mines concerned, by using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over
the estimated total proven and probable reserves
of the ore mines. Proven reserves refer to the
economically mineable part of measured resources.
Probable reserves include economically mineable part
of indicated resources. The process of estimating
guantities of reserves is inherently uncertain and
complex. It requires significant judgements and
decisions based on available geological, geophysical,
engineering and economic data. These estimates may
change substantially as additional data from ongoing
development activities and production performance
becomes available and as economic conditions
impacting mineral prices and costs change. Reserve
estimates are based on current production forecasts,
prices and economic conditions. The directors exercise
their judgement in estimating the total proven and
probable reserves of the ore mines.

Renewal of mining rights

The Group’s mining rights will expire during the
period from the date of approval of these financial
statements up to 2026 and, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Group will be able to
renew the mining rights with the relevant authorities
in the PRC continuously at insignificant cost.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(9

(d)

Depreciation and amortisation

Fixed assets, other than mining structures, are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account
their estimated residual values. The Group reviews
annually the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any. Interests in leasehold land held for
own use under operating leases are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated
useful lives of the leased assets and the lease term.
Both the period and methods of amortisation are
reviewed annually. The depreciation and amortisation
expense for future periods is adjusted if there are
significant changes from previous estimates.

Valuation of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value at the end of the reporting period.
Net realisable value is determined on the basis of
the estimated selling price less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. The directors estimate
the net realisable value for inventories based
primarily on the latest invoice prices and current
market conditions. In addition, the directors perform
an inventory review at each year end date and assess
the need for write down of inventories.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(e) Impairments

36 WiHEER A ()

(e) RIE

In considering the impairment losses that may be
required for the Group’s intangible assets, fixed
assets, deposits paid for gold mining and exploration
rights and fixed assets, recoverable amounts of
the assets need to be determined. The recoverable
amount is the greater of the fair value less costs
of disposal and the value in use. It is difficult to
precisely estimate fair value less costs of disposal
because quoted market prices for these assets
may not be readily available. In determining the
value in use, expected cash flows generated by the
asset are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgement relating to items such
as level of sales volume, selling price and amount
of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount
that is reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable
and supportable assumptions and projections of
items such as sales volume, selling price and amount
of operating costs. Had different parameters and
discount rates been used to determine the fair
value of the intangible assets, the Group's results of
operations and financial position could be materially
different.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(e) Impairments (continued)

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired
at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2017 was HK$ 281,118,000 (2016:
HK$273,893,000). Further details are given in note
12().

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are
assessed and provided based on the directors’
regular review of ageing analysis and evaluation
of collectibility. A considerable level of judgement
is exercised by the directors when assessing the
credit worthiness and past collection history of each
individual customer.

An increase or decrease in the above impairment
losses would affect the net profit of the Group in
future years.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

()

(9)

Fair value of derivative financial
instruments and financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

The fair value of derivative financial instruments and
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss that are not traded in active markets are
determined by using valuation techniques. Where
valuation techniques are used to determine fair
values, they are periodically reviewed. To the extent
practical, models use only observable data, however
areas such as credit risk, volatilities and correlations
require management to make estimates. Changes
in assumptions about these factors could affect the
fair values of derivative financial instruments and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Income tax

Determining income tax provision involves
judgement on the future tax treatment of certain
transactions. The directors carefully evaluate tax
implications of transactions and tax provisions
are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislations. Deferred
tax assets are recognised for temporary deductible
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only
be recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which
the unused tax credits can be utilised, the directors’
judgement is required to assess the probability of
future taxable profits. The directors’ assessment
is constantly reviewed and additional deferred tax
assets are recognised if it becomes probable that
future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

36. E&Tfhat KR E)

JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(h) Functional currency of the Company

(i)

()

The Company is carrying out its operating activities
and making management decisions in Hong Kong,
that is, raising finance in Hong Kong dollars and has
a significant degree of autonomy from its subsidiaries
in the PRC in the way its business is managed. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, its
functional currency is Hong Kong dollars.

Environmental contingencies

During the year and up to the date of approval
of these financial statements, the Group has not
involved in any significant environmental remediation
at this initial stage of gold mining activities and has
complied with the existing environmental legislation
requirements. The PRC government, however, may
move further towards more rigorous enforcement
of applicable laws and the adoption of more
stringent environmental standards. Under existing
environmental legislation, management believes
that there are no probable liabilities that will have
a material adverse effect on the financial position
or operating results of the Group for the current
reporting period.

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase
of a Surface Mine

The Group is required to determine whether waste
removal costs (“stripping costs”) incurred during
the production phase of a property of a surface
mine provide improved access to a component of
an ore body that will be mined in a future period,
and whether the costs can be reliably measured.
The Group has to apply judgment when identifying
components of the mine over which stripping costs
are capitalised, estimate the average stripping ratio
for each component, and use judgment determining
the period over which the stripping activity assets is
amortised.
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B RS ERR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed in notes 24(c) and 26(a), the Group had
the following significant events subsequent to the end of
the reporting period and up to the date of approval of
these financial statements:

(a)

(b)

On 17 January 2018, the Company entered into
a placing agreement with an independent placing
agent whereby the Company conditionally agreed
to place, through the placing agent, on best effort
basis, up to 2,779 million new ordinary shares of the
Company at the subscription price of HK$0.057 per
share. On 1 February 2018, the above transaction
was completed and the Company issued and alloted
2,779 million new ordinary shares of the Company
with net proceeds approximately HK$155 million
after deducting issuing expenses. The Company
intends that the net proceeds will be used for the
settlement of the Group's debts of HK$120 million
and its general working capital of HK$35 million
(including production costs, finance costs and
administrative expenses of approximately HK$20
million, HK$10 million and HK$5 million respectively).
Details are set out in the Company’s announcements
on 17 January 2018 and 1 February 2018.

The Group has been granted new bank and other
borrowings of HK$130 million which include loans
repayable within and beyond the next twelve months
after the end of the reporting period of HK$50
million and HK$80 million respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities/(assets) arising from

38. MERERERM:E

REMETHEE (&

financing activities = -
Financial
liabilities
at fair value
through
Bank and profit or loss
other  Convertible  #EBEz Pledged Accrued
borrowings Bonds BLTE deposits interest
FITR BB v EER JEf Total
EthER Brx  eRAR R ME At
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TET T T T T AT
At 1 January 2017 RZIB—tF
—A-H 4,009,202 368,308 727,748 (1,018/472) 22,649 4,109,435
Changes from financing HERGNER
cash flows
Proceeds from bank and FIREMER
other borrowings BSHE 1,167,506 - - - - 1,167,506
Repayment of bank and BERITR
other borrowings EthER (1,789,544) - - - —  (1,789,544)
Proceeds from financial BRATEA
liabilities at fair value BREH
through profit or loss BEMENE - - 780,450 - - 780,450
Repayment of financial BERATE
liabilities at fair value SABEZ
through profit or loss SRERE - - (574919 - - (574,919)
Decrease in pledged deposits 2 EAEFRL - - = 466,202 = 466,202
Interest paid RIS = (27,279 = - (367,791)  (395,070)
(622,038) (27,279) 205,531 466,202 (367,791) (345,375)
Effect of foreign exchange Ex2E 52
rate changes 236,400 = 53,777 (59,885) 1,604 231,89
Interest expenses MEXH NATT* 44431 = = 397,078 462,986
Fair value loss AFERE = = 1,388 = - 1,388
At 31 December 2017 RZB—t%
GTh ] e 3,645,041 385,460 988,444 (612,155) 53,540 4,460,330

* Representing amortisation of financing transaction costs.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JAETTAIIR + B BEFTE5M)

39. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued the following amendments, new and
revised standards and interpretations which are not yet

effective for the year ended 31 December 2017:

The Group has not early applied any of the following new
and revised standards, amendments or interpretations that

have been issued but are not yet effective.

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 28!

Transfer of investment property '

Share-based payment:
Classification and measurement
of share-based payment
transactions '

Insurance contracts: Applying
HKFRS 9 Financial instrument
with HKFRS 4!

Sale or contribution of Assets
between an investor and
its Associate or joint Venture *

Financial Instruments '

Prepayment features with
negative compensation 2

39. HEZ=-—ZE—+tH+=AH
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HEZSHBRERFEEY &5
EHH RS EHUTREE-S
—+FEF A=+ —BIEEENE
ERZ B ETA « 3T RIS IS ETER
KR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 3 3R BT =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated JA TTFII7R + Br BEFTESN)

39. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 39. HEZ=-—ZE—+tH+=AH
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS =t+—-HLEFESHEMGE
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE e RERZIERT A - F#iE]
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 (continued) RAIRZEBZBEEZE W)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts ERUMBRE BEFAHKE

with Customers ' 228
£155%
Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 ERUBRE BBRBHBRE
Revenue from Contracts ZRIZE 155 KR E15HEF
with Customers' ({BETR) A
HKFRS 16 Leases BEMKHE HE?
LRI 1657
HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts® ERUBRE RigEH)2
R 175
HKFRIC 22 Foreign currency transactions and ERUBRE HNEE X 5 K FEA
advance consideration ' 2EBZE® RE
2257
HKFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax ERMBRE PGB IR Y
treatments 2 2EZEg THETE M2
$23%
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January ! RZE—-N\F—-HA—BzzEH
2018. M2 FEMELER -
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 RZT—NF—A—Bzxz’EH
2019. B2 FEMEER -
3 Effective for annual periods begining on or after 1 January 3 R-ZEZ—F—-HA—BxzER
2021. B2 FEHRER -
4 Mandatory effective date is not determined but is available 4 WAREERGIEM B - HATR
for early adoption. S
The Group is in the process of making an assessment REEFVE L ERAZEHN R
of what the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs is KAEFT B AT S 28 2 AT
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far R 2 B - oS Eme RN &
it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to ZERNETGHRESMBRRE
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial FERTE o
statements.
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FIVE YEARS SUMMARY
hERE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars JA7& TL717R)

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
“E-=f ZE-mf —E-nf I F ZB-tf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TAL THL ThEL THL TE7n
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERBE
Total assets agE 11716331 12,768,249 12777902 13,493,195 13,591,807
Total liabilities Baf (5793484)  (6,885708)  (7,012,120)  (6,252,106)  (6,381,927)
Net assets EEFE 5,922,847 5,882,541 5,765,782 7,241,089 7,209,880
Equity attributable to LINGE 2PN
the owners of the Company  FE{hE3 5,922,847 5,882,541 5,765,782 7,241,089 7,209,880
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
“F-Zf ZE-mfF —Z-nfF C-E-F ZB-tf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TAL FHL TEL TAL TEx
RESULTS ES
Revenue Yz 1,562,409 1,286,873 746,605 766,654 838,305
Profit/{loss) before taxation BRAER/ (B58) 330,053 (82,205) (117,589) (407,139) (371,678)
Income tax expense FERRY (148,670) (101,820) (20,071) (12,012) (18512)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERT/ (F8) 181,383 (184,025) (137,660) (419,151) (390,190)
ERERNEEERA A
TE-—LtEER



CORPORATE INFORMATION

NAIEF

BOARD OF DIRECTORS By

Executive Directors HITES

LIU Liyang (appointed as Chairman on 6 September 2017) BIhB(R=ZF—+FAANH

EEZEREE)

CHEN Sheng (appointed as Chief Executive Officer BB R —FE-NF—HZ+HH
on 24 January 2018) BZFRITHBAEE)

YU Yong (appointed as Deputy Chief Executive Officer RBEBRZ=ZZF—+FNLANH
on 6 September 2017) EZEREMEE)

ZHANG Lirui SR

WANG Baozhi FRE

ZANG Dongling B RIS

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES

WU Tai Cheung i

XIAO Rong Ge e

ZHANG Tianyu RER

COMPANY SECRETARY

RNEAWE

LEUNG Lai Seung RER
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES EEREK
LIU Liyang 2 H45

LEUNG Lai Seung RER
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE HITEEE

LIU Liyang (Chairman)

BN (L)

CHEN Sheng PR 5
WANG Baozhi FRE
ZHANG Lirui SR B
YU Yong RE
ZANG Dongling BRI
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

WU Tai Cheung (Chairman)
XIAO Rong Ge
ZHANG Tianyu

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

ZHANG Tianyu (Chairman)
WU Tai Cheung
LIU Liyang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

LIU Liyang (Chairman)
WU Tai Cheung
ZHANG Tianyu

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

LIV Liyang (Chairman)
WANG Baozhi
ZANG Dongling

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

Unit 7810

The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

AUDITORS

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
QNAER

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to PRC law:
Bastion Law Firm

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM11

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

In Hong Kong:
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

In the PRC:
Ping An Bank
Bank of Communications

WEBSITE OF THE COMPANY

http://cpm.etnet.com.hk

MUNSUN CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2017
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